
For a meeting of the
COUNCIL
to be held on

THURSDAY, 25 JANUARY 2018
at

2.00 PM
in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Members of the Council are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed below.

For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held in the Council 
Chamber at 1:55pm before the commencement of the meeting. Please be 
seated by 1:50pm.

1  PUBLIC OPEN FORUM 

The public open forum will commence at 2.00 p.m. and the following formal 
business of the Council will commence at 2.30 p.m. or whenever the public 
open forum ends, if earlier.

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at 
the meeting.

4  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 NOVEMBER 2017 (Pages 4 - 23)

(Enclosure)

5  COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS) 
(Page 24)

(Enclosure)

AGENDA



6  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE (Pages 
25 - 35)

Report number LDS261 of the Chairman of the Constitution Committee.
(Enclosure)

7  MEETINGS OF THE CABINET (Pages 36 - 311)

Report number LDS262 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

8  MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS 

A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, 
Cabinet Members, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders excluding the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Development Management Committee, Licensing 
and Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing 
Committees and Governance and Audit Committee.

9  NOTICES OF MOTION  GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9: 

(a)  Councillor Tracey Forman 

February is LGBT History Month. The council should show its support 
for this month, and solidarity with LGBT people by flying the LGBT 
Pride flag from the Council building during this month. This would link 
into the council’s duty under the Equalities Act 2010 in promoting and 
protecting the rights of this community.

According to extensive research by Stonewall, one in five LGBT people 
have experienced a hate crime or incident because of their sexual 
orientation and/or gender identity in the last 12 months. Two in five 
trans people have experienced a hate crime or incident because of their 
gender identity in the last 12 months. Four in five hate crimes and 
incidents go unreported, with younger LGBT people particularly 
reluctant to go to the police. (Stonewall 2017)

Lincolnshire Police have also reported a rise in LGBT hate crimes 
across Lincolnshire over the last two years. (Lincolnshire Police 
February 2017)

The council resolves to:

1) Fly the LGBT Pride flag during the month of February
2) Ensure that LGBT History Month and facilities to report hate crime 
are promoted on the council’s website.
3) Provide a link to the single equality support organisation in 
Lincolnshire http://justlincolnshire.org.uk/

http://justlincolnshire.org.uk/


(b)  Councillor Ashley Baxter (1) 

This Council believes:

         the current three-tier system of Local Authorities is outdated and 
ineffective. 

         the bureaucracy of Lincolnshire County Council is 
geographically remote and has become out-of-touch with the 
needs and aspirations of residents across the County.

This Council resolves to work towards:

a) the abolition of the Lincolnshire County Council; and
b) the devolution of power, assets and finance to a number of 

unitary authorities, each of a more appropriate size.

This Council mandates its Leader, Cabinet and Senior Officers to lobby 
the Secretary of State for Communities, and other appropriate 
authorities including local MPs, regarding the abolition of the County 
Council and the establishment of smaller unitary authorities to better 
serve the needs of people living and working in Lincolnshire.

(c)  Councillor Ashley Baxter (2) 

The Council recommends that the annual election of the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the Council should be conducted by secret ballot and 
instructs that the Constitution be amended accordingly.

(d)  Councillor Charmaine Morgan 

In view of the continued night closure of Grantham Hospital A&E and 
recommendation to downgrade the unit on a permanent basis, SKDC 
will support local hospital campaigners and make a contribution of a 
minimum of £1,000 and a maximum of £10,000 toward the cost of 
independent legal advice from an appropriately experienced barrister 
the sum to be paid directly to the QC.

The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday, 1 March 
2018 is 2pm on Friday 16 February 2018.



PRESENT
Councillor Bob Sampson Chairman

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Duncan Ashwell
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor Terl Bryant
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Nick Craft
Councillor Felicity Cunningham
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Damian Evans
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Tracey Forman
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Michael King

Councillor Ms Jane Kingman
Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor David Mapp
Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Helen Powell
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Bob Russell
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Mrs Brenda Sumner
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Mrs Andrea Webster
Councillor Martin Wilkins
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Directors (Tracey Blackwell, 
Steve Ingram)
Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic 
(Lucy Youles)

Assistant Director, Finance (Richard 
Wyles)
Assistant Director, Property Delivery 
(Neil Cucksey)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

MINUTES
COUNCIL
THURSDAY, 23 NOVEMBER 2017
2.00 PM

Pg 4

Agenda Item 4



2

44. PUBLIC OPEN FORUM

Speaker 1

A question was put by Chris Davis from Market Deeping.

I would like to ask the members of the Council why they consider such a 
large increase in allowances justifiable in a period of austerity and 
cutback in services?

As the question was not addressed to a specific member of the Council, the 
Chairman provided a response. He stated that an independent panel had 
collected evidence and made recommendations about Members’ allowances to 
the Council, which would be discussed during the meeting. Members of the 
council would have to vote to adopt a scheme of remuneration that could 
incorporate some, none or all of the panel’s recommendations.

Mr Davis stated that he felt the panel’s recommendations should have been 
broadcast more widely to allow broader debate amongst the electorate.

Speaker 2

Mr Davis put a second question, which was addressed to the Cabinet Member 
for Economy and Development.

It has been now one-year from when the last house was occupied on 
"The Brambles Development" in Market Deeping. I would like to ask why 
the planning conditions given to the Developer have yet to be enforced?

To provide the context of Mr. Davis’ question for members of the Council, the 
Cabinet Member for Economy and Development stated that the 2014 outline 
planning permission for the development included a requirement that the 
applicable carriageway and footway surface courses should be appropriately 
completed within a three month period of the occupation of the last dwelling. As 
a result of the question, the issue had been raised with Lincolnshire County 
Council as the Local Highways Authority as it was responsible for the adoption 
of such highway infrastructure. Lincolnshire County Council had confirmed that 
discussion was underway with the developer with a view to getting the matters 
resolved.

Councillor King added that he would also specifically take Mr. Davis’ concerns 
regarding the time it had taken to resolve the matter to the County Council’s 
Highways Portfolio Holder.

Mr. Davis, as part of his supplementary question, stated that his query also 
related to public open spaces, the handover of allotments and ongoing debate 
about the public footpath.

The Cabinet Member for Economy and Development advised that the other 
matters raised could be quite complicated, with some variance in which body 
was responsible for their maintenance. He promised to look into the 
arrangements and feedback to Mr. Davis.

Pg 5



3

Speaker 3

Bourne Town Councillor, Paul Fellowes, made a representation on behalf of 
Bourne Town Council, which related to agenda item 8: recommendations from 
the Constitution Committee (questioning of public speakers at Development 
Management Committee).

Councillor Fellowes made reference to the existing provisions that allowed 
committee members to pose questions to anyone who spoke during the 
committee’s public speaking sessions. Bourne Town Council felt that the 
proposals, (which would only allow the Chairman and Vice-Chairman to ask 
questions of public speakers, with the other committee members only able to 
question the applicant, their agent or any other experts engaged to speak at a 
meeting), would take public speakers out of the democratic process. The Town 
Council could see no problem why committee members could not ask 
questions in relation to matters raised by public speakers.

Speaker 4

A statement had been submitted by Stephen Holland from Thurlby which 
related to agenda item 8: recommendations from the Constitution Committee 
(questioning of public speakers at Development Management Committee).

As Mr. Holland was unable to attend the meeting, his full statement was printed 
in full with the other questions and requests to speak that had been submitted 
by other members of the public. The full text of Mr. Holland’s statement is 
copied below.

The Constitution Committee at their last meeting, passed the following 
recommendation by four votes to one, which would stop members of the 
Development Committee questioning members of the public following their 
submissions to the Development Council in support or opposition to planning 
proposals.

“Questions may only be put by Committee members to the applicant, an agent 
and/or a specialist advisor/consultant whether speaking on behalf of the 
applicant, for the grant of an application or against the grant of an application. 
Questions must be relevant to the application being considered and limited to 
the following matters:

 Anything that they have specifically referenced in their speech
 Anything that is contained in the application
 Anything that has been made in a representation by the speaker in 

respect of the application

Questions may be asked of public speakers by the Chairman and/or Vice-
Chairman but only to establish the source of any material facts stated by a 
public speaker.”
I am opposed to this recommendation for the following reasons.

1. In the background report supporting the recommendation, there is an 
assumption in 1.2 that ‘such questions are often not limited to points of 

Pg 6



4

clarification and it can be difficult for non-specialist speakers to respond.’

This assumption excludes members of the public who are in possession 
of the facts and can give the clarification needed as evidence in support 
of their submission.

2. In 1.3 the general questioning of speakers by Committee Members 
would be limited to the applicant, an agent and/or a specialist 
advisor/consultant whether speaking on behalf of the applicant or 
against the grant of an application.
This excludes non specialist advisors from local communities, 
particularly where Neighbourhood Development Plans have either been 
adopted or are in progress. The interpretation of policies within 
Neighbourhood Development Plans may need to be heard for 
clarification at the committee stage. There appears to have been no 
recognition of the importance of Neighbourhood Planning, and how the 
committee may want to seek clarification from a representative of a 
Neighbourhood Planning Group who has given a submission, but may 
not be a specialist advisor.

3. The minutes from the Constitution Committee are not available to view, 
and I am told by Jo Toomey that these should be available before the 
close of business on Monday 20th November. Submissions for the 
Council Meeting have to be made before 2.00 pm on Monday 20th 
November. I would question and challenge whether it is constitutionally 
correct that all the information is not available in time to make reasoned 
submission based on the Constitution Committee minutes

The public open forum closed at 14:15.

45. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Benn, Coutts, 
Manterfield, Reid, Judy Smith, Stephens, Sarah Stokes, Trollope-Bellew, 
Turner and Westropp.

46. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Members were advised that there was no requirement for them to disclose a 
pecuniary interest in relation to agenda item 6, which was the discussion of the 
recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel and the adoption of 
a scheme of allowances.

No interests were disclosed.

47. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 SEPTEMBER 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2017 were proposed, 
seconded and agreed as a correct record.

48. COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS)

The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements.

Pg 7



5

49. INTERIM S.151 AND CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

The Chairman stated that he had agreed to accept the appointment of an 
Interim Section 151 and Chief Finance Officer as urgent business. A copy of 
the report in relation to this agenda item had been circulated to members prior 
to the beginning of the meeting.

Decision:

1. Council approves the appointment of Debbie Mogg, Director of 
Resources, Rutland County Council, to the post of interim Section 
151 and Chief Finance Officer for South Kesteven District Council 
for a period from 24 November 2017 until such time as a permanent 
appointment can be made

2. Council delegates to the interim appointee those functions and 
delegations set out in the Constitution as delegations to the Chief 
Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer.

In proposing the recommendations in report CEX100, the Leader of the Council 
informed members that the current incumbent, Daren Turner, had decided to 
leave the Council. He thanked Mr Turner for his years of support and service to 
the Council and wished him luck for the future. The proposition was seconded.

A number of members from across the Chamber took the opportunity to publicly 
express their thanks to Mr. Turner, praising the contribution he had made to the 
Council, his loyalty and hard work. Members also echoed their best wishes to 
Mr. Turner for the future. 

On being put to the vote, the interim appointment was agreed.

50. REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL

Decision:

1. That the Council agrees the recommendations made by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel made in its report as attached at 
Appendix A to report number LDS247 as its scheme of 
remuneration for Councillors.

2. That Members’ allowance should continue to be index-linked to 
local authority pay awards.

3. That the Council agrees to adopt the following local changes:

a. To allow members to claim for their travel when they have a 
legitimate interest in a matter being discussed by one of the 
Council’s Committees.

b. To allow members to claim for their travel when they attend 
the Council offices to meet with an appropriate officer to 
discuss included item(s) on committee agendas.

Pg 8



6

c. To allow members to claim for their travel when attending 
parish council meetings

d. To allow recompense for “informal” caring arrangements

4. That the Constitution be amended to incorporate the approved 
Scheme of Remuneration.

5. That the Council refers to the Constitution Committee to formulate 
appropriate wording following consultation with Internal Audit for 
consideration by Council on 25 January 2018. 

6. That the revised scheme of Members’ Allowances should take 
effect from 1 September 2017

The Chairman of the Council welcomed John Cade, who was the chairman of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel. Mr. Cade was invited to present the 
Panel’s report and recommendations.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Panel summarised the Panel’s process, 
which fell into five stages: a pack of background comparator information, a 
workshop, a questionnaire, an evidence-giving session and the subsequent 
review of all the evidence that had been gathered. He stated that while the 
evidence gathered was not unanimous, the common message related to the 
recognition that there had been changes to the way in which the Council was 
doing business. He referred to the question put during the public open forum 
session of the Council meeting and stated that while the panel was very much 
aware of budget pressures, it had reached the conclusion that, on balance, it 
could not disregard the weight of evidence that it had received and felt that this 
needed to be acknowledged and recognised.

He explained that the scheme was based on building up from the basic 
allowance and highlighted some of the changes that had been proposed. Mr. 
Cade made specific reference to the proposal relating to the Chairmen and 
Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The panel had 
recommended that the allowance for the Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees should be a factor of 1 of the basic allowance; but this 
uplift had not been reflected in appendix B to the panel’s report. He explained 
that the uplift recognised the strong improvements developing around scrutiny 
and reflected the importance of the scrutiny function in a local authority that 
operated a strong leader model of governance. He added that this had also 
been reflected in the recommended uplift in the allowance for opposition group 
leaders.

While the panel had not made recommendations in relation to the level of travel 
and subsistence allowance, it had made a number of recommendations 
regarding the eligible duties for which travel could be claimed and suggested 
that consideration should be given to recognising the use of informal caring 
arrangements. A new allowance had also been proposed for the Council’s 
Independent Person; previously this role had not been remunerated.

Prior to any formal proposition and debate, Members of the Council were 

Pg 9



7

invited to ask questions of Mr. Cade. During the question and answer session, 
Mr Cade clarified that:

 The proposal “to allow members to claim for their travel when they 
attend the Council offices to meet with an appropriate officer to discuss 
included item(s)” related to an item on an agenda in which a member 
had a legitimate interest and would cover meetings with officers, the 
relevant Cabinet Member of Committee Chairman

 The law required that an allowance was paid to leaders of formally 
constituted opposition groups and, where a council had more than one 
such group, a methodology allowing for proportional payments to their 
leaders was often practiced

 The increase proposed in the basic allowance constituted a 16.5% uplift
 It was not possible to link the payment of allowances to attendance and 

the basic allowance had to be the same for all members
 The proposals reflected the current number of Cabinet Members and 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairmen and Vice-Chairment

The Chairman thanked Mr. Cade for attending the meeting and the way in 
which he presented the recommendations of the Panel. He also expressed the 
Council’s thanks to the other members of the panel for their work.

A proposal was made to approve the recommendations of the panel with the 
date from which they would take effect as 1 September 2017. In making the 
proposition, comment was made that while there was never a good time to deal 
with such matters as increasing Members’ allowances, the report had provided 
independent evaluation that reflected the changes to the way in which the 
Council operated. Comments were also made about those Councillors who had 
jobs and were required to take unpaid leave in order to fulfil their duties. It was 
felt that while the proposed increase did not fully compensate for lost earning, it 
may prove a help. It was also hoped that it would make standing for election a 
possibility for a wider pool of candidates in the future.

The proposals were seconded and reference was made to making fair 
recompense to Members’ for their work. If accepted, it was also suggested that 
the proposals would bring the Council more into line with the schemes of other 
local authorities.

Some Councillors spoke against the proposal, stating that they did not feel that 
it was an appropriate time to increase allowances in the midst of public sector 
cuts. They echoed the sentiment that they stood for election for the benefit of 
their communities and they did not feel that the best interests of those 
communities would be represented by approving the increase. During debate, a 
number of members referred to the fact that when they stood for election they 
had not realised that they would be entitled to an allowance. One member also 
refuted the suggestion that an £800 increase in the basic allowance would alter 
the demographic of individuals standing for election. When referring to the total 
costs of the proposal, members noted that those costs associated with the 
broadening of criteria for mileage claims had not been modelled.

An amendment was proposed to recommendation 6: that increases should be 
delayed until after the next district council elections in May 2019. This was 
seconded. 

Pg 10



8

Members who spoke in favour of the amendment reiterated that they did not 
feel that the time was right for an uplift in Members’ allowances. The sentiment 
was also expressed that agreeing a scheme that would only come into effect 
with a new Council would mean that there was less personal interest involved 
in making the decision. It was also suggested that a later implementation date 
would allow the electorate to take the level of remuneration into account when 
making their choices at the ballot box. Further reference was made by several 
Councillors about their motivation for becoming a Councillor, which was the 
value they could add to their local communities through the role, and not for the 
allowance. 

Those members speaking against the amendment highlighted that the 
recommendations were made by an independent panel and were based on 
evidence including comparator data from other local authorities. It was argued 
that citing a percentage increase could be misleading. When averaged over the 
number of years over which the basic allowance had not increased, together 
with the four-year duration of the proposed scheme, the overall impact was 
diminished, equating to a small uplift each year. Others, while supporting the 
principle of an increase suggested that 16.5% felt too high an increase in the 
current climate or suggested that personally they would not feel able to accept 
that increase.

The amendment was put to the vote and lost.

A request was made that a recorded vote be taken. As the request was 
supported by more than ten members of the Council, in accordance with article 
4.13.4 of the Council’s Constitution, a recorded vote was taken on the 
substantive motion.

For Against Abstain
Councillor Mrs. 
Bosworth
Councillor Broughton
Councillor Chivers
Councillor K Cooke
Councillor Dilks
Councillor Dobson
Councillor Exton
Councillor Goral
Councillor Griffin
Councillor Jeal
Councillor Mrs Kaberry-
Brown
Councillor King
Councillor Kingman
Councillor Lee
Councillor Mapp
Councillor Dr. Moseley
Councillor Neilson
Councillor Powell
Councillor Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith

Councillor Adams
Councillor Ashwell
Councillor Baxter
Councillor Bryant
Councillor Mrs 
Cartwright
Councillor Evans
Councillor Forman
Councillor Morgan
Councillor Webster

Councillor M. Cook
Councillor Craft
Councillor Cunningham
Councillor Russell
Councillor Sampson
Councillor Selby

Pg 11



9

Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Brenda 
Sumner
Councillor Brian 
Sumner
Councillor Ward
Councillor Wilkins
Councillor Wood
Councillor L. Wootten
Councillor R. Wootten

30 9 6

The proposition was carried.

51. AMENDMENTS TO BUDGET FRAMEWORK 2017/18

Decision:

The Council approves the following amendments to the 2017/18 budget 
framework:

Revenue 
 St Peter’s Hill redevelopment – feasibility works £500,000
 InvestSK - £321,500
 Additional budgetary requirement to fund in-year changes to the 

scheme of remuneration for councillors to be funded from the local 
priorities reserve

Capital 
 Disabled Facilities Grant – increase to £733,770 for 2017/18
 St Peter’s Hill development – increase to £5.7M

The Cabinet Member for Finance proposed the recommendations listed in 
report number CFM443 and added a provision to meet any additional 
budgetary requirement to fund in-year changes to the scheme of remuneration 
for councillors from the local priorities reserve. The proposition was seconded.

In response to a question, the Cabinet member confirmed that the level of 
funding for disabled facilities grants had increased from £376k per annum to 
£733k per annum and that there was no provision for clawback of funds that 
had not been used within the year.

Some members spoke about the St. Peter’s Hill development; their comments 
included whether there was evidence to indicate that there was an appetite for 
a five screen cinema in Grantham and its potential to attract additional visitors 
into the town, parking provision for cinema-goers using the cinema, 
consultation with Grantham residents and the use of the cinema as a means to 
increase footfall in the town centre. There was also some discussion around the 
use of consultants, specifically in relation to the project to redevelop the Council 
Offices, when a number of schemes had been drawn up previously. Members 

Pg 12



10

were advised of the Leader’s intention to commission the delivery of specific 
projects on the Council’s behalf with best value and getting the right skills at the 
right price as key considerations. 

In support of the proposed spend on the re-development of the Council Offices, 
reference was made to improving working conditions for officers and an 
identified need to provide more office accommodation for businesses in 
Grantham. The commissioned feasibility study would provide an indication of 
the project costs, which would be included within the budget for 2018/19.

Reference was also made to the proposed provision for InvestSK. One member 
asked how an annual revenue requirement of approximately £800k would affect 
the Council’s ongoing budget position. The rationale for creating InvestSK was 
the provision of a new delivery arm for the Council, bringing additional resource 
to complement the skills of officers already employed by the Council. 

On being put to the vote, the proposition was carried.

15:38 to 16:07 – the meeting adjourned

52. APPOINTMENT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR HOUSING

As agenda item 8 proposed a change to the remit of the Employment 
Committee, which, if approved would alter the responsible body for the 
appointment of senior offices, the Chairman agreed to consider agenda item 11 
before agenda item 8. This would mean that the appointment of the Assistant 
Director for Housing would be completed under the old procedure. Any future 
appointments of Directors and Assistant Directors (except those statutory 
officers that the Council must appoint) would be made by the Employment 
Committee.

Decision:

The Council approves the appointment of Harrinder Rai as the Assistant 
Director for Housing for the Council

The Chairman of the Employment Committee explained that it had met as an 
interview panel for the Assistant Director for Housing on 13 November 2017. As 
a result of the assessments for the four candidates, the Committee 
recommended to Council the appointment of Harrider Rai, which was duly 
proposed and seconded.

A number of members who had sat on the panel spoke about their experiences 
on the day, how thorough they considered the process to be and endorsed the 
recommendation to appoint Mr Rai. They also expressed their thanks to 
members of the Human Resources team who had supported the recruitment.

One member also asked that the Council’s thanks to Lisa Barker, the former 
Business Manager for Housing, be placed on record.

A vote was taken and Harrider Rai was appointed as the Assistant Director for 
Housing.

Pg 13



11

53. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE

Decision:

The Council approves the recommendations of the Constitution 
Committee as follows:

1.  Budget and Policy Framework 

      That the Constitution be amended at Article 4.12.2 as shown below 
in bold

4.21.2 Process for developing the Budget
 

The Cabinet will publish in its Schedule of Decisions a timetable for 
making proposals to the Council for the adoption of an annual budget, 
including those decisions which are required by detailed at Schedule 2 of 
the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as 
amended) which are required to be made before the 8th February in any 
financial year and its arrangements for consultation after publication of 
those initial proposals. The Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees will also be notified. The consultation period shall be a 
period of not less than two weeks.

2. Development Management Committee – report LDS249

       That no amendment is made to Article 9.1.9 a)(viii) and agrees that the 
proposed change with regard to public speaking be undertaken on a trial 
basis by the Development Management Committee for six months, 
meaning that during that period, Articles 9.1.9 a)(viii) and Article 9.1.9 a) 
(v) will be varied as follows:

        
 2.1     Article 9.1.9 a) (viii)

Questions may only be put by Committee members to the applicant, an 
agent and/or a specialist advisor/consultant whether speaking on behalf 
of the applicant, for the grant of an application or against the grant of an 
application. Questions must be relevant to the application being 
considered and limited to the following matters:

 Anything that they have specifically referenced in their speech
 Anything that is contained in the application
 Anything that has been made in a representation by the speaker 

in respect of the application

Questions may be asked of public speakers by the Chairman and/or 
Vice-Chairman but only to establish the source of any material facts 
stated by a public speaker.

2.2   Article 9.1.9 a) (v) 

       Each person is allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes and 

Pg 14



12

may be required to answer questions in accordance with Article 9.1.9 (a) 
(viii).

3. Employment Committee

That Article 13 of the Constitution is amended as follows:–

3.1     Article 13.4.1 (ii) to be amended to read:

To oversee the recruitment and selection process of the Monitoring 
Officer and Section 151 Officer and make recommendations to Council 
in this respect

 3.2 Article 13.4.1 (v) to be amended to read:

To review the appointment of an external investigator to carry out an 
investigation on behalf of the Committee where necessary.

3.3 A new paragraph to be inserted at 13.4.1 (iii) as follows:

To appoint Strategic Directors, and posts falling within the level of 
Assistant Director

3.4 Existing paragraphs 13.4.1 (iii) to (ix) to be renumbered (iv) to (x) to 
accommodate the insertion of the new paragraph (iii) above.

The Chairman announced that two written representations had been sent to the 
Chief Executive which related to the recommendations of the Committee on the 
questioning of public speakers at meetings of the Development Management 
Committee. Copies of both of these submissions had been circulated for 
Members’ reference prior to the meeting.

The Chairman of the Constitution Committee proposed the recommendations in 
report number LDS250, which it had made at its meeting on 13 November 
2017. The first recommendation related to a proposed change to the budget 
procedure rules. The second recommendation related to the Committee’s 
proposals in relation to the questioning of public speakers at Development 
Management Committee meetings was to hold a 6-month trial period where 
committee members would not be able to ask follow-up questions of members 
of the public who spoke at Committee. They would still be able to ask questions 
of the applicant, the applicant’s agent and any technical experts speaking for or 
against an application. The final recommendations related to changes to the 
terms of reference of the Employment Committee. The proposals were 
seconded.

A number of members spoke against the proposition to prevent Development 
Management Committee members asking questions of members of the public. 
They suggested that members of the public could feel under pressure 
presenting a speech but seemed to relax when answering questions. Some 
members also suggested that three minutes was not sufficient time to present a 
full argument and withdrawing a members’ ability to ask questions meant that, 
members of the public would lose the opportunity to expand on any matters 
raised within their speeches. Reference was made to specific examples where 

Pg 15



13

the questioning of members of the public had revealed further information that 
had a significant impact on the decision that was ultimately made by the 
Committee.

Reference was made to an argument that had been used during the 
Constitution Committee meeting, which intimated that the questioning of 
members of the public could turn into cross-examination and become 
aggressive. This was refuted and the counter-argument put that if any 
questioning did become a cross-examination, it could be managed by the 
Chairman.

An amendment was proposed:

That the Council agree to refer the recommendation back to the 
Constitution Committee to set up an all party working group to look into 
the workings of the Development Management Committee including 
consultation with the public and the Development Management 
Committee with special regards to public speaking.

The amendment was seconded.

Members who spoke in support of the amendment stated that no evidence had 
been presented that indicated members of the public had found questioning to 
be intimidating. There was also concern that the proposal had been raised by 
the Chairman of the Development Management Committee without discussion 
with the wider Committee membership. Some members cited concerns about 
parity, as the majority of the people who would have the opportunity to expand 
on their 3-minute statement through questioning would be speaking in favour of 
an application. One member indicated that questions formed part of the wider 
body of evidence that informed the committee’s decisions. Members also felt 
that having members ask them questions made public speakers feel valued 
and that they had been given a fair hearing. They concluded that while a 
working party may come up with a recommendation that reflected the proposal 
put forward by the Constitution Committee, any decision would benefit from 
wider discussion. Without the ability to ask questions, one member indicated 
that they would not feel that they would have sufficient evidence to fully 
scrutinise the recommendations made by officers. The importance of local 
knowledge in determining applications was also highlighted.

A number of comments were made in relation to openness and transparency. It 
was consequently stated that as a proactive Council, members needed to 
question the public in a kind and proper manner.

The suggestion was raised that the proposal may have been put forward as a 
potential tool to control the length of meetings. 
Those speaking against the amendment stated that they were concerned about 
members of the public feeling intimidated. In contrast applicants and agents 
were prepared for this type of questioning. One member stated that the removal 
of the questioning session could encourage more members of the public to 
speak as currently some may be put-off by the prospect of being questioned. 
There was also the concern about the impact of Committee members 
reportedly asking leading questions during a meeting of a quasi-judicial 
committee. Reference was made to other local planning authorities that did not 

Pg 16



14

allow any questioning of speakers. It was suggested that the proposal to restrict 
the people to whom questions could be put would provide a compromise 
between the current position and not permitting any questions to be put. It was 
also noted that the proposal would not prevent all questions being asked to 
speakers and that if a member of the committee had a question, it could be put 
to them by the Chairman who would ensure that it was relevant and 
appropriately put.

In summing up, the proposer of the original motion reiterated that the 
Constitution Committee had not recommended an amendment to the 
Constitution but to hold a trial period to test the effects of the change.

The amendment was put to the vote and lost.

A vote was taken on the proposition to amend the budget procedure rules, 
which was carried, as was a vote taken on the proposed changes to the terms 
of reference of the Employment Committee.

Further points were raised in relation to the recommendation concerning the 
Development Management Committee, highlighting the importance of material 
considerations in the Committee’s decision-making. It was also suggested that 
the feeling of intimidation did not only come from being questioned by 
Councillors but having to make a statement and face those questions in front of 
a large audience of members of the public. If public speakers raised material 
considerations, the Committee would still be able to make reference to these 
during debate, and if necessary, the Chairman could ask a speaker to return to 
clarify a point, as had happened on previous occasions. Information was given 
about the wider public speaking arrangements that were in place at 
neighbouring authorities.

A request was made that a recorded vote be taken. As the request was 
supported by ten members of the Council, in accordance with article 4.13.4 of 
the Council’s Constitution, a recorded vote was taken.

For Against Abstain
Councillor Mrs 
Bosworth
Councillor Bryant
Councillor Chivers
Councillor Cooke
Councillor Dobson
Councillor Exton
Councillor Goral
Councillor Jeal
Councillor King
Councillor Lee
Councillor Mapp
Councillor Dr. Moseley
Councillor Neilson
Councillor Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor A. Stokes

Councillor Ashwell
Councillor Baxter
Councillor Broughton
Councillor Dilks
Councillor Forman
Councillor Griffin
Councillor Mrs. Kaberry-
Brown
Councillor Kingman
Councillor Morgan
Councillor Powell
Councillor Sampson
Councillor Selby
Councillor Stevens
Councillor Wood

Pg 17



15

Councillor I. Stokes
Councillor Brenda 
Sumner
Councillor Brian 
Sumner
Councillor Wilkins
Councillor L. Wootten
Councillor R. Wootten

22 14 0

The proposition was carried

17:20 – as the meeting had been in progress for almost three hours, article 
4.6.4 of the Council’s Constitution required that a vote be taken to extend the 
meeting. It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the meeting be extended 
by an additional 30 minutes.

54. THE LEADER'S SCHEME OF DELEGATION

When the Council met on 21 September 2017, the Leader announced a 
number of changes to his scheme of delegation. Report number LDS246 
brought the revised scheme of delegation to the attention of Councillors.

55. MEETINGS OF THE CABINET

The Leader presented report number LDS248 which provided Council 
members with copies of the reports submitted to, and the minutes of Cabinet 
meetings, including decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members.

A number of members asked questions about the papers included in the report. 

A question was raised about an individual Cabinet Member decision to buy 
commercial property outside South Kesteven. The decision had been called-in 
and would be the subject of discussion at a meeting of the Growth Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 1 December 2017.

One member asked about the usage level of the existing cinema. The relevant 
Cabinet member reported that in the last year it had had approximately 60,000 
attendees. The preferred operator for the new five-screen cinema had 
projected it would attract 200,000 attendees each year.

Reference was made to proposals that were considered by the Cabinet, which 
would mean that Councillors would have access to £1,000 each to support 
community groups and initiatives in their own Wards. The Leader confirmed 
that the Cabinet had agreed to the principle of such a scheme but had asked 
the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee to develop 
appropriate criteria, rules and procedures for the scheme. One member 
indicated that they had requested the opportunity to speak on the subject when 
it was last discussed by the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting but had not been allowed the opportunity. The Chairman of 
that Committee stated that he had not been present at the last meeting but 
agreed that the member would be able to speak on the subject at the next 
meeting.

Pg 18



16

56. MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS

Question 1

Councillor Wootten addressed his question to the Leader of the Council. He 
stated that at the last board meeting of United Lincolnshire Hospitals Trust, the 
decision to re-open Grantham accident and emergency department had been 
delayed due to the Trust being in special measures. If, at its next meeting on 15 
December 2017, the Trust would not re-open the accident and emergency 
department, he asked whether Councillor Lee would join other councillors and 
campaign groups to protest.

Councillor Lee confirmed that he would. He referred to previous statements that 
had been made by the Trust which had said that the department would not be 
able to re-open until it had recruited more doctors. The department remained 
closed despite the recruitment of additional doctors. He hoped that the report 
was being completed so that a decision could be made in December. If it was 
not, he suggested that it was time for the Council as a whole to grow more 
vocal in its opposition. He stated that if the decision was not made to re-open 
the department, he would support other Members and campaign groups and 
that there would be a full campaign run by this Council to add weight. He asked 
the Chief Executive to write to the appropriate bodies, including the Secretary 
of State for Health, to set out this intention.

Question 2

Reference was made to recent incidents of bicycle theft that had occurred in 
Grantham. Councillor Selby, who put the question, understood that any bikes 
that were found were taken away by the Council and, if they were not claimed 
they were destroyed. He asked that instead of being destroyed, whether those 
bicycles could be made available for good causes.

The Leader stated that he was not aware of the current practice but if it was the 
Council’s policy to destroy unclaimed bicycles, he would see whether there was 
the possibility and provision to give them to good causes.

Question 3

Councillor Bryant referred to the inclusion of Cabinet reports and minutes in the 
Council agenda and the amount of paper that was used as a result. He 
highlighted that the information was already available, speculated about the 
number of people who read the full pack of documents and asked whether it 
was necessary. 

The Leader stated that he was attempting to make sure that information was 
available to all Councillors, whether or not they chose to read it.

Pg 19



17

57. NOTICES OF MOTION GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9:

(1) Councillor Charmaine Morgan

Councillor Morgan stated that she had withdrawn her motion from the 
agenda for this meeting and that she would work with members of other 
parties to word a motion that fully reflected the needs of the community and 
its desire to have a Town Council.

(2) Councillor Ashley Baxter

Decision:

This Council encourages its Committee Chairmen to consider 
the venue for holding committee meetings to ensure that at 
least one formal meeting (e.g. an OSC meeting) is held in each 
of the 3 smaller towns (Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping) 
during each calendar year.

The Council mandates the Chief Executive to liaise with 
relevant Members and Officers to organise suitable dates and 
venues.

Councillor Baxter proposed his motion: 

This Council pledges to hold at least one formal meeting (e.g. an 
OSC meeting) in each of the 3 smaller towns (Stamford, Bourne and 
Market Deeping) during each calendar year.

The Council mandates the Chief Executive to liaise with relevant 
Members and Officers to organise suitable dates and venues.

In presenting his motion, Councillor Baxter referred to the geography of the 
district and said that all meetings being held in Grantham made the people 
living in its furthest reaches feel even more removed. He added that his 
proposal would allow the Council to be seen as more accessible and 
accountable. 

He explained that he had raised the suggestion in a number of different 
forums, including one of the old policy development groups, with the 
Leader and Deputy Leader, the Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and the Chief Executive and the Assistant Director, Legal and 
Democratic. He had requested that an item be included on the agenda for 
each Overview and Scrutiny Committee and indicated that this had 
happened in some instances but not others. He explained that when he 
had put forward the suggestion, the only response in opposition related to 
the cost of sending officers to other parts of the district.

The proposition was seconded.

An amendment was proposed: 

Pg 20



18

This Council encourages its Committee Chairmen to consider the 
venue for holding committee meetings to ensure that at least one 
formal meeting (e.g. an OSC meeting) is held in each of the 3 
smaller towns (Stamford, Bourne and Market Deeping) during each 
calendar year.

The Council mandates the Chief Executive to liaise with relevant 
Members and Officers to organise suitable dates and venues.

The amendment, was proposed by the Leader of the Council, who 
indicated that he supported the principle, but did not feel it was appropriate 
for the Council to tell Chairmen where to hold their meetings.

The amendment was seconded.

The Chairman of one of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees indicated 
that he would be prepared to hold a meeting at another location in a 
district, while another member related their experiences of a policy 
development group meeting that was held outside Grantham.

The proposer and seconder agreed to incorporate the wording of the 
amendment within the substantive motion. A vote was taken on the 
substantive motion, which was carried.

(3) Councillor Ashley Baxter

Decision:

1) This Council will respond to the above-mentioned current 
DCMS consultation on gambling.

2) The Council’s response will include:

a) in response to the Question 1 concerning B2 machines 
(FOBTs), that this Council expresses support in favour of 
Option 4 which is to reduce the maximum stake from 
£100 down to £2.

b) in response to Question 10, that this Council supports 
the government’s proposals   to   bar   contactless  
payments as   a   direct   form   of   payment   to   gaming  
machines.

3) Responses to the rest of the consultation should be discussed 
and decided at the appropriate Committee meeting.

Councillor Baxter proposed his motion

1) This Council will respond to the above-mentioned current DCMS 
consultation on gambling.

2) The Council’s response will include:

Pg 21



19

a) in response to the Question 1 concerning B2 machines 
(FOBTs), that this Council expresses support in favour of 
Option 4 which is to reduce the maximum stake from £100 
down to £2.

b)  b) in response to Question 10, that this Council supports 
the government’s  proposals   to   bar   contactless   
payments as   a   direct   form   of   payment   to   gaming   
machines.

3) Responses to the rest of the consultation should be discussed and 
decided at the appropriate Committee meeting.

He added that gambling had increased because of the availability of fixed-
odds betting terminals and he felt that the issue was particularly pertinent 
given comments that were made about the Council needing to consider the 
personal circumstances of its residents which had been made earlier in the 
meeting. 

The proposal was seconded.

Other comments expressed supported the motion but some concern was 
expressed that this proposal should not lead to the Council seeking to 
respond to all government consultations.

The motion was put to the vote and carried.

17:58 - As the 30 minute extension to the duration of meeting had ceased, 
members agreed to carry on for an additional five minutes to allow the 
conclusion of business.

(4) Councillor Matthew Lee

Decision:

The Council resolves to support the lobbying strategy to the 
Government to achieve an improved funding deal for Greater 
Lincolnshire (including South Kesteven District Council) going 
forwards.

Councillor Lee proposed his motion:

The Council resolves to support the lobbying strategy to the 
Government to achieve an improved funding deal for Greater 
Lincolnshire (including South Kesteven District Council) going 
forwards.

He explained that like all Councils, funding for Lincolnshire’s Councils had 
decreased overtime as the country continued to face a budget deficit. He 
added that it was imperative that funding should be distributed fairly and 
equitably so that all Councils shouldered the burden evenly. If Lincolnshire 
received the average level of national funding it would receive an extra 
£116m from central Government. The strategy that was being deployed 
was to ask the Lincolnshire MPs to work together and put pressure on the 

Pg 22



20

Treasury to look at how the county could get fairer funding. Other Councils 
in Lincolnshire were also putting forward similar motions.

The proposal was seconded.

A further comment was made that the need for fairer funding extended 
beyond local government to health funding. Current health funding 
arrangements had a consequential impact on local authorities.

The proposition was put to the vote and carried.

58. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 18.00.

Pg 23



List of Chairman’s Engagements 
24 November 2017 to 24 January 2018

Date Ref Organisation and Event Location Chauf
Sunday 
26.11.17

BS049 ABF Curry Lunch Prince William of Gloucester 
Barracks, Grantham 

Sunday 
26.11.17

BS057 Grantham Christmas Lights switch on St Peters Hill, Grantham

Saturday 
02.12.17

BS059 Opening of the Wheeled sports facility Woody Heights Recreation 
Area, Deeping St James 

Sunday 
03.12.17

BS053 Mayor of Sleaford Christingle Church 
Service

St Denys Church,
Sleaford 

Tuesday 
05.12.17

BS054 Rainbows Christmas Concert St Wulfram’s Church, 
Grantham

Sunday 
10.12.17

GC018 Grantham District Scouts ChristChurch, Grantham

Tuesday 
12.12.17

BS060 Light Up a Life Service
St Barnabas Hospice

St Wulfram’s Church, 
Grantham

15.12.17 BS024 Chairman’s Christmas Lunch Belton Golf Club

Tuesday 
19.12.17

BS056 Walton Girls School Carol Service St Wulfram’s Church, 
Grantham

Pg 24

Agenda Item 5



COUNCIL

Report of Councillor Mrs. Brenda Sumner
Chairman of the Constitution Committee

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

COUNCIL 

25th January 2018

Report from the Constitution Committee – 11th 
December 2017 (LDS261)

Decision
Proposal:

Council decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke – The Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
member for Business Transformation and Commissioning

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Lucy Bonshor – Democratic Officer. 
E-mail: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk  Tel : 01476 406120
Date: 22 December 2017

Jo Toomey  - Principal Democratic Officer
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk. Tel: 01476 406078
Date: 29 December 2017

Lucy Youles – Assistant Director Legal and Democratic.
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk Tel: 01476 406105
Date: 29 December 2017

Councillor Brenda Sumner – Chairman of the Constitution 
Committee
Date: 11 January 2018

SUMMARY
The Appendix to this report sets out the minutes of and the report to the Constitution 
Committee held on the 11th December 2017. The Committee considered and 
recommended to Council changes to the Constitution to reflect the local scheme 
relating to Members’ allowances in accordance with the report of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel made to Council at its meeting on the 23rd November 2017. The 
changes considered relate to childcare, carers and travel allowances.  

Pg 25

Agenda Item 6

mailto:l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Council approves the recommendations from the Constitution 
Committee to amend Article 2.5 as follows:

1.  At Article 2.5,  to add the words shown in bold underlined relating to child 
care and carers allowance:

An allowance for child care and carers at £5.89 per hour is payable, subject to a 
ceiling of £1,110 per annum per Councillor, payable for approved duties on 
presentation of a receipt/invoice or signed verification from the carer to confirm 
the arrangements.

2. At Article 2.5.1(ii) to delete words prohibiting the payment of travel allowances 
and add words shown in bold and underlined relating to the payment of travel 
allowances to Councillors who attend who are not members of the committee:

Cabinet, Committee or sub-Committee meetings of which the Councillor is a 
member or, if not a member of a meeting, is attending where they have a 
legitimate interest in a matter that is scheduled to be discussed.

3. To add Article 2.5.1(xii)  to allow the payment of travel allowance for:

Meetings with officers to discuss items included on Council, Cabinet and 
committee agendas where the Councillor has made a pre-arranged 
appointment.

4. To add Article 2.5.1(xiii) to allow the payment of travel allowances for 
attendance at town, parish and charter trustee meetings as follows:

 
Town and Parish Council meetings, including Charter Trustee meetings and 
Parish Meetings within the Member’s Ward that they attend as a representative 
of South Kesteven District Council.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 At the Council meeting held on the 23rd November 2017, Members considered 
the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel. Members were asked to 
consider local changes to the allowance scheme to permit Members to claim for 
their travel when they have a legitimate interest in a matter being discussed by 
one of the Council’s Committees, to allow members to claim for their travel 
when they attend the Council offices to meet with an appropriate officer to 
discuss included item(s), to allow members to claim for their travel when 
attending parish council meetings and to allow recompense for “informal” caring 
arrangements. Members asked the Constitution Committee to consider 
appropriate wording to incorporate these recommendations into the Members’ 
Allowance Scheme.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The recommendations are made by the Constitution Committee. Any other 
options considered are as set out in the minutes of the meeting of the 

Pg 26



Constitution Committee held on the 11th December 2017 which are appended 
to this report. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The resource implications of the proposed changes were considered by Council 
when it considered the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel. It is not 
possible to determine the resource implications of the changes proposed to the 
local scheme. The budget requirement will be monitored throughout the 
financial year 2018/19 and forecasts will be determined for future budget 
setting.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report no specific high risks have been 
identified as a result of the recommendations made.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 No issues have been identified from the recommendations made.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and order implications arising from the recommendations 
made.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 The financial implications of these proposed amendments to the Members local 
allowance scheme cannot be calculated as the changes are new proposals and 
therefore there is no historical analysis that can be used. However a reasonable 
assumption has been made and it is considered that a sufficient uplift has been 
made to the budget for 2018/19.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 Comments are included in the report LDS256 made to the Constitution 
Committee. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDIX

10.1 Appendix - Report to Constitution Committee – LDS256, and minutes of the 
meeting of the Constitution Committee - 11th December 2017

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 The Constitution - 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3580/Public%20reports%2
0pack%2028th-Sep-2017%20Constitution.pdf?T=10 

Pg 27

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3580/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Sep-2017%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3580/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Sep-2017%20Constitution.pdf?T=10


 

 

 
 

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

 
Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

Cabinet Member for Finance 
 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 

Constitution Committee 
 
11th  December 2017 

 
Local Scheme (LDS256) 

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

Council Decision – The Constitution Committee is asked to make a 
recommendation to Council 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 

 
Report author: 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
Signed off by: 
 
 
 
Approved for 
publication 

 
Jo Toomey – Principal Democracy Officer. E-mail: 
j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk . Tel 01476 406152  
Date: 29th November 2017 
 
 Lucy Youles – Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic. E-mail: 
l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk. Tel 01476406105 
Date 29th November  2017 
 
 
Richard Wyles – Assistant Director Finance.  E-mail: 
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk . Tel:01476 406210 
Date: 30th November 2017 
 
Councillor Adam Stokes 
Date: 30th November 2017  
 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Following a report from the Independent Remuneration Panel, the Council has agreed to 
make changes to its local Members’ allowance scheme and has asked the Constitution 
Committee to consider appropriate wording for inclusion in the scheme following 
consultation with Internal Audit. 

 

Pg 28

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
tel:01476


 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Constitution Committee recommends to Council the following amendments to 
Article 2.5 of the Council’s Constitution 
 

1. Childcare and Carers allowance: “An allowance for child care and carers at £5.89 
per hour is payable, subject to a ceiling of £1,110 per annum per Councillor, 
payable for approved duties on presentation of a receipt/invoice or signed 
verification from the carer to confirm the arrangements.” 

2. Article 2.5.1(ii): “Cabinet, Committee or sub-Committee meetings of which the 
Councillor is a member or, if not a member of a meeting, where they have a 
legitimate interest in a matter that is scheduled to be discussed.” 

3. To add Article 2.5.1(xii): “Meetings with officers to discuss items included on 
Council, Cabinet and committee agendas where the Councillor has made a pre-
arranged appointment.” 

4. To add Article 2.5.1(xiii): “Town and Parish Council meetings and Parish Meetings 
within the Member’s Ward that they attend as a representative of South Kesteven 
District Council.” 

 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
1.1 At its meeting on 23 November 2017, the Council considered and agreed the 

recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel (the Panel) in relation 
to its scheme of Members’ allowances. 

 
1.2 In addition to recommendations relating to the level of Members’ allowances, the 

Panel also suggested a number of changes to the local scheme on the basis of 
the evidence that was received. Given that this broadened the scope of activity 
for which claims could be made, it was suggested that there should be 
consultation with Internal Audit to make sure that checks and balances were in 
place to verify those claims. 

 
1.3 Council agreed to make the following changes to the local scheme: 
  

a) To allow members to claim for their travel when they have a legitimate interest 
in a matter being discussed by one of the Council’s Committees. 

b) To allow members to claim for their travel when they attend the Council offices 
to meet with an appropriate officer to discuss item(s) included on Council, 
Cabinet and committee agendas. 

c) To allow members to claim for their travel when attending Town and Parish 
council meetings and Parish Meetings 

d) To allow recompense for “informal” caring arrangements 
 
1.4 The current wording of the local scheme states that travelling expenses are 

payable for “Cabinet, Committee or sub-Committee meetings of which a member, 
or has been invited to attend such meeting. If not a member of the committee or 
not invited to attend such a meeting no travel expenses are payable.” To 
incorporate the proposal at 1.3a), it is suggested that this may be amended to 
read: “Cabinet, Committee or sub-Committee meetings of which the Councillor is 
a member or, if not a member of a meeting, where they have a legitimate interest 
in a matter that is scheduled to be discussed.” 

 

Pg 29



 

 

1.5 Under the current scheme, a Member may only make a claim for their travel to 
Council offices when they are meeting with an officer when that officer has invited 
them or where the journey can be linked to a special responsibility that sits with 
the members, for example meeting with officers in connection with their Cabinet 
Portfolio or a meeting of which they are the Chairman or Vice-Chairman. The 
Panel suggested that this should be broadened and therefore it is proposed that 
a new criterion should be added as article 2.5.1(xii): “Meetings with officers to 
discuss items included on committee agendas where the Councillor has made a 
pre-arranged appointment.”  The suggestion is that an appointment should be 
made with the relevant officer so that it is possible to verify any claim made by a 
Councillor in relation to meeting an officer. It also reduced the risk of a Councillor 
attending the Council offices to see a particular person and that person was not 
available, creating an unnecessary journey. 

 
1.6 No provision is made within the current local scheme for Members who attend 

meetings of the town and parish councils and parish meetings within their Ward. 
It is therefore suggested that a further new criterion should be added as article 
2.5.1(xiii) “Town and Parish Council meetings and Parish Meetings within the 
Member’s Ward that they attend as a representative of South Kesteven District 
Council.” It is recognised that a member may attend a parish council meeting as 
a parish councillor, they would also be required to attend as a representative of 
South Kesteven District Council. In such cases mileage claims should be met. 
The specification about attending meetings within their Ward has been included 
given that there is a possibility that a Member may attend a number of parish 
council meetings as both a District Councillor and a County Councillor. If a 
Councillor attends a parish meeting outside their district Ward on behalf of 
another Council, any mileage payment would need to be met through any travel 
and subsistence arrangements that the other body has in place. In signing their 
travel claim forms, Members are already to confirm that they have not received 
payment for any of the listed journeys from any other organisation.  
 

1.7 The final recommendation of the Panel related to making claims under the 
childcare and carers allowance. Currently this allowance is payable for approved 
duties only on presentation of a receipt/invoice. Evidence received by the Panel 
indicated that Members would like to see this broadened to incorporate informal 
caring mechanisms, including other family members and babysitters. Given that 
the length of meetings could be difficult to predict, the potential for meetings to 
be called with just over a week’s notice and some evening meetings, Members 
had indicated that it could be difficult to book additional nursery hours or to make 
use of extended school provisions. There was an increasing likelihood that 
Members would have to fall back on those informal caring mechanisms for which 
no reimbursement could be provided. It is suggested that there is a change to the 
way in which this allowance can be claimed with recognition that there will no 
requirement for a receipt for using any such arrangements. Instead of attaching 
an invoice to the normal travel and subsistence claim, the suggestion is that there 
is a bespoke form for this allowance. Where formal arrangements are used, 
receipts and invoices can still be attached to the form and this can be signed off 
by the Member. Where informal arrangements are used, it will be necessary for 
the Member to ensure that the “informal” carer signs to confirm the date of the 
session to which the claim relates, together with the number of hours during 
which the care was provided. A draft version of the form is attached as Appendix 
A to the report. 

Pg 30



 

 

  
2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 Council decided at its meeting on 23 November 2017 that it would adopt the 

changes to the local scheme subject to further consideration by the Constitution 
Committee 

   
3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
3.1 Broadening the scope of items for which  members can claim could lead to an 

increased cost for  travel and subsistence claims. At its meeting on 23 
November 2017 Council agreed that any in-year costs would be funded from 
the local priorities reserve. 

 
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  
 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified. 

 
5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 

etc.) 
 
5.1 This report refers to recommendations that were made to the Council by an 

independent panel and the subsequent decision made by Council in response 
to those recommendations. 

  
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arriving from this report.  
 
7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 

 
7.1 The inclusion of new criteria will result in an increase in the annual budget of 

members’ allowances.  The in-year impact will be met from the local priorities 
reserve as the budget has already been approved.  Budgets for future years will 
be increased although it is difficult to anticipate the financial impact due to the 
uncertainty in the number of claims that may be received under the new criteria. 

 
8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

On the 23rd November 2017, Council approved the recommendations of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel including the provision to back-date 
the changes to 1st September 2017. In these circumstances it is important 
that the changes to the local scheme are considered as a matter of 
urgency to effect any changes to the scheme in the Constitution. 
 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  
 
 
10.  APPENDICES 
 
10.1 Appendix A – draft form for claiming Carers’ Allowance 

Pg 31



 

 

  
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  
11.1 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel presented to Council on 23 

November 2017: 
http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s19105/IRP_131017v5.pdf  

  

Pg 32

http://moderngovsvr:8080/documents/s19105/IRP_131017v5.pdf


 

 

Appendix A 
 

Carers’ Allowance Claim Form 
 

This is an allowance for child care and carers at £5.89 per hour, subject to a ceiling of 
£1,110 per annum per Councillor, payable for approved duties. 

 
Councillor __________________________________ 
 
PART A 
 
Do you have an invoice/receipt? 
 

 Yes (If ‘yes’ please attach the invoice skip to Part C) 

  

 No (If ‘no’ please complete both Part B and Part C) 

 
PART B 
 

No. of 
hours 

Rate (max £5.89 
per hour) 

Carer’s Name (print in 
block caps) 

Carer’s Signature 

    

    

    

    

 
PART C 
 
Reason for incurring expense (please provide specific information regarding the duties 
you were undertaking when the expense was incurred: 
 

Date Times Meeting Responsible Officer 

    

    

    

    

    

    

 
Total value of claim:  
 
I declare that: 
 

a) The above expenditure has been necessarily incurred to enable me to perform 
the above approved duties as a member of South Kesteven District Council. 

b) I have actually made the payments shown. 
c) I have not made nor will make any claim from any other authority or body in 

connection with the duties indicated above. 
 
 
Signed: _________________________________  Dated: ____________________ 

£ 

Pg 33



MINUTES
CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE
MONDAY, 11 DECEMBER 2017

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Ian Stokes
Councillor Mrs Brenda Sumner (Chairman)
Councillor Hannah Westropp (Vice-Chairman)

OFFICERS

Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services (Lucy Youles)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

32. APOLOGIES

An apology was received from Councillor Lynda Coutts.

33. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

None disclosed. 

34. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13TH NOVEMBER 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 13th November 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record subject to a typographical error being amended and a duplicated 
paragraph being removed. 

35. PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE LOCAL SCHEME

Decision:

That the Constitution Committee recommends to Council the following 
amendments to the Constitution;

1. Amendment at Article 2.5: Childcare and Carers allowance: “An 
allowance for child care and carers at £5.89 per hour is payable, 
subject to a ceiling of £1,110 per annum per Councillor, payable for 
approved duties on presentation of a receipt/invoice or signed 
verification from the carer to confirm the arrangements.”

2. Amendment at Article 2.5.1(ii): “Cabinet, Committee or sub-
Committee meetings of which the Councillor is a member or, if not 

Pg 34



a member of a meeting is attending, where they have a legitimate 
interest in a matter that is scheduled to be discussed.”

3. To add Article 2.5.1(xii): “Meetings with officers to discuss items 
included on Council, Cabinet and committee agendas where the 
Councillor has made a pre-arranged appointment.”

4. To add Article 2.5.1(xiii): “Town and Parish Council meetings, 
including Charter Trustee meetings and Parish Meetings  within the 
Member’s Ward that they attend as a representative of South 
Kesteven District Council.”

Members had been circulated with report LDS256 which concerned changes to 
the local Members’ allowance scheme within the Constitution following the 
report from the Independent Remuneration Panel which had been agreed by 
Members at the Council meeting in November.  The report listed the following 
proposed changes to the scheme:

1. Childcare and Carers allowance: “An allowance for child care and carers 
at £5.89 per hour is payable, subject to a ceiling of £1,110 per annum 
per Councillor, payable for approved duties on presentation of a 
receipt/invoice or signed verification from the carer to confirm the 
arrangements.”

2. Article 2.5.1(ii): “Cabinet, Committee or sub-Committee meetings of 
which the Councillor is a member or, if not a member of a meeting, 
where they have a legitimate interest in a matter that is scheduled to be 
discussed.”

3. To add Article 2.5.1(xii): “Meetings with officers to discuss items included 
on Council, Cabinet and committee agendas where the Councillor has 
made a pre-arranged appointment.”

4. To add Article 2.5.1(xiii): “Town and Parish Council meetings and Parish 
Meetings within the Member’s Ward that they attend as a representative 
of South Kesteven District Council.”

Members discussed the proposed changes with comments being made about 
the carer’s allowance.  Some suggestions for further wording was also 
discussed to add clarity to two of the proposed changes. One Member referred 
to the pre-briefings arranged for Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Committees 
and it was confirmed that these were included in the allowance. It was 
proposed to include the word “attending” in relation to Article 2.5.1 (ii) and also 
as Grantham did not have a Town or Parish Council to include meetings of the 
Charter Trustees in relation to Article 2.5.1 (xiii).   On being put to the vote the 
proposed changes with the two amendments were agreed.

36. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting closed at 10:48am.

Pg 35



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

25 January 2018

Cabinet meetings held since 23 November 2017 
(LDS262)

Decision
Proposal:

No decision required

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 4 January 2018

Julie Edwards, Elections and Democratic Services Team Leader
Tel: 01476 40 60 78 E-mail: j.edwards@southketeven.gov.uk 
Date: 5 January 2018

Lucy Youles, Assistant Director Legal and Democratic. 
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 12 January 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 16 January 2018

SUMMARY

Since the last meeting of the Council on 23 November 2017, the Cabinet has met on 7 
December 2017 and 11 January 2018.

This report contains the reports submitted to, and the minutes of, those meetings for 
Members’ information.

Pg 36

Agenda Item 7

mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:j.edwards@southketeven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION

The Council is not asked to make any decision relating to this report.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 South Kesteven District Council operates a Leader and Cabinet arrangement 
as established under the Local Government Act 2000. In 2010 the Council 
adopted the strong Leader model under provisions within the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

1.2 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 set out the responsible body for different functions, specifically those 
functions that are not executive functions, those that may be determined by an 
authority’s executive and those functions that are not the sole responsibility of 
the executive. All other functions are, by default, executive functions and would 
therefore, under South Kesteven District Council’s arrangements, be 
determined by the Cabinet. The requirements of these Regulations mean that 
at its meetings, the Cabinet may make some decisions outright whilst in other 
instances it may make recommendations to Council.

1.3 Copies of the reports considered at those meetings are attached for Members’ 
information together with the decision notices of any individual Cabinet Member 
decisions that were reported. Where the minutes of a meeting are not available 
at the time the agenda for the Council meeting is being prepared, they will be 
supplied as part of this report at the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Not applicable.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable to this report. Analysis will be carried out 
as required in respect of decisions by the Cabinet.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

Pg 37



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising as a result of this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 There is a requirement to publish Cabinet decisions in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. These minutes have been recorded 
to inform Members of the deliberations at the meeting.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A: 7 December 2017

 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 December 2017
 Report CFM442: Council Tax Base 2018/19
 Report HSG132: Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy (included with 

paperwork for 11 January 2018)
 Report PPMO06: Quarter 2 Performance 2017/18
 Report CFM444: Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Report 2017/18
 Non-key decision notice: Consultation and proposed new lease of the 

former Arnoldfield Bowls Club
 Non-key decision notice: Expenditure of Section 106 funds for the Deeping 

St James Parish Council to provide suitable play equipment at Linchfield 
Road play area

10.2 Appendix B: 11 January 2018 

 Decision notice from the meeting held on 11 January 2018
 Report CFM449: Budget requirement and indicative proposals 2018/19
 Report HSG132: Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy
 Report ENV674: Food waste collection trials
 Report ENV675: Car park charging points for electric vehicles
 Report PD0074: Proposed changes to car park tariffs – Welham Street, 

Grantham
 Report RIM402: Housing development programme

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

Pg 38



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 7 DECEMBER 2017

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Michael King
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Bob Sampson

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Environment (Tracey Blackwell)
Strategic Director, Growth (Steve Ingram)
Assistant Director, Environment (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Finance (Richard Wyles)
Assistant Director, Growth & Development (Paul Thomas)
Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic (Lucy Youles)
Assistant Director, Transformation & Change (Judith Davids)
Interim Service Manager, Communication (Adrian Smith)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

CO90.APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Neilson.

CO91.MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 NOVEMBER 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record.

Cabinet members were advised that the Ward Councillor Grants referred to in 
minute CO82 would be the subject of discussion at a working group of the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee and their 

Pg 39

Appendix A



2

recommendations would subsequently be referred to Cabinet for consideration.

CO92.DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

CO93.*COUNCIL TAX BASE 2018/19

Decision:

1. To approve the distribution of the Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme (LCTSS) grant for 2018/19 in accordance with the tax base 
for each parish as detailed in the appendix to these minutes

2. To recommend to Council the approval of the tax base set at 
46,519.3 Band D equivalents as part of the budget proposals for 
2018/19

Considerations/Reasons for Decision:

1. Report number CFM442 of the Cabinet Member for Finance including 
the parish grant allocation and council tax bases 2018/19 attached as an 
appendix to these minutes

2. The Local Government Finance Act 1992 amended by Section 84 of the 
Local Government Act 2003

3. The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 2012

4. The calculation of the tax base for parish purposes is based on the 
number of properties as at 11 September 2017 and the discounts and 
exemptions applicable on 2 October 2017

5. Adjustments for the reduction in the tax base as a result of the Local 
Council Tax Support Scheme

Other options considered:

None applicable

* * *

In introducing the report, the Cabinet Member for Finance stated that Council 
Tax setting was a key funding stream for the Council to meet its service 
delivery requirements. Calculations within the report were based on the 
collection rate for the current year, which was 98.8%. Cabinet was being asked 
to approve the distribution of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme grant 
2018/19 as detailed in the revised schedule appended to the minutes and to 
approve the Council Tax Base for 2018/19. He added that whilst the Band D 
growth in percentage times was lower than expected, it was anticipated that 
this would increaseas a result of the authority’s ambitions to reinvigorate the 
local economy.

Pg 40



3

Comments about the impact of planned growth were reiterated and reference 
was made to Langtoft Special Expense Area.

Members of the Cabinet unanimously supported the proposals.

CO94.*LINCOLNSHIRE HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY

This item was deferred until the Cabinet meeting on Thursday 11 January 
2018.

CO95.QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE 2017/18

Report number PPMO06 gave details of the Council’s performance on its key 
projects and performance indicators between 1 April 2017 and 30 September 
2017. Details of the Council’s performance was included in appendix 1 to the 
report. Members were advised that the performance monitoring information 
related to objectives and priorities of the previous administration and that these 
would be updated to reflect the ambitions of the current administration.

Specific performance achievements and project headlines were highlighted:

 The Council Tax target collection rate of 98.8%
 Non-domestic rates collection was on target to achieved 98.9%Rent 

collection performance was strong with a new IT solution being 
introduced to identify irregular payments

 Occupancy of retail units compared favourably with the national average
 The percentage of food establishments achieving a rating of ‘generally 

satisfactory’ had exceeded target levels
 Incidents of fly-tipping had reduced by 17% from the previous year
 Developments at Earlesfield Lane and Westry Close Barrowby had been 

completed and the properties fully occupied while work continued at 
Trent Road following delays caused by public utility service diversions

 The Stamford Georgian Festival had brought £1m to the Stamford local 
economy 

 The St. Peter’s Hill cinema project was proceeding as planned and the 
new provider would be announced by the end of 2017

 Business intelligence was growing as a result of the Invest SK project, 
which provided opportunities to encourage businesses who wanted to 
come into the district

Debate highlighted wider environmental achievements including the impact of 
the positive impact of the Big Clean on the rate of fly-tipping. Household 
recycling rates were up with levels of residual waste decreasing. While there 
had been a small drop in performance with regard to green waste collection, 
this was attributed to the growing season in 2017.

The Cabinet noted the report.

CO96.QUARTER 2 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2017/18

Pg 41



4

Report number CFM444 updated Cabinet on budget monitoring information 
including a summary of the forecast outturn position at the end of quarter 2 
against the annual budget for 2017/18 for the General Fund Revenue Budget, 
the Housing Revenue Account Budget and the Capital Programmes for the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account. Key variances against the 
budgeted position were highlighted within the report. Members were given the 
context that the budget had been set by the previous administration, which 
meant that in-year changes had been made to accommodate new priorities and 
ambitions. 

One variance where the Council was not achieving its budgeted income to 
which specific reference was made related to commercial investment. Some of 
this variance would be offset following the recent purchase of a commercial 
investment property.

A request was made that the revised maintenance scheme for footpath lighting 
be circulated to members of the Cabinet.

The Cabinet noted the report.

CO97.MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS251 summarised the activity of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees since the last report was presented to Cabinet on 9 November 
2017.

The Chairman of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee stated that at its 
last meeting the Committee was addressed by a representative of the National 
Farmers’ Union who spoke about the impact of Great Britain leaving the 
European Union on agricultural industry, particularly within Lincolnshire. The 
representative had agreed to update members on any further developments at 
a future meeting.

The future of the rural economy had been subject to consideration at informal 
meetings of the Cabinet, with the discussions forming the basis of the Cabinet’s 
intentions, with rural broadband being specifically.

CO98. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 
AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS.

Report number LDS252 informed the Cabinet of decisions that had been taken 
by individual members since the last meeting of the Cabinet was held on 9 
November 2017.

Appendix A: Consultation and proposed new lease for Grantham Tennis Club 
to take over the former Arnoldfield bowls club, Grantham.

Appendix B: Expenditure of Section 106 funds for the Deeping St. James 
Parish Council to provide suitable play equipment at Linchfield Road play area. 

Pg 42



5

The decision related to equipment for the Skatepark. The Cabinet Member for 
Environment confirmed that the relevant documentation had been received and 
the funds totalling £38,493 were scheduled to be released.

CO99.REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS253 of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet 
members that no requests to speak by non-Cabinet members had been 
received prior to the publication of the agenda, nor had any such requests been 
received after the agenda had been published.

CO100. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS254 provided an overview of the items the Cabinet could 
expect to see on its agenda between 8 December 2017 and 30 April 2018. The 
report also included the items that were due for consideration by the full 
Council in the same period.

Members were advised that two additional items would need adding to the 
Cabinet’s forward plan: food waste collection trials and car park charging points 
for electric vehicles.

CO101. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 14:21.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE:

Decision CO93 as made on Thursday, 7 December 2017 can be implemented on Monday 18 
December 2017, unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee or any five members of the Council from any political group. This decision 
will form part of the Council’s budget proposals which will be considered at future meetings of 
the Cabinet for final presentation to Council on 1 March 2018.

Pg 43



1

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

CABINET

7th December  2017

COUNCIL TAX BASE 2018/19 (CFM442)

Decision
Proposal: Key Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor  Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Finance
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
14th November 2017 

Daren Turner – Strategic Director
d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
14th November 2017

Daren Turner – Strategic Director
d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
14th November 2017

Councillor Adam Stokes
17th November 2017 

SUMMARY

The report is a component of setting the Council Tax for the forthcoming financial year 
and forms a key part of the Councils funding stream in order to meet its service delivery 
requirements in 2018/19. The setting of a realistic and prudent collection rate for Council 
Tax in 2018/19 is an essential component of the overall budget strategy.  It is anticipated 
the collection rate of 98.80% will be achieved for this year and will form the basis of the 
collection rate for the following year. 

Pg 44

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk


2

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Cabinet is asked:

1. To approve the distribution of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS) grant 
for 2018/19 in accordance with the tax base for each parish as detailed at Appendix 
A.

2. To recommend to Council the approval of the tax base set at 46,519.3 Band D 
equivalents as part of the budget proposals for 2018/19.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 amended by s84 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 set out the requirements to allow each local authority to 
make its arrangements for adopting the Council Tax base. The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012:2914) 
provides amended statutory guidance to incorporate the changes as a result of 
the introduction of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

1.2 The Council Tax varies between the different bands according to proportions laid 
down in legislation.  These proportions are based around Band D, and are fixed 
so that the bill for a dwelling in Band A will be a third of the bill for a dwelling in 
Band H.  Applying the relevant proportion to each bands net property base 
produces the number of ‘band D equivalent properties for the area.

1.3 In determining the Council Tax Base for 2018/19, there are a number of factors 
that have been taken into consideration;

 The calculation of the tax base for parish purposes is based on the number of 
properties as at 11th September 2017 and the discounts and exemptions 
applicable on 2nd October 2017, as prescribed by legislation.

 Then adjusting for the reductions in the tax base as a result of the LCTSS.   

The table below summarises the position with the proposed tax base for South 
Kesteven 2018/19 is 46,519.3 Band D equivalents and Appendix A outlines the 
analysis of the figures at a Parish Level in terms of their individual Band D 
equivalents. 

Table 1: Tax Base  – Band D Equivalents

2018/19 2017/18 % Change

Total Band D Equivalents 50,575.5 50,306.5 0.53%
Impact of LCTSS Discounts and Work 
Incentive

(4,056.2) (4,187.1) (3.1%)

Total Band D Equivalent properties – 
with LCTS Scheme

46,519.3 46,119.4 0.87%

Pg 45



3

The band growth is lower than modelled in the Council Medium Term Financial 
Strategy which assumed annual growth of 1.5% and therefore a tax base of 
46,811.2 for 2018/19.  This has the effect of a reduction of £43K in collectable 
council tax for the forthcoming year.  However given the stated ambitions of the 
Council to re-invigorate the local economy through direct and facilitated 
investment in the coming years it is expected the growth rate will increase in the 
medium term.

Government Funding for Parishes

As set out in Table 1, the LCTSS reduces the tax base and therefore the Council 
Tax income collected by individual precepting bodies. Alongside this it also 
impacts on the local precepting authorities’ (Parish and Town Councils) ability to 
raise their own precepts which, based on a standstill position, would be lower.  
The Government, through the revenue grant allocation, provides a level of 
funding to support the shortfall at parish level.  As there is no mechanism for 
central government to make payments directly to Parish or Town Councils the 
Council has implemented a methodology to allocate the parish element of the 
grant.    

Appendix A shows how the forecast parish element of the LCTSS grant should 
be distributed.  This is based on the approved methodology that the overall grant 
will be reduced by incremental amounts between 2016/17 and 2019/20 in line 
with the reducing revenue support grant the Council receives from Government.  
For 2018/19 the allocation is reduced by £21,448 to £21,876 but the impact will 
differ by each parish depending on the growth in their respective tax base and 
the changes in Council tax support claimants.  Parishes have been notified of the 
changes to their grant and are asked to review their options to meet any shortfalls 
by either reducing expenditure, increasing their precept or a combination of both. 

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 None applicable

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 None applicable

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 None applicable

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 None applicable

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None applicable

Pg 46



4

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 These are contained in the report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The approval of the council tax base detailed in this report is required in 
accordance with the legislation referred to. S.67 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 sets out the requirements for council tax setting which can be 
discharged by full Council. The proposals in this report will be considered by 
Council at its budget setting meeting.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None applicable

10. APPENDICES

Appendix A – Parish Grant allocation and Council Tax bases 2018/19

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None 

Pg 47



Total Band D 

Equivalents 

2018/19

Impact of LCTS

Adjusted Band D 

Equivalents 

2018/19

2017/18 Parish 

Grant Allocations 

(£)

Rounded Parish 

Grant Allocation 

2018/19 (£)

Difference 

between 2017/18 

& 2018/19 (£)

2017/18 Parish 

Band D Charge (£)

2018/19 Parish 

Income Excluding 

Grant (£)

Assumed Total 

Income (£)

Grantham combined 12191.1 (1,449.1) 10742.0 3,507 1,723 (1,784) 3.87 41,571 43,294

Stamford combined 7604.3 (593.9) 7010.4 14,573 6,925 (7,648) 70.83 496,549 503,474

Bourne Combined 5830.1 (409.4) 5420.7 2,424 1,248 (1,176) 26.28 142,456 143,703

Allington 372.4 (24.9) 347.5 469 219 (250) 51.12 17,762 17,980

Ancaster 603.4 (48.5) 554.9 1,044 534 (510) 45.72 25,372 25,906

Aslackby 116.2 (10.6) 105.6 132 69 (63) 34.47 3,640 3,709

Barholm & Stowe 36.3 (3.2) 33.1 0 0 0 9.00 298 298

Barkston and Syston combined 270.3 (27.0) 243.3 338 178 (160) 54.63 13,293 13,470

Barrowby 750.8 (46.9) 703.9 1,202 584 (618) 49.41 34,780 35,364

Baston 604.0 (23.8) 580.2 238 116 (122) 20.34 11,801 11,917

Belton & Manthorpe 204.2 (5.2) 199.0 0 0 0 3.60 716 716

Billingborough 514.2 (54.6) 459.6 581 304 (277) 29.70 13,650 13,954

Bitchfield 59.8 (6.8) 53.0 0 0 0 0.00 0 0

Boothby Pagnell 63.8 (2.5) 61.3 0 0 0 11.79 723 723

Braceborough & Wilsthorpe 141.0 (0.8) 140.2 0 0 0 19.08 2,674 2,674

Braceby, Humby, Ropsely, Sapperton combined 344.5 (31.2) 313.3 210 102 (108) 28.89 9,052 9,154

Burton Coggles 41.2 (1.5) 39.7 0 0 0 3.69 146 146

Careby 73.9 (0.4) 73.5 0 0 0 14.49 1,065 1,065

Carlby 214.3 (11.1) 203.2 177 72 (105) 34.92 7,096 7,168

Carlton Scroop and Normanton combined 131.3 (8.4) 122.9 175 70 (105) 53.01 6,515 6,585

Castle Bytham 309.9 (17.8) 292.1 219 105 (114) 36.72 10,725 10,830

Caythorpe & Frieston 546.2 (36.4) 509.8 729 363 (366) 55.26 28,171 28,534

Claypole 535.8 (26.1) 509.7 154 79 (76) 35.01 17,846 17,924

Colsterwoth, Gunby & Stainby, North Witham combined 802.1 (59.2) 742.9 479 245 (234) 42.93 31,891 32,136

Corby Glen & Birkholme 427.1 (27.2) 399.9 137 66 (71) 27.27 10,905 10,971

Counthorpe & Creeton 32.5 (6.8) 25.7 0 0 0 0.00 0 0

Deeping St James 2590.8 (148.6) 2442.1 2,537 1,170 (1,367) 47.16 115,171 116,341

Denton 130.7 (10.5) 120.2 23 11 (12) 40.23 4,834 4,846

Dowsby 60.3 (7.8) 52.5 164 82 (82) 34.56 1,813 1,895

Dunsby 46.9 (3.7) 43.2 0 0 0 17.91 774 774

Easton and Stoke Rochford combined 91.4 (11.7) 79.7 0 0 0 35.28 2,813 2,813

Edenham 119.4 (8.2) 111.2 67 37 (30) 23.58 2,623 2,660

Fenton 60.4 (1.1) 59.3 0 0 0 0.00 0 0

Folkingham 304.5 (30.4) 274.1 363 171 (192) 38.79 10,631 10,802

Foston 226.6 (10.2) 216.4 138 79 (59) 45.00 9,737 9,816

Fulbeck 235.2 (17.2) 218.0 122 58 (64) 29.61 6,456 6,513

Greatford 128.9 (1.5) 127.4 0 0 0 22.95 2,924 2,924

Great Gonerby 827.8 (99.6) 728.2 1,852 900 (952) 32.85 23,922 24,822

Great Ponton 140.6 (17.3) 123.3 194 97 (97) 55.80 6,878 6,976

Haconby & Stainfield 195.6 (12.5) 183.1 28 14 (14) 8.10 1,483 1,498

Harlaxton 345.5 (12.6) 332.9 296 136 (160) 49.68 16,540 16,677

Heydour 157.4 (4.1) 153.3 90 40 (50) 32.13 4,925 4,965

Honington 70.8 (4.4) 66.4 0 0 0 0.00 0 0

Horbling 175.2 (17.9) 157.3 0 0 0 0.00 0 0

P
g 48



Hougham 83.7 (4.3) 79.4 36 18 (18) 17.55 1,393 1,412

Hough-on-the-Hill 172.4 (6.2) 166.2 119 60 (59) 35.64 5,924 5,984

Ingoldsby 119.6 (6.2) 113.4 0 0 0 39.96 4,531 4,531

Irnham 110.3 (1.3) 109.0 0 0 0 12.60 1,373 1,373

Kirkby Underwood 83.9 (4.3) 79.6 32 18 (14) 11.43 910 928

Langtoft 772.8 (23.1) 749.7 215 107 (108) 27.63 20,714 20,821

Lenton 66.7 (4.1) 62.6 0 0 0 15.21 952 952

Little Bytham 119.9 (8.2) 111.7 139 66 (73) 32.85 3,669 3,735

Little Ponton & Stroxton 71.2 (4.5) 66.7 19 8 (11) 8.55 570 579

Londonthorpe & Harrowby without combined 1768.0 (82.4) 1685.6 986 494 (492) 17.19 28,976 29,470

Long Bennington 963.7 (40.9) 922.8 488 218 (270) 45.18 41,691 41,910

Market Deeping 2379.8 (193.5) 2186.3 5,333 2,663 (2,670) 93.24 203,847 206,509

Marston 158.4 (5.5) 152.9 41 16 (25) 28.89 4,416 4,432

Morton & Hanthorpe 876.0 (62.2) 813.8 220 113 (107) 18.00 14,648 14,761

Old Somerby 95.9 (5.1) 90.8 32 23 (9) 25.38 2,305 2,328

Pickworth 79.1 (3.1) 76.0 0 0 0 20.25 1,540 1,540

Pointon 210.1 (15.5) 194.6 107 845 738 26.37 5,130 5,975

Rippingale 361.1 (22.1) 339.0 367 181 (186) 52.38 17,759 17,939

Sedgebrook 144.1 (2.7) 141.4 35 19 (16) 59.76 8,452 8,471

Skillington 139.4 (9.8) 129.6 131 68 (63) 34.02 4,408 4,476

South Witham 514.3 (60.1) 454.2 1,185 600 (585) 47.97 21,790 22,390

Stubton 78.3 (3.7) 74.6 23 11 (12) 16.11 1,201 1,212

Swayfield 146.7 (5.0) 141.7 49 29 (20) 20.07 2,843 2,872

Swinstead 97.2 (14.4) 82.8 245 102 (143) 37.98 3,146 3,248

Tallington 295.5 (19.4) 276.1 0 0 0 20.25 5,591 5,591

Thurlby 843.8 (44.4) 799.4 320 163 (157) 30.78 24,607 24,770

Toft Lound & Manthorpe 141.8 (2.5) 139.3 0 0 0 0.00 0 0

Uffington 321.2 (9.7) 311.5 47 23 (24) 12.51 3,897 3,920

Welby 79.6 (1.3) 78.3 0 0 0 18.90 1,479 1,479

Westborough & Dry Doddington 154.0 (9.1) 144.9 36 17 (19) 13.41 1,944 1,961

West Deeping 124.8 (7.0) 117.8 125 50 (75) 31.59 3,720 3,771

Witham-on-the-Hill 103.2 (3.7) 99.5 50 22 (28) 18.09 1,801 1,822

Woolsthorpe 150.6 (18.3) 132.3 282 143 (139) 45.45 6,014 6,157

Wyville cum Hungerton 19.8 0.0 19.8 0 0 0 21.24 421 421

Total by Billing Area 50,575.5 (4,056.2) 46,519.3 43,324 21,876 (21,448) 2,232.09 1,492,323 1,613,758

P
g 49



 

 

 
 

Cabinet 
 

 
Report of: Cllr Kelham Cooke 

The Deputy Leader of the Council 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 
 
Report no: 

Cabinet 
 
7th December 2017 

 
Quarter 1&2 Performance Monitoring 
 
PPMO06 

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

No decision required 
 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Cllr Kelham Cooke 
The Deputy Leader of the Council 

 
Report author: 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed off by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved for 
publication 

 
Performance and Programme Team  
p2@southkesteven.gov.uk  

01476 406341 
 
Judith Davids 
Assistant Director Transformation & Change 
j.davids@southkesteven.gov.uk 
01476-406344 
 
Date: 21 November 2017 
 
Judith Davids 
Assistant Director Transformation & Change 
j.davids@southkesteven.gov.uk 
01476-406344 
 
Date: 22 November 2017 
 
Cllr Kelham Cooke 
The Deputy Leader of the Council 
Kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk 
01476-406401 
 
Date: 28th November 2017 
 

Pg 50

mailto:p2@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:j.davids@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:d.turner@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Kelham.cooke@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

Summary 

The Councils performance against delivery of the key aspects of the Corporate Plan is 
monitored throughout the year. Quarter 1 and quarter 2 information is contained within 
this report. 
 
Performance measures – how the Council is performing against the outcomes and 
outputs documented in the Corporate Plan: 
 

Red Yellow Green Data 
only 

0 2 8 8 

 
Highlights include the performance of the Development Management team and the 
revenue collections ahead of target set for collection rates at the end of the year.  
 
Corporate priority projects – key projects which aid the delivery of the outcomes within 
the forward plan and the Big Clean initiative. 
 

Red Yellow Green Completed 
projects 

0 1 4 2 

 
 
Highlights during the first half year include an extremely successful Georgian Festival 
held in Stamford and the Big Clean initiative. Innovative use of technology enabled 
teams including volunteers to locate and tidy up large parts of the district, legacy work 
will continue into the next year in order to raise the street standard.  
 
Further detail is contained within appendix one of the report.  
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Cabinet consider the information relating to quarter 1 and 2 
performance, progress against the Corporate Plan, and the outcomes that are being 
achieved.   

 
 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
1.1 This report details the performance of the organisation on its projects and 

performance indicators for the period from the 1st April 2017 to the 30th September 
2017.  

  
2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
 Previous reports on performance have been made to the Scrutiny Committee 

for comment. Members may consider it appropriate to refer elements of the 

Pg 51



 

 

information given in this report to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for further consideration.  

 
3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
 There are no resource implications relating to this report. 
 
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  
 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below: 
 

 

Category Risk Action / Controls 

N/A N/A 

 
 
5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 

etc.) 
 
 Impact analysis will be carried out as required on the decisions and actions 

required in respect of each project referred to in this report. 
 
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no crime and disorder implications relating to this report. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 

 
There are no comments relating to the content of this report. 
 

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

There are no comments relating to the content of this report. 
 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  
 
 
10.  APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – performance data 
  
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Corporate plan 2016/2020 
 
  

Pg 52



 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Performance data 
 

Key used for this report 
 

Corporate plan outcomes 
Status  

 Overdue The task has passed its due date 

 Warning The task is approaching its due date. One of more milestones are approaching or 
have passed it due date 

 Progress OK The task is expected to meet the due date 

 Completed The task has been completed 

 

 

Corporate priority measures 
 

Status 

 Alert 

 Warning 

 On track 

 Data Only 

P
g 53



 

 

Corporate Priority Measures                                                                            
 
 
 

Current 

RAG 
Performance Measure 

Description 

F
re

q
u

e
n

c
y

 June 2017 July 2017 August 2017 Sept 2017 Annual 

Target 

 

 

 

2017/18 

 

 

 

Value 

 

 

Target Value Target Value Target Value Target Performance Comments 

 

CP01 Number of households on 

the councils housing register 

assessed as having a housing 

need. 

Months 863 - 874 - 873 - 862 - 
Data 

only 

There is an increasing number of 

those having a need for social 

housing. We are seeing more people 

come for help with multiple complex 

needs which require help from other 

agencies but may not meet their 

referral thresholds. 

 

CP02 Number of households 

living in temporary 

accommodation 
Quarters 30 - - - - - 36 - 

Data 

only 

Due to welfare benefit changes we 

are seeing more people 

approaching our service for advice 

and assistance. The Council has a 

duty to assist any households we 

believe are homeless, eligible and in 

priority need under the homeless 

legislation. 

 
CP05 % of Council Tax collected Months 29.43% 29.45% 38.79% 38.85% 48.16% 48.25% 57.58% 57.60% 98.80% 

Performance remains strong with a 

clear focus on early intervention and 

support for customers where 

required 

 
CP06 % of Non-domestic Rates 

Collected 
Months 33.04% 33.00% 41.50% 41.60% 50.13% 50.10% 59.16% 59.10% 98.90% 

Collection rates remain positive and 

a number of new reliefs have been 

granted to local businesses following 

the availability of grant funding 

 
CP07 % of Rent collected  Months 23.11% 23.09% 32.25% 30.45% 40.82% 41.05% 48.83% 49.35% 98.5% 

This remains under review as the 

rollout and local impact of universal 

credit is identified.  A new ICT 

solution is being introduced to 

specifically identify irregular 

P
g 54



 

 

Current 

RAG 
Performance Measure 

Description 

F
re

q
u

e
n

c
y

 June 2017 July 2017 August 2017 Sept 2017 Annual 

Target 

 

 

 

2017/18 

 

 

 

Value 

 

 

Target Value Target Value Target Value Target Performance Comments 

payment patterns to provide early 

assistance and support 

 
CP08 % of planning applications 

approved 
Months 91% - 92% - 92% - 93% - 

Data 

only 

No significant change in number of 

applications approved. 

 
CP09 Processing of planning 

applications: Major applications 
Months 100% 60% 100% 60% 92% 60% 94% 60% 60% 

Performance continues to 

significantly exceed performance 

targets. 

 
CP10 Processing of planning 

applications: Minor applications 
Months 87% 65% 85% 65% 79% 65% 82% 65% 65% 

Performance continues to exceed 

performance targets. 

 
CP11 Processing of planning 

applications: Other applications 
Months 81% 80% 88% 80% 84% 80% 81% 80% 80% 

Performance has declined due to 

long term absence by a key 

member of the householder team 

over the monitoring period but steps 

were put in place at the start of the 

absence to ensure that the impact 

on performance was minimised as 

much as possible. The officer has 

now returned to work. 

 

CP12 Average time taken to 

process planning applications – 

Majors 
Months 138 - 117 - 158 - 152 - 

Data 

only 

Values are based on too small a 

number of applications (3-4) to 

establish a meaningful trend. Major 

applications are complex and often 

involve a Section 106 obligation 

which extends the time taken to 

determine them. 

 

CP13 Average time taken to 

process planning applications  - 

Non-majors 
Months 76 - 76 - 76 - 79 - 

Data 

only 

No significant change to average 

time to process non-major 

applications. P
g 55



 

 

Current 

RAG 
Performance Measure 

Description 

F
re

q
u

e
n

c
y

 June 2017 July 2017 August 2017 Sept 2017 Annual 

Target 

 

 

 

2017/18 

 

 

 

Value 

 

 

Target Value Target Value Target Value Target Performance Comments 

 
CP14 Occupancy rates of retail 

units in town centres 
Quarters 95% 90% - - - - 94% 90% 90% 

In the most recent quarter, the 

overall town centre occupancy rate 

across the 4 towns has fallen by 

0.5% against the last quarter to have 

an overall occupancy rate of 94.3%. 

The figure compares favourably with 

national averages which currently 

run at 90.7%. 

 
CP15 Number of vacant 

business properties 
Quarters 318 - - - - - 302 - 

Data 

only 

This measure covers all business 

properties within the district. It is a 

new measure therefore trend 

information is unavailable. 

 

CP16 % of Food establishments 

in the area achieving 3 

(generally satisfactory) or 

above in food hygiene rating 

scheme 

Months 99% 97% 99% 97% 98% 97.% 98% 97% 97% 

The number of food businesses 

achieving a rating of 3 or above 

remains above target and above 

the national 2016/17 average of 89% 

 
CP17 % of streets that meet 

clean streets standard 
Quarters 94% - - - - - 100% - 

Data 

only 

During the Big Clean project all 

areas were photographed before 

and after the cleanse to evidence 

the areas. 

 
CP18 Number of fly tipping 

incidents received 
Months 189 - 277 - 336  404  

Data 

only 

This shows that there has been a 17% 

decrease from last year. The Big 

Clean project will have had a 

positive impact. 

 

CP19 Number of 

apprenticeships hosted within 

SKDC 
Quarters 15 14 - - - - 16 14 14 

 

 
CP21 Percentage of household 

waste sent for reuse, recycling 
Months 43.75% 45% 44.73% 45% 45% 45% 44.81% 45% 45% 

There has been a positive reduction 

in residual waste and an increase in 

recycled waste. However this was 

P
g 56



 

 

Current 

RAG 
Performance Measure 

Description 

F
re

q
u

e
n

c
y

 June 2017 July 2017 August 2017 Sept 2017 Annual 

Target 

 

 

 

2017/18 

 

 

 

Value 

 

 

Target Value Target Value Target Value Target Performance Comments 

and composting (formerly NI 

192) 
offset by a falloff in the weight of 

green waste collected up to the 

end of September. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 P

g 57



 

 

Corporate plan project progress 
  

Local Plan 
Target Date: Consultation 
Draft- August 2017 

Lead Officer: Steve Ingram RAG status:      The task is expected to meet the due date 
 

Objectives of this project: 
Corporate Plan Outcome: Open for 
business 

The proposed new Local Plan will achieve the following outcomes: 

 provide an up to date planning framework, consistent with the NPPF, and be the key 
document in supporting future decision making 

 identify sufficient deliverable sites to maintain a rolling five year supply of housing land 

 identify major sites likely to come forward for development by 2036 including planning 
guidance for these sites which will influence how future planning applications will be decided 

Adopted a new Local Plan setting out 
opportunities for the development of homes, 
businesses and leisure facilities. 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 May 2017 
Create draft plan 
for consultation 

The draft Local Plan was reviewed by Cabinet on 22nd June. It was agreed to take the plan 
forward for six weeks public consultation. 

 Aug 2017 
Draft Plan 
consultation 

Additional consultation following industry guidance is being held for 6 weeks. Additional 
consultation following industry guidance is being held for 6 weeks. There were seven events 
across the district to enable the public to view and comment. Over 800 responses have been 
received 

P
g 58



 

 

 
  

Build new Council 
housing 
Target Date: October 
2017 

Lead Officer: Andrew Sweeney RAG status:      One or more milestones have passed their due date 

Objectives of this project: 
Corporate Plan Outcome: Open for 
business 

Ensuring the right mix of housing meets local needs by providing accommodation built to ‘lifetime 
homes’ standards which have flexibility to adapt to suit changing needs.  

A range of affordable housing available across 
the district.  
Completed 27 new Council homes for social rent 
and developed ongoing plans to deliver more 
low cost housing in the district. 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 April 2017 Earlsfield Lane The development of 4 one bedroom flats have been completed and are now fully occupied. 

 
Sept 2017 Trent Road  

Delays in the completion of work for public utility service diversions have caused a delay to the 
completion of the project. The diversion works are scheduled to be completed in full in 
December 2017. 12 properties will be completed by the end of November and be ready to let. 
The remaining 6 properties (subject of the final diversion works) will be completed in 
December ready for letting in the new year. 

 August 2017 
Westry Close -  
Barrowby  

Development of 1 and 2 bedroom bungalows and a 4 bed purpose designed bungalow for a 
family with a disabled family member. These properties are now all occupied.  

P
g 59



 

 

 

  

Southern Quadrant 
Target Date: December 
2019 

Lead Officer:  Sylvia Bland RAG status:      The task is expected to meet the due date 

Objectives of this project: Corporate Plan Outcome: Open for business 

To ensure the development of a sustainable urban extension, including Grantham 
Southern Relief Road, to the South of Grantham. 

Development delivery arrangements in place for the 
Spitalgate Heath/ KiNG 31 site. 
Balanced approach in place which encourages new 
housing and employment development whilst ensuring a 
proportionate contribution towards essential community 
infrastructure 
 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 April 2017 
Heads of Terms for 
Section 106 agreement 
drafted 

The Heads of Terms for the Section 106 have been drafted. Following the resolution of 
Development Management Committee on 18 July 2017, further work has been undertaken by 
the Council’s advisors on how on-site affordable housing can be achieved without adversely 
affecting the viability of the development. 

 January 2018 
Urban extension – 
planning committee 
 

Once the amount of on-site affordable housing has been agreed, the application will be 
brought back to Development Management Committee to determine the application together 
with the finalised s106 agreement and planning conditions. 

 
To be 
confirmed 

Completion of King 31 
Link Road 

LCC’s programme indicates that Phase 2 of the Link Road (construction of A1 slip road and 
junction) will commence in summer 2018 at the earliest. 

P
g 60



 

 

 

The Big Clean 
Target Date: March 2019  

Lead Officer: Ian Yates RAG status:   The task is expected to meet the due date 

Objectives of this project: 

To provide a targeted cleanse to the district of south Kesteven within a defined and limited timeframe. To introduce increased resources 
to maintain the higher level of cleanliness and to introduce additional barrow beats. 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 
28th July 
2017 

Operational teams in place 

Completed - 37 people were recruited through an agency framework agreement to 

support delivery of the project. All risk assessments and safe systems of work were 

produced ready for the successful training and assessment week prior to the 

project going live. All plant and equipment was procured and in place with 

additional temporary depot storage being secured for the period of the contract. 

Work schedules and delivery programme produced and supervisor back fill 

arrangements made. 

 

 3rd July 2017 IT Solution 

Completed - Web reporting tools utilising GIS maps and associated online data 

gathering systems were made available.  

Mobile devices are being used to support the project and work scheduling is 

continuously updated based on information received. 

Social media messaging is being used in line with a full communications strategy to 
ensure maximum buy in from the public, business and volunteers. 

 
31st October 
2017 

Volunteer Engagement 

Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Services are supporting the volunteer 
engagement work. Local businesses have been contacted, along with existing 
volunteer and community groups. Guidance documents to support them in their 
role have been written and distributed. 
Risk assessments are being carried out in advance of volunteers arriving on site. P

g 61



 

 

  

Wyndham Park 
Target Date: 15th July 
2018 

Lead Officer: Paul Stokes RAG status:     The task is expected to meet its due date 

Objectives of this project: Corporate Plan Outcome: Open for business 

A successful bid for Heritage Lottery Fund, Parks for People funding will enable us to 
refurbish the town’s memorial, Wyndham Park, to a standard which supports a number 
of our corporate priorities in particular, clean, green and healthy. 
Phase 2 will monitor the progress of the next stage of the Wyndham Park 
improvements, from the successful HLF bid, through to completion of works. 

 

Completed further major improvements to Wyndham 
Park through investment of over £1 million. 
 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 
15th June 
2017 

Construction – 

Notify bidders and 

issue invitation to 

tender  

 

Short listing process carried out on the 9th June, with the support of Procurement Lincolnshire. 
As a result, we invited 4 companies to tender – all have significant experience in projects of this 
nature.  

 
23rd June 
2017 

Construction - 

Invitation to tender  

 

Published by Procurement Lincolnshire as scheduled.  

 

 
20th July 
2017 

Construction - 
Closing date for the 
receipt of tenders 

 Whilst two tenders were received on 20th July they exceeded the available budget. In response 
a further round of value engineering was undertaken and suppliers were issued with a revised 
Bill of Quantities together with an invitation to requote. The revised tenders were evaluated on 
22nd September and a viable tender/contractor was identified. The HLF were issued with a 
procurement report during the 28th September and our appointment recommendations were 
subsequently approved. The procurement and associated recommendations were reported 
within subsequent Non Key report ref:  FM0008.   

P
g 62



 

 

  

Georgian Festival 
Target Date: October -
2017 

Lead Officer: Paul Stokes 
 

RAG status:     The task is completed 

Objectives of this project: 
Corporate Plan Outcome: Open for 
business 

To produce a festival over three days to raise the towns profile nationally and to provide an 
opportunity to create a legacy by establishing a collaboration between local artists and groups in 
the community. Investigate and encourage links to other celebrations in the area. Date of the 
festival 21st to 24th September 2017 

Raised the profile of South Kesteven as a great 
place to live, work and invest 
Contributed to the success of local tourism and 
leisure business through a range of promotional 
activity including a programme of local festivals 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 July 2017 
Stamford launch of 
festival 

The launch was held in the market area on 28th July. Period costumes were used to attract 
attention to the events which will take place. 

 Sept 2017 Festival Weekend 

The Georgian festival, which coincided with the Stamford 50 celebrations, was held on 21st – 24th 
September. In excess 100 events took place, and the Saturday evening ‘Illuminati’ event saw 
over 4000 people around Red Lion Square.  
Approximately 56,000 residents and visitors participated in the festival weekend.  

P
g 63



 

 

 

 

St Peters Hill  
Target Date: March 2019 
Phase 1 build complete 

Lead Officer: Neil Cucksey 
 RAG status:     The task is expected to meet the due date 

Objectives of this project: 
 Corporate Plan Outcome: Commercially 
and customer focused 

 Provide a viable, contemporary, state of the art multi-screen cinema complex. 

 Support and enable development of a diverse daytime and evening economy through 
the creation of associated new A3 restaurant space. 

 The scheme proposes a core (Phase One) development of up to 14,122 sq ft of new 
build cinema with 5 screens, 6,200 sq ft of ground floor (A3) restaurant space and  
9278 sq ft of first floor space that could be used for a variety of compatible leisure or 
office uses. 

Developed initial phases of St Peter’s Hill in 
Grantham to provide new opportunities for 
restaurants, a multi-screen cinema and other leisure 
time uses. 

Milestone 
Status 

Milestone 
Due Date 

Milestones Progress 

 
November 
2017 

Enabling works 
package 

Archaeological investigation works were completed in June 2017 and a report was produced 
which detailed that minor artefacts were found but they were of no particular significance. The 
artefacts were documented and shared with the Grantham Museum.  

The pre-start planning condition for Archaeology is now discharged, application to discharge 
the drainage condition has been submitted to the LPA. 
Service diversion works for Western Power and BT are complete. 

Work is ongoing to establish a location for a replacement cycle shelter facility. 

 March 2019 
Consented scheme 
build 

The Councils solicitor has produced & circulated first draft agreement for lease and lease with 
cinema operator. 

A “Project Request” order has been issued to the contractor in order for them to appoint a 
professional team to progress design and cost information. The contractor and preferred 
cinema operator have met to agree the extent of works and specification for the cinema fit out 
works, to be completed by the cinema operator and distinguish these from the Core Shell 
works.   P

g 64



1

CABINET

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
The Cabinet Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

7th December 2017

Budget Monitoring Report (CFM444)

Decision
Proposal:

Report for information

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Claire Morgan, Senior Management Accountant
Tel: 01476 40 60 51
E-mail: claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 14 November 2017

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Finance
Tel: 01476 40 62 10
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 14 November 2017 

Daren Turner 
Tel: 01476 40 63 01
E-mail: d.turner@southtkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 20 November 2017

Councillor Adam Stokes
Date: 20 November 2017

SUMMARY
 In order to ensure effective budget management it is important that Cabinet are updated with 
budget monitoring information and are kept informed of the financial position. The report 
provides a summary of the forecast outturn position as at the end of Quarter 2 against annual 
budget for 2017/18 for the following areas:

 General Fund Revenue Budget
 Housing Revenue Account Budget
 Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA

Pg 65

mailto:claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:d.turner@southtkesteven.gov.uk


2

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Forecast outturn work is undertaken on a quarterly basis by the service areas in order 
to anticipate the outturn position. This process enables options to be considered in 
respect of the spending proposals for the remainder of the year or alternatively it is 
used to identify emerging financial issues that can then be reviewed and mitigating 
actions put in place.  

General Fund Revenue Budget

1.2 The revised budget requirement for 2017/18 was set at £12.441M. This includes the 
supplementary estimate for the ‘Big Clean’ as approved by Council on 15 June 2017.  
Further supplementary estimates have been considered by Cabinet at their meetings 
on 12 October 2017 and 9 November 2017 but these are not included as the report 
focuses only on the forecast position as at 30 September 2017. The budget is adjusted 
in year to allow for budget virements and centralisation of key budget headings. The 
updated position is outlined in the table below in the ‘Adjusted Budget’ column.

1.3 The forecast outturn for 31 March 2018 as at quarter 2 shows projections of a £497K 
variance at ‘net cost of services’. This is a movement of £185K when compared to 
quarter 1 which was presented to Cabinet on 7 September 2017.  Whilst there is an 
increase in the forecast net cost of service when compared to quarter 1, the use of 
reserves together with additional forecast savings has resulted in the overall variance 
to the budget requirement reducing by £15K from £333K to £318K.

The information is summarised by priority area in Table A below. 

Budget Area
Annual
Budget

£’000

Adjusted
Budget*

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Forecast 
Variance

£’000
Growth 451 161 426 265
Environment 6,807 7,408 7,279 (129)
Culture 3,141 3,227 3,229 2
Housing 1,103 1,059 1,058 (1)
Corporate 4,454 4,862 5,222 360
Net Cost of Services 15,956 16,717 17,214 497
Reserves & Grants (256) (1,017) (1,144) (127)
Interest Payable & 
Receivable (148) (148) (200) (52)

Capital Charges (3,539) (3,539) (3,539) 0
Revenue Contribution to 
Capital 385 385 385 0

Allocation of Parish 
Grants 43 43 43 0

Budget Requirement 12,441 12,441 12,759 318
*Adjusted budget will be amended throughout the course of the financial year due to the centralisation of budgets and budget 
virements.

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is asked to review the commentary contained in the report in respect of quarter 2 
forecast position.

Pg 66



3

1.4 The main areas that are impacting on the forecast variance position are outlined in 
Table B below. 

TABLE B – GENERAL FUND MATERIAL 
VARIANCE ANALYSIS

Forecast 
Variance 
£'000

Priority

Growth

Growth

Culture

Corporate

Corporate

Budget Pressures

Property Investment Strategy – a pro rata amount 
of rental income has been included in the forecast 
in anticipation of the completion of the purchase 
of a commercial property which is currently 
ongoing.

Car Parks – A temporary contract change in 
enforcement arrangements and supervisory costs 
has resulted in a continued over spend. 
Alternative provision is being considered.  

Leisure Centres – Additional in year repairs to the  
water flume at Bourne Leisure Centre and water 
filters at Deepings Leisure Centre has resulted in 
a forecast over spend of £41K.

Democratic Representation – The restructuring of 
the democratic arrangements is resulting in a 
forecast overspend of £24K

There are a small number of miscellaneous 
growth pressures which are not budgeted during 
the year and a proportion of this is being offset by 
employee vacancies with respect to vacant 
positions in service areas. These have been 
forecast as at the end of Quarter 2 at (£96K). This 
is against the annual workforce efficiency target of 
(£361K). This will be reviewed at Quarter 3. 

240

38

41

24

62

Priority

Environment

Environment

Priority

Growth

Environment

Savings & Efficiencies

Footpath Lighting – Following a revised 
maintenance scheme in previous years, there is a 
forecast under spend of £15K. This has also been 
reflected in future year’s budgets.

Flood Prevention – Reduction in costs of works 
required due to riparian owners funding these.

Additional Income

Other Income – External support is being 
provided to other local authorities for conservation 
which is forecast to achieve additional income of 
(£17K).

Green Waste Collection –Additional income is 

(15)

(43)

(17)

(37)

Pg 67



4

Culture

being forecast, with 27,200 households renewing 
their subscription and 1,030 new households 
joining the service.  

Arts Centres – Additional income has been 
received in year from advertising sponsorship 
funding (£8K), an additional Arts Council grant 
award (£10K) and an extension of hospitality 
services (£20K) 

(38)

1.5       Further detail on the General Fund significant income streams can be found in Table C 
below.

Significant Income Stream
Annual
Budget

£’000

Forecast
Outturn

£’000

Forecast
Variance

£’000
Land Charges (234) (234) 0

Development Management (922) (997) (75)*

Guildhall Arts Centre (285) (302) (17)

Stamford Arts Centre (753) (773) (20)

Bourne Market (18) (18) 0

Grantham Market (65) (56) 9

Stamford Market (168) (168) 0

Grantham Car Parks (524) (514) 10

Stamford Car Parks (758) (770) (12)

Investment Property Income (300) (60) 240

Licensing (287) (287) 0

Green Waste Collection (930) (967) (37)

TOTAL (5,244) (5,146) 98
*Designer Outlet Village application receipt and Garden Village grant funding which 
will be used to fund specialist consultancy in respect of the application.

Housing Revenue Account Budget

1.6 The original budget for 2017/18 was set at a surplus for the year of £7.606M. The 
budget is adjusted in year to allow for budget virements, creation of set-asides and 
centralisation of key budget headings. The updated position is outlined in the table 
below in the ‘Adjusted Budget’ column.

1.7 The forecast outturn for 31 March 2018 as at quarter 2 shows projections of a £112K 
variance. The information is summarised in Table D below. 

Pg 68



5

Description
Annual
Budget
£’000

Adjusted
Budget
£’000

Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Forecast 
Variance

£’000
Income (25,794) (25,822) (25,782) 40
Expenditure 15,439 15,467 15,315 (152)

Interest Payable & 
Similar Charges 2,972 2,972 2,972 0

Interest & 
Investment Income (223) (223) (223) 0

Deficit/ (Surplus) (7,606) (7,606) (7,525) 112

1.8 The main factors impacting on the forecast variance position are outlined in Table E 
below. These areas represent the key headings and are not intended to balance to the 
overall YTD variance shown in Table D due to a number of small variances across 
service headings which are not materially significant and therefore not commented 
upon.

TABLE E – HRA VARIANCE ANALYSIS
Forecast
Variance

Income

There is an £80K forecast under recovery of rental income due to 
further estimated write-offs of £117K offset by a reduction in the 
voids rate which has generated additional income. 
The further roll out of Universal Credit across the district from 
October onwards may further impact on forecast collection for the 
remainder of the financial year.

A deed of variation on a former Right to Buy in the sum of (£28K) 
has been received and over recovery of service charges due to 
additional dwellings being utilised as homelessness 
accommodation.

80K

(40K)

Expenditure

In year vacancies has resulted in a forecast under spend of 
(£107K). This is against the annual workforce efficiency target of 
(£110K).

Following asbestos surveys, a reduced level of further works has 
been identified. (£45K).
 

(107K)

(45K)

Capital Programmes

1.9 The capital programmes include a number of significant projects for 2017/18. The 
original budget for General Fund Capital Programme was set at £14.694M and the 
HRA Investment Programme was set at £8.869M. These budgets have been adjusted 
in year for capital slippage brought forward and in year approved restated budgets.

Pg 69



6

1.10 The forecast outturn for 31 March 2018 as at quarter 2 shows projected variances of  
(£6.360M) variance on the General Fund Programme and (£689K) on the HRA 
Investment Programme. The information is summarised in Table F below. 

Programme
Annual
Budget
£’000

Adjusted
Budget*

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Forecast 
Variance

£’000

General Fund (GF) 14,694 15,630 9,270 (6,360)
HRA Investment 
(HRA) 8,869 8,991 8,302 (689)

Total 23,563 24,621 17,572 (7,049)

*Annual Budget has been adjusted for approved slippage from 2016-17 and is shown in the 
‘Adjusted Budget’ column

1.11 The main factors impacting on the YTD variance position are outlined in Table G 
below. 

TABLE G – CAPITAL - KEY FORECAST VARIANCE INFORMATION
Housing Description Forecast

Variance
£

Refurbishment & 
Improvement

Stock Acquisitions - There is a forecast 
under spend due to there being no buy 
backs or conversions as at quarter 2. This 
budget may be required to contribute 
towards additional spend on the new build  
programme

(554K)

HRA Vehicles There has been procurement savings on 
the cost of replacement DWO vehicles. (135K)

General Fund Description Forecast
Variance

£
Growth The St Peters Hill Development project 

has been re-profiled to reflect the 
proposed procurement and delivery plan. 
It is anticipated that most of the 
expenditure will be incurred during 
2018/19 and the budget will be re-
allocated accordingly.

There is forecast expenditure of £2.9M for 
a potential strategic commercial 
investment acquisition.

(4.08M)

(2.1M)

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 This report has been produced to brief Cabinet Members on the forecast outturn 
position at the end of quarter 2 against the 2017/18 budget for the General Fund 
Revenue Budget, the Housing Revenue Account Budget and the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account Capital Programmes.

Pg 70



7

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING etc.)

5.1 No impact analysis is required.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising as a result of this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 These are included in the report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 As part of good governance it is important members are kept updated in respect of the 
financial position of the Council expenditure during the course of the year. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

Pg 71



CABINET MEMBER DECISION
Decision:   

That approval is granted for a formal consultation to take place as 
required under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 for 
disposal of land by placing a notice in the local newspaper for two 
consecutive weeks. In the event that there are no objections 
received, approval is given for the grant of a new lease to Grantham 
Tennis Club Ltd of the former Arnoldfield Bowls Club, (The Site) 
shown shaded green on the plan attached to report (PD0065) for a 
period to commence as soon as practicably possible and expiring 
on the 19th April 2112. If there are any objections, these will be 
considered by the Deputy Leader prior to any approval or otherwise 
in relation to the proposed new lease.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval for formal consultation to take place as required under 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 for disposal of land by placing 
a notice in the local newspaper for two consecutive weeks. In the event that 
there are no objections received, to seek approval to the grant a new lease to 
Grantham Tennis Club Ltd for the former Arnoldfield Bowls Club

(2) Considerations/Evidence

In accordance with statutory procedure under Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 because the land is designated as statutory open 
space the Council will advertise The Site in the local newspaper for two 
consecutive weeks to ascertain whether there are any objections to the 
proposed transaction. 

Any objections received will then be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration and determination prior to any lease being granted. If no 
objections are received, the lease will be completed in accordance with the 
recommendation in this report

(3) Reasons for Decision:

The freehold of the site at Arnoldfield sports ground, Gonerby Road, 
Grantham is owned by the District Council and has a variety of leisure 
facilities located upon it. The former Arnoldfield bowls club situated on The 
Site has been unoccupied since the bowls club ceased to operate on the 6th 
June 2014. 

Pg 72



The Tennis Club has previously been granted a lease from the 20th April 2013 
for a term of 99 years for the existing tennis club site and has expressed an 
interest in the vacant bowls club premises on a lease term consistent with 
their current lease. This would enable The Tennis Club to proceed with a plan 
for developing their facilities to incorporate The Site for use as grass courts to 
Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) Standards.  

Since the agreement of The Tennis Clubs 99 year lease in April 2013 the club 
have doubled their membership to over one thousand two hundred members. 
The security the lease has given The Tennis Club has enabled them to invest 
and assist with the council’s objective to promote leisure in the local 
community and provide a wide range of events and initiatives for the area. 

Examples of some of these initiatives are coaching groups for all ages and 
abilities including a full disability programme, Active at 60’s, Feeling Good 
project, tennis leaders courses for teenagers, community schools 
programme. The Tennis Club are also investigating funding opportunities to 
develop park courts at Wyndham and potentially Dysart Park.

The plan attached to report PD0065 shows the land currently forming the 
vacant bowls club site which would be occupied under the proposed lease.

There have been no management issues arising from The Tennis Club’s 
existing lease.

The Tennis Club will be responsible for the maintenance and upkeep of The 
Site, including all utility costs associated with The Site and for the 
maintenance and upkeep of any irrigation and drainage system serving The 
Site.

The Tennis Club will be required to maintain the existing buildings on The 
Site or to arrange for their removal and termination of all utility services 
currently supplied to the satisfaction of the Council.

As part of its obligations the Club will erect a fence between points A & B as 
shown on the plan to an agreed specification.

The Council will continue to be responsible for the maintenance of the hedge 
surrounding the premises under the grounds maintenance contract currently 
in place, rather than segmenting the maintenance of sections of the existing 
footpaths and vegetation surrounding The Site that would remain the 
Council’s responsibility. 

The lease is proposed at an initial rental of £600pa with an upward only rent 
review on every 5th anniversary of the lease commencement date. This will 
bring a regular income into the Council’s general fund portfolio and bring the 
vacant site back into use.  

Pg 73



The Tennis Club will be required to use The Site solely for the purposes of 
lawn tennis courts.

Should approval not be granted, The Site will continue to remain vacant, and 
will result in a continuing loss of potential income whilst empty, further 
marketing costs and potential damage to the premise from vandalism.

In accordance with the provisions with Section 123 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the Council must advertise the intent to lease the land to the Tennis 
Club. Any objections would be referred to the Cabinet Member for 
consideration.

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke
Deputy Leader also Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning

Date of Decision: 13 November 2017

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 14 November 2017

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

22 November 2017 

Pg 74



CABINET MEMBER DECISION
Decision:   

That approval is granted for the expenditure of section 106 funds 
for the purposes of funding the provision and replacing of play 
equipment in the form of a skate park for the local residents of 
Deeping St. James. The funds totalling £38,493 will be subject to 
these terms:

1. The Skate Park will be managed by Deeping St James Parish 
council taking into account necessary insurances and 
maintenance costs.

2. The funds must be expended by July 2018 to ensure 
compliance with the Section 106.

3. Deeping St James Parish Council will retain full ownership of 
the new play area including all insurances, maintenance and 
future ongoing costs.

4. Payments to the Parish Council will be made retrospectively 
following the provision of paid invoices between the Parish and 
skate park contractor.

(1) Details of Decision

To seek approval to use section 106 funds for the use of public open space 
and/or play equipment in the vicinity of Deeping St. James.

(2) Considerations/Evidence

The land on which the skate park is located is in ownership of the Parish and 
future maintenance and insurances will be managed on behalf of the Deeping 
St James Parish Council. South Kesteven District Council will not be 
acquiring any additional assets which are subject to liabilities or insurances 
from this project.

The section 106 funds are time limited and these are subject to expiration in 
2018. All of the funds to be expended comply with the section 106 
agreements or have the agreement for expenditure from the developer. 

Pg 75



(3) Reasons for Decision:

The funds eligible for this project are collected from Section 106 contributions 
which designate that they are to be spent in the local vicinity of Deeping St 
James. The total amount available is £38,493.

The Parish has requested for the location specific section 106 funds to be 
directed to a skate park replacement project at Deeping St James. The skate 
park has been in operation since 2003 and has seen continued usage until 
now. Costs to keep the skate park in operation are expected to become 
prohibitively expensive and it has been acknowledged that a replacement is 
required following the end of the 10 year guarantee.

The Parish have undertaken an extensive public consultation exercise and 
mobilised sufficient resources to manage this project. Funds totalling £96,507 
have been matched to the project by Deeping St James Parish Council and 
partners. 

Their breakdown of funds are as follows:

Stakeholder Amounts Allocated
Deeping St James Parish Council Precept £50,000
WREN Funding £45,000
Lincolnshire County: Big Society Fund £750
Local Donations £757
SKDC S106 funds (subject to this approval) £38,493
Total: £135,000

A number of quotations have been received and the cost for replacing the 
skate park is £135,000 (excl. VAT). Deeping St James Parish Council has 
entered into contract with the skate park provider dated 29/03/2017 (see 
Gravity Tender signed 29.03.17).

Conflicts of Interest

(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded).

NONE

Dispensations

(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted).

NONE

Pg 76



Decision taken by:

Name: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 
Cabinet Member for Environment

Date of Decision: 14 November 2017

Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 15 November 2017 

Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups):

23 November 2017 

Pg 77



Decision Notice
CABINET
THURSDAY, 11 JANUARY 2018

This decision notice does not replace the minutes of 
meetings of the Cabinet.

CO104. *BUDGET REQUIREMENT AND INDICATIVE PROPOSALS 2018/19

Decision:

Subject to the following amendments:

 An amendment to Appendix C, Green Waste from ‘Annual 
collection charge (first bin) – paid by direct debit’ to ‘Annual 
collection charge (first bin) – paid by direct debit/online payments’ 
and to add a note stating that the same charge would apply for 
direct debit payments set up by customers walking into the office

 An amendment to the Capital Programme at Appendix D to include 
£150,000 for new car parking machines and to increase the budget 
allocation for delivering the Property Investment Strategy by £2M 
for 2018/19.

Cabinet agrees the indicative Budget proposals for 2018/19 in respect of:

 General Fund – Revenue and Capital
 Housing Revenue Account – Revenue and Capital

As detailed in report number CFM449 and approves consultation in 
respect of proposed Council Tax levels for 2018/19 for the period 15 
January to 28 January 2018 (inclusive).

Considerations/reasons for decision:

1. Report number CFM449 of the Cabinet Members for Finance and 
Communities covering:

 The funding position for the General Fund
 The draft General Fund budget requirement
 Fees and charges
 The Housing Revenue Account position
 The Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2020/21
 Reserves and balances

2. Details relating to the financial settlement and the Council’s successful 
submission of an efficiency plan to be part of the Government’s 4-year 

Pg 78

Appendix B



funding deal
3. Financial implications relating to business rate retention, which would be 

incorporated into the budget proposals presented to Cabinet on 8 
February 2018

4. Budget assumptions and estimates for 2018/19
5. Capacity and growth bids detailed in Appendix B to the report
6. Use of reserves, savings, efficiencies and income generation detailed in 

appendix A to the report
7. Comments and recommendations made during the Budget – Joint 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 10 January 2018

Other options considered:

Not applicable.

CO105. *LINCOLNSHIRE HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY

Decision:

That the Cabinet endorses the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-
2021 subject to:

1. A regular monitoring report being provided to each district on the 
delivery of the action plan and outcomes achieved

2. A review of the comparability of the data contained within the 
report being carried out by the District Housing Network

3. A further review of the countywide Homelessness Strategy is 
undertaken before the end of 2018 to take into account the impact 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Considerations/Reasons for Decision

1. Report number HSG132 of the Cabinet Member for Communities and 
the draft Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy and action plan appended 
to the report

2. Requirements for housing authorities to take a long term strategic 
approach to preventing and managing homelessness as set out in the 
Homelessness Act 2002

3. Engagement with stakeholders of the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy Group, elected members, the voluntary sector and service 
users

4. Housing summits arranged by SKDC as part of the development of the 
Council’s Housing Strategy

5. Number of homelessness applications and duty acceptances by South 
Kesteven District Council per quarter

6. Provisions within the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 that will replace 
the current general duty from April 2018

7. The joint meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing, Growth and Rural 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees

8. The equality impact analysis attached as appendix 3 to report number 

Pg 79



HSG132
9. Funding from Government via the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant

Other Options Considered

No other options have been considered, as production of a homelessness 
strategy is a statutory requirement.

CO106. FOOD WASTE COLLECTION TRIALS

Decision:

1. Cabinet supports the principle to pilot a food waste collection 
service for approximately 4,700 properties in the South Kesteven 
district over 12 months, funded by Lincolnshire County Council on 
behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

2. Authority to approve and implement the scheme on terms to be 
agreed with Lincolnshire County Council is delegated to the 
Cabinet Member for Environment

Considerations/Reasons for decision

1. Report number ENV674 of the Cabinet Member for Environment
2. The review of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2008 and 

progress made towards goals set out in that strategy
3. Changes to the volume of waste for landfill and residual waste including 

growing levels of rejected materials (often due to food waste)
4. A downward trend in the overall materials recycled across Lincolnshire
5. A study modelling the costs and benefits of a food waste collection 

service, the results of which were due shortly

Other options considered

Lincolnshire County Council has requested support from a waste collection 
authority to pilot a food waste collection service. There is an option not to give 
the support and allow another waste collection authority to provide the pilot 
service.

CO107. CAR PARK CHARGING POINTS FOR ELECTRIC VEHICLES

Decision:

1. Cabinet supports the principle to introduce electric vehicle 
charging points in appropriate Council-owned car parks across the 
district

2. That the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee work with 
the Cabinet Member for Environment to develop a scheme for 
delivery of charging points

Pg 80



3. Delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and the Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor 
Economy to approve and implement the final scheme for delivery of 
charging points

Considerations/Reasons for decision:

1. Report number ENV675 of the Cabinet Member for Environment
2. Government commitments to improve air quality and meet emission 

targets
3. The proposal would support measures in the Air Quality Action Plan to 

improve conditions in the Grantham Air Quality Management Area 
4. Currently the limited publicly accessible electric vehicle charging points 

does not incentivise use of electric vehicle ownership
5. Using the Council’s own off-street car parking would provide an 

opportunity to easily and quickly install a suitable network
6. Installation of charging points in each of the major towns would support 

the visitor economy
7. Government grant funding is available to support electric vehicle 

charging points through a number of different schemes
8. Indicative fast charge unit costings as set out in appendix A to the report
9. Sales of electric plug-in cars started to increase from 2014

Other options considered:

Any future final scheme would need to carefully consider the funding 
arrangements, such as the availability of grant support and the potential for 
third party provision

CO108. PROPOSED CHANGES TO CAR PARK TARIFFS - WELHAM 
STREET GRANTHAM

The Leader announced that during consultation on proposed changes to the 
car parking tariff for Welham Street car park in Grantham, there had been a 
significant amount of feedback opposing the proposals. As a result of which he 
stated that the proposal had been withdrawn and the existing tariffs would 
continue. 

CO109. HOUSING DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Decision:

1. Cabinet approves the 10 potential development sites detailed in 
report number RIM402 for further evaluation and inclusion in the 
Phase 3 – Housing Development Programme

2. That the potential benefits of delivering all of the development 
programme in partnership with Gravitas Ltd (a company wholly 
owned by South Kesteven District Council) be considered as part 

Pg 81



of the procurement options

3. Cabinet approves the adoption of a more agile approach to funding 
the development of housing (including essential site acquisition) 
by the creation of a development reserve with the ability to fund 
changes to the programme over time as part of the budget 
development process for 2018/19

Considerations/Reasons for decision:

1. Report number RIM402 of the Cabinet Member for Communities
2. A pipeline of potential new schemes utilising Council-owned land was 

compiled for the Homes and Communities Agency equity funding under 
the Starter Homes (Unlocking Land Fund) and feasibility work carried out 
on each of those sites

3. Recent advice from the Home and Communities Agency that the 
programme was unlikely to go ahead and alternative means of delivery 
were consequently required

4. Details of a shortlist of 10 sites, their current uses and proposed tenure
5. Data held by the Council on housing need in the areas of the district 

where the 10 shortlisted sites were located
6. Programme outcomes included addressing demand for new homes for 

sale, increasing revenue income for the Housing Revenue Account and 
General Fund, generating new homes bonus, increasing council tax 
income and generating a commercial return from sales for the Council 
through Gravitas

7. Greater opportunities for flexibility in procurement provided by using 
Gravitas as the delivery mechanism

Other options considered

1. Sale of land to a developer

The sale of these sites for development outside of the Council’s control 
would not provide any degree of certainty around the speed at which 
they are brought forward

2. Disposal of land to a Registered Provider

Registered Providers may be interested in acquiring some of the sites. 
However, this would not mitigate losses arising from Right to Buy sales 
and would not provide any certainty as to the timescale for development 
at these locations. Nomination rights would need to be secured with the 
Registered Provider to enable people in priority need to benefit from 
these developments.

Date decisions effective:

Decisions CO105, CO106, CO107 and CO109 as made on Thursday 11 January 
2018 can be implemented on Monday 22 January 2018 unless subject to call-in by 

Pg 82



the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five members 
of the Council from any political group. CO104, which forms part of the Council’s 
budget proposals, will be considered at the meeting of Cabinet on 8 February 2018 
for final presentation to Council on 1 March 2018.

Pg 83



CABINET

Report of 
Cabinet Member for Finance

Cabinet Member for Communities

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

CABINET

11TH JANUARY 2018

BUDGET PROPOSALS 2018/19 (CFM449)

Decision
Proposal:

 Budget Framework Proposal

Relevant Cabinet 
Member: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 

Councillor Nick Neilson Cabinet Member for Communities 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Finance
Tel: 01476 406210
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 19th December 2017

Gillian Goddard, Senior Financial Accountant
Tel: 01476 406288
Email: g.goddard@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 19th December 2017 

Debbie Mogg, Interim Director of Resources
Tel: 01476 406301
Email: debbie.mogg@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 19th December 2017 

Councillor Adam Stokes 
20th December 2017

Councillor Nick Neilson
22nd December 2017

Pg 84

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:g.goddard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.mogg@southkesteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet:

The Budget estimates for 2018/19, revenue and capital, for both the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account and provide the details that have been included in the budget 
proposals.

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is asked to consider the budget proposals for 2018/19 in respect of:

 General Fund – Revenue and Capital
 Housing Revenue Account – Revenue and Capital

as detailed in the report and to approve consultation in respect of proposed Council Tax levels 
for 2018/19 for the period 15th January – 28th January (inclusive).

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Council is required to set a balanced budget and agree the level of Council Tax for 
2018/19 and this report contains a summary of the proposals that have been considered for 
inclusion.  The budget setting process commenced in August 2017, and the proposals have 
been formulated by the Cabinet, working closely with officers, through a number of budget 
workshops.   The objective of this process was to realign resources and spending plans to 
ensure the key priorities and aspirations of the Council can be delivered.  This has resulted 
in proposed investment of £2.920M in 2018/19 in areas such as the Big Clean, Invest SK 
and several initiatives to transform the way the Council operates.

This report covers a number of areas:

 The funding position for the General Fund (section 2)
 The draft general fund budget requirement (section 3)
 Fees and Charges (section 4)
 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) position (section 5)
 The Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2020/21 (section 6)
 Reserves and Balances (section 7)

1.2 The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee are meeting on 10th January 2018 to consider 
the draft proposals, as set out in this report.  A summary of the key points from the scrutiny 
debate, along with any changes that were requested will be presented to the Cabinet 
meeting on the day.

2. THE FUNDING POSITION FOR THE GENERAL FUND

2.1 Provisional Finance Settlement 2018/19 

The Council remains within the Government’s four year funding deal after it had 
successfully submitted an Efficiency Plan.  The Plan provides details of how the Council is 
meeting the financial challenges and delivering its priorities against a backdrop of reducing 
reliance on Government grant.  The four year deal covers the period 2016/17 to 2019/20 

Pg 85



and allows the Council to consider annual Council Tax increases of £5 per annum for the 
period of the Plan.  In the 2018/19 technical consultation, DCLG confirmed that the figures 
quoted in the four year deal had not changed (the offer was subject to an annual refresh in 
the event of exceptional circumstances).  

2.2 Whilst indicative baseline funding has been set by Government, the Council will not be able 
to determine the overall allocation of funding resources until it has undertaken a forecast of 
the projected retained element of business rates for 2018/19.  Business rates are the main 
component of the annual funding following the withdrawal of revenue support grant but are 
also the most volatile given that the composition and calculation of business rates are 
outside the remit of the Council.

2.3 The Council will be able to more accurately assess the indicative resources it will derive 
from business rates once it has submitted the statutory annual Government return which is 
undertaken towards the latter part of January 2018.  The financial implications of this will be 
incorporated into the budget proposals presented to Cabinet on 8th February 2018. 

2.4 Based on indicative information Table 1 below details an assessment of the Council’s 
spending power for the current financial year and indicative for the next 4 years. 

Table 1
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

 £m £m £m £m £m
 
Business Rates* 3.7 4.2          4.5          3.9          4.0 

 
Revenue Support Grant 1.0 0.5

     
  -   

        
(0.1)

        
(0.2)

 
New Homes Bonus 3.2 2.2

          
2.0 

          
1.9 

          
1.7 

 
Other Core Spending Power Grants 0.2 0.2

          
0.2 

          
0.2 

          
0.2 

Council Tax 6.9 7.2
          

7.5 
          

7.8 
          

8.1 
 

 Total Resources         
15.0 

        
14.3 

        
14.2 

        
13.7 

        
13.8 

Annual % change -4.7% 0.1% -3.5% 0.7%

*The model assumes a full reset by Government in 2020/21 and includes forecast collection fund 
deficit

2.5 These projections assume a modest decline of resources over the period and demonstrate 
that there will not be a compensatory increase in business rates to offset the cessation of 
the revenue support grant in 2019/20 and therefore core funding will reduce in real terms.  It 
has been confirmed that the Council has been successful in its bid to be part of a 100% 
business rate retention pilot for Lincolnshire for 2018/19, and therefore the grants referred 
to above will be removed and absorbed into the overall funding arrangement.  The Council 
will therefore receive the same level of funding although the detail of the funding will 
change.

2.6 New Homes Bonus

The Government undertook a consultation as to the future of the New Homes Bonus (NHB) 
and has introduced a number of changes that will reduce the amount of potential funding 
the Council will receive in the future.  These are detailed as follows:

Pg 86



 A move from 6 to 5-year payments for both existing and future NHB allocations 
in 2017/18 and then to 4 years from 2018/19.    

 The introduction of a national baseline of 0.4%, for 2017/18, below which 
allocations will not be made.  The higher baseline of 0.4% further reduces the 
number of authorities receiving the NHB.    

 The government will also retain the option of making adjustments to the 
baseline in future years to reflect significant and unexpected housing growth.   
This suggests that, in the absence of scaling, the government will alter the 
baseline each year, to ensure that the national control totals are not exceeded 
(in terms of the payments required).  

2.7 The effect of these changes are shown in the table below;

Table 2

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 £M £M £M £M £M £M

Expired funding 0.0 0.0 1.3 2.7 3.3 4.0
2011/12 0.666 0.666     
2012/13 0.623 0.623     
2013/14 0.759 0.759 0.759    
2014/15 0.631 0.631 0.631    
2015/16 0.653 0.653 0.653 0.653   
2016/17 0.645 0.645 0.645 0.645  
2017/18 0.480 0.480 0.480 0.480
2018/19 0.480 0.480 0.480
2019/20 0.480 0.480
2020/21 0.480
Annual NHB grant 3.332 3.977 3.168 2.258 2.085 1.920

2.8 Currently the Council policy is to use NHB receipts to fund one-off projects (and any 
unplanned in-year revenue expenditure) rather than be used as core funding to support day 
to day revenue expenditure and has established a ‘local priorities’ reserve.  Going forward, 
this approach will require careful consideration given the direction of travel of future NHB 
receipts. 

3 GENERAL FUND BUDGET REQUIREMENT

 Draft Budget Requirement

3.1 The proposed draft budget requirement for 2018/19 is calculated based on the options 
available for Council tax setting:

Table 3

2018/19 options
£5 increase 
(3.36%) £153.62 
Band D

3% increase 
£153.07
 Band D

No increase 
£148.62 
Band D

Pg 87



2018/19 options
SFA (settlement 
funding 
assessment)

£5.2M £5.2M £5.2M

Council Tax level x 
46,519.3** (inc. 
SEA*)

£7.146M* £7.121M* £6.914M*

SKDC Total (inc. 
SEA)

£12.346M £12.321M £12.114M

£M difference to £5 
increase

(£0.025)M (£0.232M)

*SEA – Special expense area
** Council Tax base

The provisional local government finance settlement announced on 19th December 2017 
gave local authorities the option to raise Council Tax levels by a further 1% for 2018/19 
without the need for a local referendum.  This does not replace the previously agreed 
option of district councils being able to raise their element of Council tax by £5.  The 
financial implications of these options are shown above.
 

3.2 It is anticipated that the total funding available will change following the compilation of 
projected business rates revenue as the SFA figure shown above includes only baseline 
funding and not actual projected revenue.  Cabinet will be updated at their meeting on 8th 
February as part of their budget proposals for 2018/19.

Budget Estimates – 2018/19

3.3   The budget has been compiled to deliver the outcomes and aspirations of the Council.  
There are a number of budget assumptions that have been considered and incorporated 
into the budget estimates and these are listed below:

Table 4 – Budget Assumptions

Cost Heading Assumption (%) £’000 – 
Financial 

impact
Retail Price Index 3.0 200
National Business Rate 3.0 25
Utility Costs 3.0 21
Drainage Board Levies Ranging from 2 – 3.0 18
Fuel Costs 3.0 26
Pay Award and incorporation  of 
national living wage

2.0 447

Interest Rates Income 0.73 (250)
Apprenticeship levy 0.5 48
Workforce Efficiency Target 3.5 (490)

3.4 These are budget pressures that the Council annually anticipates and therefore the majority 
of them were previously built into the indicative 2018/19 budgets when these were set a 
year before.  However the provisional pay award and incorporation of the national living 
wage was not anticipated at the levels quoted above.   Therefore in order to incorporate this 
level of increase into the proposed base budgets it has been necessary to establish a 
savings target of £300K into the salary budgets.  This pressure on the salary budgets will 
continue in the medium term as the increases in the national living wage impacts on the 
lower salary bandings of the Council pay scales.  It will be necessary to incorporate this 

Pg 88



new pressure into the Medium Term Financial Strategy in order to model the financial 
impact and how this can be incorporated into future spending proposals.

3.5 Treasury Investment Income - the financial forecasts in respect of investment income over 
the next three years have been modelled on the following anticipated levels of interest rates 
(provided by the investment advisors): 

Table 5 – Treasury Investment Financial Forecasts

Financial Year 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Base Rate 0.50% 0.75% 1.00%
Money Market 
Rate 

0.82% 0.98% 1.18%

Weighted average 
Money Market rate

0.73% 0.88% 1.05%

3.6 This information has been utilised to anticipate the potential levels of interest income the 
Council will receive for its investment of the reserve balances.  This income will be shared 
between the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  Forecast interest 
rates available to the Council are shown in the table above and expected to generate an 
income of £250K to the General Fund and £228K to the HRA.  However it should be noted 
that the forecast income can only be an estimate as it will be determined by the level of 
balances and the achievable interest rates over the financial year.

3.7 The overall General Fund position for 2018/19 is shown at table 6 below. The total service 
expenditure (net of direct income) for 2018/19 is estimated at £17.161M.  The 2018/19 
proposals no longer include a revenue contribution to the capital programme which will 
result in the equivalent amount being funded from capital reserves.  This will be reviewed 
on an annual basis and future years’ budget proposals may be able to consider the 
inclusion of revenue contributions subject to any available funding headroom.

 
Table 6 – Summary of General Fund Estimates - Indicative

Adjusted
 base

2017/18
£’000

Estimated 
base 

2018/19
£’000

Indicative 
base

 2019/20
£’000

Indicative 
base

2020/21
£’000

1 Growth (net) 161 1,055 204 13
2 Environment (net) 7,408 7,110 7,211 7,269
3 Culture (net) 3,227 3,696 3,776 3,854
4 Housing (net) 1,059 1,105 1,152 1,255
5 Corporate (net) 4,862 4,195 3,741 3,543
6 Net Service Costs 16,717 17,161 16,084 15,934
7 Investment Income (157) (250) (220) (200)
8 Minimum Revenue 

Provision
153 147 141 135

9 Depreciation (3,740) (2,752) (2,531) (2,850)
10 Revenue to capital 

contribution
385 0 0 0

11 Transfer from Reserves (917) (1,960) (999) (929)
12 Budget Requirement 12,441 12,346 12,475 12,090
13 Financed by:
14 Council Tax 6,854 7,146 7,490 7,754
15 Settlement Funding 5,587 5,200 4,985 4,336

Pg 89



3.8 Capacity and Growth Bids 

The budgetary proposals for 2018/19 include a number of new growth proposals that are 
designed to introduce capacity into key priority areas, some of which continue the 
investment that has already been approved by Council during the current financial year.  
The details of these are provided at Appendix A and summarised in the table below.   The 
increase in budget in respect of the changes to Members Allowances, as approved by 
Council (£110k) has also been incorporated into the budget.

Heading £000s

The Big Clean 430

Invest SK 800

Leisure and the Arts 350

Transformation, commercial and budget pressures 1,340

Total proposed investment 2018/19 2,920

 3.9 The growth proposals set out above are being funded through a significant number of new 
initiatives designed to deliver corresponding savings over the budget period.     These have 
been categorised under a number of theme headings and are summarised in the table 
below and provided in greater detail at Appendix B.  

3.10 A proportion of the reductions are predicated on the Council operating more commercially, 
such as the operation of a commercial waste service.  Operating in a commercial 
environment brings a degree of risk of achieving the budgeted savings due to external 
influences, some of which are outside of the control of the Council.  Robust governance and 
tracking arrangements will be put in place to monitor savings and identify mitigating actions 
where necessary to ensure the overall savings target is achieved.

3.11 The proposed investment does not include any cost implications of the re-modelling of the 
St Peter’s Hill council offices which will be subject a separate report to Cabinet on 8th 
February 2018.  The financial implications of the proposal will be incorporated into the 
budget proposals that are presented to the February meeting.

Use of Reserves, Savings, Efficiencies & Income Generation

Area £000s

Use of reserves
Invest to save reserve to fund transformation team, use of local priorities 
reserve to part fund Big Clean, festivals and community fund.  Use of 
pension reserve to contribute towards employer contributions

(1,960)

Budget reductions, savings and efficiencies
Changes to staffing terms and conditions, increase of vacancy factor to 
3.5%, staffing changes in some areas, budget reductions in use of 
consultants, agency staff and subscriptions 
Savings and efficiencies
service transformation, shared services, corporate procurement

(1,383)

Pg 90



Fees and charges and income generation
Planning fees, green waste collection, car parking incl. season tickets, 
increase number of market stalls
New income generation
Web advertising, sharing expertise, commercial waste, Council company, 
sharing of ICT platforms, St Peter’s Hill development

(1,111)

Total for 2018/19 (4,454)

4. FEES AND CHARGES

4.1 The draft fees and charges proposals for 2018/19, which are set out in Appendix C, have 
been compiled and are discussed below in more detail.

4.2 The Council provides a wide range of services for which it is able to make a charge – either 
under statutory powers (set by the Government) or discretionary (set by the Council). 
Further definitions of the two main categories of charge are detailed below:

Statutory Charges – the majority of charges are set nationally and local authorities have 
little or no opportunity to control them. The income received from these charges is 
important as it contributes to the overall financial position of the Authority.  However, 
income cannot be assumed to increase in line with other fees and charges set by the 
Council. Also included under this heading are a few areas where the service is statutory or 
established by local by-law but the charges have a discretionary element.

Discretionary Charges – By definition, these are for discretionary services where local 
authorities can make their own decisions on setting the level of charges. Accordingly, when 
setting these fees and charges, the Council’s approach should be clear and in line with the 
principle established in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) - “Fees and 
charges should be reviewed annually and any changes should have regard to the 
priority outcomes.”

 
4.3 The annual review of fees and charges (particularly in discretionary areas) is a fundamental 

element of the Council’s approach to delivering its MTFS and Corporate Plan. The Council 
is developing strong commercial values and together with comprehensive market 
knowledge this has informed the review of fees and charges. The fees and charge 
proposals for 2018/19 include a number of new discretionary charges that emphasise this 
new approach and will introduce new income streams.  These include:

 Commercial waste services to businesses in the district
 Commercial advertising and sponsorship
 Selling expert advice services

These have been included in the draft budget proposals, as set out above in Section 3.

Current Proposals for 2018/19 

Planning Fees (Statutory)

4.4 A recent initiative allows the Council to take advantage of a 20% increase in the nationally 
set planning fees if it leads to better services, improved performance and creates greater 
capacity to deliver the Government’s aspirations for housing growth. To achieve this, it will 

Pg 91



be important to invest a significant proportion of the additional income in the planning 
service to support the local economy and especially local house builders. The increase was 
scheduled to come into effect on 1st July 2017 but at the time of compiling the report no 
specific announcements have been made and therefore the appended fees and charges 
remain at the current levels. Based on a full year impact, initial estimates indicate that the 
20% uplift could equate to a circa £176k pa increase in gross income from planning 
application fees.

Car Parking (Discretionary)

4.5 The current tariffs have remained unchanged since 2010 and usage since that time has 
remained relatively stable whilst operating costs have increased particularly maintenance, 
business rates and enforcement. It is recognised that town centre parking is a major 
component of the economic viability of each town and that tariffs should be used as a traffic 
management tool to control and influence parking behaviour and patterns.  

4.6 At the time of compiling the report a range of tariff proposals are being compiled and these 
will be presented to Cabinet at the meeting for its consideration.  The proposals will exclude 
proposed changes to the Welham Street Grantham car park as these are being considered 
separately by Cabinet details can be found at:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3500&Ver=4

Green Waste & Domestic Waste (Discretionary)

4.7 It is proposed to increase the fee per bin for collecting and disposing of green waste from 
£30 to £32 for residents who pay online or by direct debit and from £33 to £35 for those 
who pay in person or by telephone. This is estimated to generate an additional £30k income 
compared to the indicative budget for 2018/19 and will be used to contribute towards the 
operational costs of delivering the service. Going forward, it is proposed that marketing will 
be targeted towards sales of second bins in order to generate renewed interest in this 
aspect of the service offer.

Markets (Discretionary)

4.8 The weekly markets are widely regarded as a key element of the attractiveness and 
economic viability of each of our market towns and attract visitors from outside the district. 
In recent years, the economic performance of the markets has declined resulting in a 
number of initiatives to stimulate and promote them.  These include themes such as 
farmers markets, French markets and an annual beach theme at Grantham during a 
weekend in the summer. Traditionally, stall lettings charges have been increased with 
inflation to keep pace with annual cost increases for hosting them but evidence suggests 
that annual increases in fees may actually be harming the viability of the markets rather 
than increasing annual revenue. There is a range of tariffs and charges in place at each 
market town. This reflects the popularity, viability and therefore the level of subsidy for each 
market.

4.9 In view of the above, it is proposed that the fees and charges for 2018/19 remain at current 
levels. Going forward, a number of initiatives are being considered to increase capacity and 
stimulate performance of the markets.

Proposed New Fees and Charges 

4.10 The following new fees and charges will be introduced from April 2018:

 Environmental Health – Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (Re-inspection/Re-visit). 
(Appendix C page 123)

Pg 92

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3500&Ver=4


 Environmental Health – Sampling of Private Water Supplies Taken During 
Monitoring of Group A and B Parameters (Appendix C page 124)

 Environmental Health - Private Sector Housing Civil Penalties. 

4.11 The proposal to introduce a trade waste collection service is detailed in Cabinet Report 
ENV671 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3501&Ver=4
The service will be operating in direct competition with other providers and therefore in 
order to compete on the same terms our prices need to remain commercially confidential. 
For this reason, they will not form part of the annual scale of charges publication process.

Other Discretionary Fees & Charges

4.12 It is proposed that, where appropriate all discretionary fees and charges be increased in 
April 2018 by inflation (3.0%). However, it is recognised that there may be some exclusions 
– see narrative below.

Bus Station Departure Charges

4.13 The Council provides three differing bus stations in the towns of Grantham, Stamford and 
Bourne and has in the past sought to recover the operational costs of each station from the 
departure charges that are levied on the bus operators that use them. In order to maintain a 
balance between bus operators contributing towards the running costs of the facilities and 
the subsidy level it is proposed no increase for 2018/19.

Arts Centres & Corn Exchange

4.14 The arts venues at Grantham and Stamford offer a wide and diverse range of activities and 
attract several sources of income ranging from performance ticket sales through to venue 
hire. The published fees relate to predominantly hire charges that are aimed at 
conferences, weddings and commercial hire. In order to ensure that the offer remains 
competitive, the published fees are provided as guidance and specific quotes are available 
depending on hiring requirements.  This discretion is detailed on the appropriate fees page 
of the budget book. 

Cycle Centre- Grantham

4.15 No increase is proposed as an alternative charging structure will require consideration 
following the introduction of a new offer as part of the wider St Peter’s Hill Development.

Building Control

4.16 No increase in fees and charges is proposed for 2018/19 but one additional charge will be 
introduced relating to “forming a single structural opening”.

Neighbourhoods

4.17 A number of issues have been raised in relation to fly tipping and the published fixed 
penalty notices based on DEFRA guidance. As a result, the charges for fixed penalty 
notices after discount for payment in 10 days have been removed. In order to deter people 
from fly tipping and influence behaviour, the fixed penalty charge has been increased from 
£200 to £400.

Pg 93

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3501&Ver=4


MOT Testing

4.18 No increase is proposed on MOT testing based on the Vehicle and Operator Standards 
Agency (VOSA) recommended fees.

Statutory Fees and Charges

4.19 As mentioned above, the charges for the majority of statutory services are set nationally 
and local authorities have little or no influence over them as this is done by Central 
Government. In a few cases, where the Council has some discretion over the charge set, 
the fee has been increased by inflation (3%), e.g. premises/personal registration for 
acupuncture and the licensing of premises for bingo, etc.

4.20 Table 7 below provides a list of mainly statutory charges levied by the Council.  Further 
details of the charges can be found in Appendix C. 

Table 7 – Statutory Charges

Business Area
Charging 
Category Priorities

Current 
Charging 
Principle

App. C 
Page 

Number
Environmental 
Health Local by-law Environment Full cost 

recovery 123

Environmental 
Health

Statutory 
function with 
discretionary 

charge

Environment Full cost 
recovery 123,124

Environmental 
Health Statutory Environment N/a 123,124

Gambling 
Licensing – 
permits

Statutory Environment Full cost 
recovery 132

Gambling 
Licensing – 
premise licences

Statutory 
function with 
discretionary 

charge

Environment Full cost 
recovery 131

Air Pollution Statutory Environment N/a 125-126

Planning 
Applications Statutory Housing Subsidy/Partial 

Cost Recovery 137-139

Liquor Licensing Statutory Environment Full cost 
recovery 128-130

5. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

5.1 The draft proposals for the HRA enable key areas of activity to be carried out including:

 Letting homes , managing  and supporting tenancies
 Engaging and involving tenants in service delivery
 Continuing investment in the housing stock 
 Providing a timely and effective responsive repairs service

Pg 94



 Continuing to  improve  the energy efficiency of the stock and attracting  external 
funding

 Ongoing investment in improving access to sheltered schemes and   communal areas 
of accommodation

 Acquisition and development of additional homes within the HRA

5.2 As part of the budget formation there are a number of additional items of expenditure and 
these are detailed as;

 The post of Assistant Director of Housing has been created  to support the delivery of 
the ambitions in relation to housing growth and development and to provide support for 
developing the HRA business plan. 

 The national pay award of 2%  and implementation of the national living wage has 
been included in the proposals resulting in additional salary costs of £67K. 

 An increase in the HRA proportionate share of central support and democratic costs of 
£90K.

 Social housing is now discounted to 42% of the vacant possession value rather than 
34% in previous years. This increased valuation has resulted in an increase in capital 
charges of £476K.  This increased capital charge is later removed and therefore has no 
overall effect on HRA balances. 

 Grass cutting and responsive grounds maintenance costs have risen by £15K. 

5.3 The Housing Revenue Account has continued its track record of delivering savings and 
efficiencies whilst ensuring that resources are allocated to front line services and delivering 
strategic outcomes.  Further savings have been identified as part of the 2018/19 budget 
setting in addition to the £264K savings brought forward from previous years. These are 
shown below:

           Table 8 – Savings & Efficiencies

Heading Details £000
Property 
Improvements

Reduced demand for surveys and asbestos removal on 
future contracts 70

Responsive Repairs Replacement of communal doors financed by the capital 
programme budget 40

Responsive Repairs Reduction in overtime costs due to increased efficiency 11
Responsive Repairs Reduction in standby payments due to increased efficiency 24

Responsive Repairs Reduction in agency staff costs due to the DWO being fully 
staffed 16

Housing management The contract with external mortgage provider will terminate 
from 1/4/18 8

Sheltered Housing A reduction in utility costs identified as part of zero based 
budgeting 25

Total  194

Pg 95



Housing Revenue Account 2018/2019 – Rent Proposals

5.4 The main element of policy relating to the HRA for 2018/19 is the setting of rents. The 
Council’s policy prior to the Chancellor’s announcements in the summer 2015 was to keep 
in line with the Government’s guidance on rent restructuring seeing annual increases of 
CPI+1% following rent convergence being achieved.  Government has required all social 
landlords to reduce their rents by 1% every year starting in 2016/17 for four years rather 
than previous policy of CPI +1%.  Based on an assumed level of CPI this will result in 
approximately £10M less rental income than previously anticipated. 

5.5 This decrease in rent will see the annual rental income reducing from £24.825M in 2017/18 
to £24.439M in 2018/19.  For 2018/19 the average weekly rental decrease for individual 
property will be £0.78.  The average rent in 2018/19 will be £78.43 with a minimum of 
£52.00 and a maximum of £113.94.  Garage rents are proposed to increase in line with 
inflation (3%) and service charges are proposed to increase in accordance with the fees 
and charges shown at Appendix C.  Further analysis of rent details are provided below:

Rent Summary –1% rent reduction

Table 9

Average rent Per Week (£) £78.43
Average decrease Per Week (£) £0.78
Average decrease Per Week (%) 1%

Impact – 1% decrease

Table 10

Bedrooms
 
 
 

% of
Dwelling

Stock
 

Average
Weekly

Rent
2017/18

Average
Weekly

Rent
2018/19

Average
Decrease

 
 

% Decrease
 
 
 

Bedsit 0.40% £55.74 £55.18 £0.56 1%
1 Bedroom 12.49% £68.21 £67.53 £0.68 1%
2 Bedrooms 41.81% £76.70 £75.93 £0.77 1%
3 Bedrooms 43.32% £84.59 £83.75 £0.84 1%
4 Bedrooms 1.98% £89.54 £88.65 £0.89 1%

Decreases For Individuals

Table 11

Bracket Number Of 
Properties % Of Properties

Under £0.66 219 3.61%
£0.66 - £0.85 4,510 74.40%
£0.86 - £1.05 1,329 21.92%
£1.06 - £1.25 4 0.07%
Total 6,062 100.00%

Pg 96



5.6 In addition to using the 1% rent reduction in setting the budget for rental income for future 
years further assumptions have been made.  Void rent assumptions will be budgeted at 
1.2% although during the current year this is closer to 1.0% thus gaining an additional £25k 
in collectable income.  Given the volatility of the void rate it is considered prudent to budget 
at 1.2% for 2018/19 rather than the current 1.0% that is being achieved.  Right to buy 
assumptions are set at 39 with the current year projected to be 52 sales. 

6.      CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 - 2020/21 

6.1 The capital programme has been formulated to reflect the  priorities of the Council by 
providing the resources to support the delivery of the Grantham cinema project, investment 
in the Council’s assets and continuing to invest in fleet to support key services including 
Street Scene.     

Priority Area 2018/19 
£M

2019/20
£M

2020/21
£M

Growth 9.835 0.130 -
Housing 0.922 0.125 0.125
Culture 0.672 0.095 0.050
Environment 0.835 0.911 0.875
Corporate 0.125 - -
Total 12.389 1.261 1.050
Financed By:
Capital Reserve
Capital Receipts
Grants
Revenue Financing

5.766
0.788
1.134
4.701

1.166
-
-
0.095

0.266
0.784
-
-

Total 12.389 1.261 1.050

6.2 Due to the reduction in government funding and reduced income from traditional treasury 
investments, there is a need to make better use of the Council’s available assets and 
consider additional investment options, predominantly property based in order to support the 
ambitions of the Council.  To underpin support for a capital programme that is both ambitious 
and responsive it is necessary to develop a supporting strategy that sets out the governance 
and affordability criteria to support capital investment decisions.  A Capital Investment 
Strategy will be presented to Cabinet in February 2018, along with the Treasury 
Management and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy,  as part of the overall budget 
proposals.  As a general principle where the expenditure is aligned to a commercial 
investment decision, the approach will be to undertake borrowing that will be met from the 
revenue income that will be received from the holding of the asset.  Therefore there will be 
no cost to the taxpayer as the borrowing costs will be wholly met.  This requirement will be a 
pre-requisite for commercial investment acquisitions going forward.

6.3 Proposals to invest for wider economic and re-generation purposes will be considered in 
terms of affordability as governed by the Council’s prudential indicators and specific criteria 
will be introduced as part of the proposed Capital Investment Strategy.  It is anticipated that 
there may be a period of time after acquisition before any direct revenue income is 
generated.  Therefore in the short term, borrowing costs during this period will need to be 
met from Council Tax increases or reserves as there is no available headroom in the 
revenue budgets to accommodate borrowing costs.

6.4 As an approximation based on current borrowing costs, for every £1M borrowed, there is a 
£60K annual revenue cost (over a 30 year period).  Given that Council tax levels are 
maximised in the short term to fund the delivery of services, it would  be necessary to utilise 
New Homes Bonus (NHB) receipts (via the local priorities reserve) to fund any borrowing 

Pg 97



costs in the short to medium term.  There are risks associated with solely relying on reserves 
as a means of funding such significant borrowing costs that require careful consideration 
particularly as the future of NHB is far from certain as an income stream over a 30 year 
period.  Therefore the Council should seek to create borrowing headroom within its net cost 
of services over the medium term in order to mitigate the risk identified.

6.5 As such, the business case of each proposal will need to be considered before it is approved 
for inclusion into the capital programme.

Housing Investment Programme (HIP) 

6.6 The formation of the capital programme for the period 2018/19 – 2020/21 is focussed on the 
continuation of the new build and stock acquisition programme and the objectives of the HRA 
Business Plan. This will continue to deliver investment into the housing stock through a 
range of programmes including kitchen and bathroom, re-roofing and external wall insulation.

6.7 In order to accelerate the ambitions of the HRA and to deliver a stepped increase in the new 
build programme, it is proposed to include in the programme a significant allocation of £15M 
capital expenditure over the period of the programme in order for the HRA to procure 
strategic sites across the district where there is an identified need for housing development.  
In order to finance this ambition, it is necessary to divert resources away from the loan 
repayment reserve which is budgeted to have a balance of £16.35M as at 31st March 2018.  
This proposal will therefore require the Council to re-finance the £25M maturity loan which is 
currently due for full repayment on 27th March 2020.

  
7. RESERVES AND BALANCES

7.1 Reserves are held for three main purposes:

 To ensure the Council has sufficient funds available to meet its cash flow 
requirements and avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of the 
working balance

 To protect services against unforeseen events that have a financial consequence and 
are not included in the budget framework – this forms part of the working balance

 A means of building up funds to meet known or predicted liabilities –these are known 
as earmarked reserves

7.2 Minimum level of reserves

The Council’s minimum reserves target is set at £1m, which represents 5.8% of net 
operating expenditure.   Presently the general fund working balance is above the minimum 
level at £1.588m, representing 9% of net operating expenditure.  It is proposed to retain the 
working balance at this higher level in order to underpin the structural budgetary changes 
that have been incorporated into the 2018/19 budgets.

7.3 Earmarked Reserves

Earmarked reserves are used as a means of building up funds to meet known or predicted 
liabilities. The balances held in Earmarked Reserves as at 1st April 2017 and estimated 
balances over the next three year period are shown at Appendix E.  The main forecast 
movements in 2018/19 are summarised below.

Pg 98



 Events and Festivals reserve has been utilised to contribute towards the festivals 
that will take place over the district. Over the period of the budget proposals the 
forecast spend is £310K.

 Community Fund reserve has been increased to fund the Cabinet proposals of 
continuing the community scheme (£150K) and member ward budgets scheme 
(£56K) for 2018/19 only.

 Local Priorities Reserve has been utilised to part fund the Big Clean costs (£200K) 
in readiness for the full year cost being mainstreamed into budgets from 2019/20.

 Invest to Save reserve has been utilised to fund for 1 year a transformation and 
innovation team to support the delivery of the agreed savings and to develop new 
initiatives for both commercial and efficient ways of working going forward.  It is 
proposed to replenish the balance of the reserve to £500K as a funding source for 
new ideas that generate legacy revenue streams.

 Both Grantham and Langtoft Special Expense reserves will be utilised over the 
period of the budget proposals.  In respect of Grantham this will be to support the 
expenditure costs of Wyndham Park improvement works and Langtoft reserve will 
be reduced over the next 3 years to contribute towards the operational costs of the 
SEA resulting in a reduced cost to those residents over the same period.
 

 At the time of compiling the report it is not yet confirmed the level of funds that will 
be required from the Business Rates and Council Tax volatility reserve to support 
any Collection Fund deficit as the calculation is required to be undertaken on a 
legislative prescribed date.  However in order to ensure there is no adverse impact 
on the Council tax payer any forecast deficits will be offset with a movement from 
this reserve in line with the policy.

7.4 In respect of the HRA, there are a number of specific reserves to assist in the delivery of 
the HRA Strategy and are used to fund both revenue and capital expenditure.  In addition 
the HRA has a specific working balance which provides financial support to the HRA should 
any significant unforeseen costs arise during the financial year.   The Major Repairs 
Reserve is the primary source of funding for the HRA capital programme and is proposed to 
be utilised to fund the investment in the housing stock over the next 5 years.  As previously 
referenced it is proposed to re-direct funds from the loan repayment reserve in order to 
provide financial support to an ambitious acquisition programme to support new build and 
stock growth.  Further detail of the HRA reserves can be found in Appendix E.

8. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 N/A

9. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 This are considered within the report.

10. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included in 
the table below:

Pg 99



Category Risk Action / Controls
Financial risks These are discussed in the report and 

mitigating actions are considered where 
necessary

11. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

11.1 N/A

12. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

12.1 None

13. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

13.1 These are considered throughout the report.

14. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

14.1 The recommendations relate to proposals for the budget which forms part of the budgetary 
and policy framework. Members must consult with the community on the proposals 
contained within this report as required in accordance with statutory regulation and 
constitutional requirements. 

15. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

15.1 None

16. APPENDICES

Appendix A – Savings summary – General Fund (GF)
Appendix B – Capacity Bids - GF
Appendix C – Fees & Charges – GF and Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
Appendix D – Capital & Reserves Statement – GF 
Appendix E – Capital & Reserves Statement – HRA

17. BACKGROUND PAPERS

17.1 None

Pg 100



Appendix A

1

Savings, Efficiencies, Income Generation and Reserve Movements

Savings and Efficiencies

Savings 
Business 
Area Description

2018/19 
£000

One off/ 
Recurring

Cabinet Member

Corporate
Reduction in staffing terms and 
conditions and agency staff 
expenditure 

138 Recurring Cllr Lee

Corporate Reduction in corporate costs 345 Recurring Cllr Lee

Corporate Reduction in corporate 
subscriptions 50 Recurring Cllr Lee

Corporate Increase of vacancy factor by 
0.5% 60 Recurring Cllr Lee

Service 
Reviews

Reduction of 2% controllable 
budgets across specific service 
areas

50 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Customer 
Services Reduction in costs  60 Recurring Cllr Cooke

ICT Reduction in costs  40 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Legal & 
Democratic

Reduction in costs  40 Recurring Cllr Cooke

ICT Reduction of costs relating to 
specific licence arrangements 20 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Communicati
ons

Communications reductions 
across supplies and services 42 Recurring Cllr Goral

Communicati
ons

Reduction in administrative 
costs 10 Recurring Cllr Goral

Planning Reduction in administrative 
costs 28 Recurring Cllr King

Corporate Reduction in consultancy 
expenditure 30 Recurring Cllr Stokes

Corporate
Reduction in costs of 
procurement of learning and 
development

70 Recurring Cllr Lee

Shared 
service 
opportunities

delivery of 3 specific shared 
service opportunities @ £50K 
each

150 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Procurement Reduction in utilities 
expenditure 50 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Procurement targeted reduction in corporate 
procurement spend 200 Recurring Cllr Stokes

TOTAL 1,383

Pg 101



Appendix A

2

Income Generation

Savings 
£’000

Business 
Area Description

2018/19

One off/ 
Recurring

Cabinet Member

Planning fee 
increase

20% increase in planning fees 
offset by corresponding 
increase in service costs

176 Recurring Cllr King

Green Waste 
collection 
charge

increase of green bin 
collection charge 40 Recurring Cllr Dr Moseley

Car Parking 
income

Ticket sales - Increased 
income by a combination of 
increasing tariff charges, 
season ticket increase and 
usage increase

250 Recurring Cllr Robins

Stamford 
markets

increase in market stalls to 
meet trader demand at 
specific locations

15 Recurring Cllr Robins

Commercial 
Advertising Advertising on web etc 10 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Local Lottery Potential income stream for 
year 1 20 Recurring Cllr Cooke

ICT sharing 
service

Support of sharing ICT 
platform with a neighbouring 
authority 

40 Recurring Cllr Cooke

Valuation 
advice

Recovery of annual cost of 
advice 15 Recurring Cllr King

Planning 
policy and 
heritage 
support

Sharing of expert advice to 
partners 18 Recurring Cllr King

Commercial 
Waste

based on an assessment of 
available market 175 Recurring Cllr Dr Moseley

Environmental 
health Various fee increases 6 Recurring Cllr Dr Moseley

In-house 
enforcement 
income

Based on an assumed level of 
enviro-crime and off-street 
enforcement

150 Recurring Cllr Dr Moseley

St Peters Hill 
development

Commercial letting of A3 and 
cinema (pro rata for year 1) 30 Recurring Cllr Mrs Smith

HRA Transfer of non-housing 
assets to General Fund 100 Recurring Cllr Neilson

Advertising 
Income 

Advertising 
income/sponsorship 36 Recurring Cllr Goral

Corporate Skills academy training                 
30 One-off Cllr Mrs Smith

TOTAL 1,111
Grand Total 2,494

Pg 102



Appendix A

3

Proposed use of reserves to fund revenue 

£’000
Revenue Reserve Funding:
Events and Festivals Festival Funding (160)
Community Fund Community Fund & Member Ward Budgets (206)
Apprenticeship Reserve Senior Learning & Development officer & 

development management apprentices
(65)

Growth Local Plan (120)
Local Priorities Reserve Big Clean (200)
Invest to Save Innovation Team & Transformation Team (332)
Building Control Forecast surplus 22
SEA reserve £50K contribution to Grantham SEA £1K from 

Langtoft
49

Pension Reserve Pension costs and deficit payments (797)
Revenue Grant Funding:
Homelessness Funding temporary accommodation worker (21)
New Burdens Grant Funding temp 1 year fixed Trainee Planning 

policy
(23)

Neighbourhood Planning Funding Neighbourhood Planning Officer 29
Individual Electoral 
Registration

Agency & postage (22)

Garden Village Garden Village grant funding (114)
TOTAL (1960)

Pg 103



Appendix B
SERVICE CAPACITY BIDS

Description
Impact
£000

2018/19
One off/ 

Recurring
Responsible

 Cabinet Member

Business as Usual    
Market signage 9 one off Cllr Robins
Civil Parking 
Enforcement 40 one off Cllr Robins

Local Plan 145 one off Cllr King
TOTAL 194

Transformational
Staffing    
Democratic Rep team 
staffing proposals 21 recurring Cllr Cooke

Junior Support ICT 
officer 14 recurring Cllr Cooke

ICT infrastructure 
support officer 33 recurring Cllr Cooke

IT service desk 
manager 32 recurring Cllr Cooke

IT Web Developer 37 recurring Cllr Cooke
Data Base 
Administrator 18 recurring Cllr Cooke

Data manager 16 recurring Cllr Cooke
Innovation team 97 recurring Cllr Cooke
Transformation team 120 recurring Cllr Cooke
Transformation team - 
business analysts 
salary increases 

20 recurring Cllr Cooke

Invest SK team 800 recurring Cllr Lee
Communications team 
re-alignment 26 recurring Cllr Goral

In-house Enforcement 
team 150 recurring Cllr Dr Moseley

Development 
management capacity 
building

176 recurring Cllr King

Other 
Annual Festivals 25 recurring Cllr Robins
GIS - Planning 18 recurring Cllr Cooke
Running costs of The 
Maltings 85 recurring for 2 

years only Cllr Cooke

Facilities Management 30 recurring Cllr Cooke
Big Clean 430 recurring Cllr Dr Moseley
Advertising 36 recurring Cllr Goral 
Commercial waste 
operating costs 162 recurring Cllr Dr Moseley

Health and well being 
development 30 recurring Cllr Smith

Leisure and heritage 
strategy 350 recurring Cllr Lee

TOTAL 2,726
GRAND TOTAL 2,920   

Pg 104



Pg 105



Pg 106



Pg 107



Pg 108



Pg 109



Pg 110



Pg 111



Pg 112



Pg 113



Pg 114



Pg 115



Pg 116



Pg 117



Pg 118



Pg 119



Pg 120



Pg 121



Pg 122



Pg 123



Pg 124



Pg 125



Pg 126



Pg 127



Pg 128



Pg 129



Pg 130



Pg 131



Pg 132



Pg 133



Pg 134



Pg 135



Pg 136



Pg 137



Pg 138



Pg 139



Pg 140



Pg 141



CAPITAL PROGRAMME

GENERAL FUND

Appendix D

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Description Estimate Slippage/ Forecast New IndicativeUpdated BaseSlippage Updated Indicative Indicative

Base Virements Outturn Bids Base Before Slippage Base Base Base
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Growth

Town Centre Development
1        St Peter's Hill Redevelopment 4,530 500 1,170 - 1,170 4,030 5,200 - -
2 Shop front scheme 130 130 130 130 130 - 130 130 -
3 Serviced Land - 81 81 - - - - - - -
4 Property Investment Strategy 5,000 3,100 - - - 1,900 1,900 - -
5 Purchase of Emergency Planning & Response Trailer 55 - 55 - 55
6 Local Authority Controlled Company 2,800 250 - - - 2,550 2,550 - -

12,460 81 4,061 1,355 130 1,355 8,480 9,835 130 -

Housing
-

7 Essential Home Grant Assistance (previously better homes) 274 50 75 150 75 - 75 75 75
8 Empty Homes Financial Assistance 50 - 50 - 50
9 Disabled Facilities Grant 734 415 797 - 797 - 797 50 50

1,008 - 465 922 150 922 - 922 125 125
-

Culture
10 Provision for Existing Assets
11 Grantham Council Offices - LV Panel - 25 - - - - - - - -
12 GAC Theatre Lighting - - 35 - 35 - 35 15 -
13 DLC Boilers - - 70 - 70 - 70 - -
14 Tourism Signage - - 50 - 50 - 50 50 50
15 Meres PA System - - 35 - 35 - 35 - -
16 Market Stall Covers - - 50 - 50 - 50 - -
17 Car Park Barriers 50 - 50 - 50 - -
18 Queen Elizabeth Park Grantham Car Park - - - - - - - 30 -
19 Wyndham Park Lighting - - 25 - 25 - 25 - -
20 Wyndham Park Improvement Works 358 120 - 119 119 238 357 - -

358 25 120 315 119 434 238 672 95 50

Environment
Waste Management

21        Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 180 145 260 311 525 311 - 311 313 13
22        Vehicle Replacement Programme 735 683 102 326 102 - 102 486 750
23        Pool Car Vehicles 124 - 123 128 123 124 247 - -
24        Big Clean Vehicles - 227 189 - - - -
25        Wheelie Bin Replacements 111 48 112 112 112 63 175 112 112

1,150 372 1,180 648 1,091 648 187 835 911 875

Corporate
26 Customer Access Strategy (telephony upgrade) - 8 8 - - - - - - -
27 Customer Relationship & Document Access Strategy - 50 50 - - - - - - -
28 Financial System Upgrade 50 - - - - 50 50 - -
29  Sandbox Firewall -network security 26 - 14 - 14 26 40 - -
30 Equillogic server based storage - 20 - 20 - 20 - -
31 Uninterruptible Power Supply Replacement - 15 - 15 - 15 - -
32  ICT  wifi Infrastructure - 42 42 - - - - - - -

76 100 100 49 - 49 76 125 - -
-
-
-

TOTAL GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 15,052 578 5,926 3,289 1,490 3,408 8,981 12,389 1,261 1,050

P
g 142



GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

SUMMARY FINANCING STATEMENT

Appendix D

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Description Forecast Estimate Indicative Indicative

Outturn Base Base Base

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
GENERAL FUND FINANCED BY:

Supported Borrowing

Unsupported Borrowing

Specfic Reserve - Capital 1,048 566 1,166 266

Specfic Reserve - St Peters Hill 500 5,200 - -

Useable Capital Receipts 66 788 - 784

Capital Grants and Contributions
     - Disabled Facility Grant 415 797 - -
     - Historic England 65 65
     - Heritage Lottery Funding 90 272

Direct Revenue Financing
     - Wyndham Park- SEA 15 70 30 -
     - S106 Monies 15 - - -
     - ICT reserve 42 76 - -
     - Shop Front Scheme 65 65 65 -
     - Local Priorities Reserve 3,539 4,450 - -
     - Contribution from revenue 66 40 -

TOTAL - GF CAPITAL PROGRAMME 5,926 12,389 1,261 1,050

Pg 143



Appendix D

Page 1

GENERAL FUND RESERVES STATEMENT AS AT 31st MARCH 2018 (FORECAST)
Projected Projected Projected Projected

Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance 
as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at 

31 March 2017 in year 31 March 2018 in year 31 March 2019 in year 31 March 2020 in year 31 March 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund

Discretionary Reserves
Stamford Arts Centre  52 0 52 0 52 0 52 0 52
Training and Development 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20
Events and Festivals 228 43 271 (135) 136 (100) 36 0 36
Apprenticeships 100 (22) 78 (65) 13 (13) 0 0 0
Broadband infrastructure 550 0 550 0 550 0 550 0 550
Waste & Recycling Initatives 156 (60) 96 0 96 0 96 0 96
Support for Corporate Reviews 53 (53) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Business Support 100 (100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
ICT investment 268 (62) 206 (76) 130 0 130 0 130
Transformation Programme 692 (692) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Economic Development & Growth 91 80 171 (120) 51 0 51 0 51
Tourism 40 (40) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Hardship & Welfare 50 (50) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Future Service Improvement Reserve 1,347 (187) 1,160 (47) 1,113 (49) 1,064 0 1,064
Community Fund 150 0 150 (150) 0 0 0 0 0
Local Priorities Reserve 13,737 (3,597) 10,141 (2,393) 7,748 2,083 9,831 1,682 11,513
Invest to Save 358 474 832 (332) 500 0 500 0 500

17,992 (4,266) 13,727 (3,318) 10,409 1,921 12,330 1,682 14,012
Governance Reserves

Insurance Reserve 350 0 350 0 350 0 350 0 350
Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 220 228 448 (70) 378 (71) 307 (8) 299
Pension - Current Employees 2,425 (101) 2,324 (727) 1,597 (847) 750 (750) 0
Business Rates and Council Tax volatility Reserve 1,729 (663) 1,066 214 1,280 (339) 941 0 941
Building Control (66) 6 (60) 22 (38) 31 (7) 41 34
SEA Reserve
Grantham 111 (47) 64 (31) 33 20 53 50 103
Stamford 75 10 85 0 85 0 85 0 85
Bourne 12 3 15 0 15 0 15 0 15
Deepings 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1
Langtoft 4 1 5 (1) 4 (1) 3 (1) 2

4,860 (562) 4,298 (593) 3,705 (1,207) 2,498 (668) 1,830

Government Grants Received 0
Homelessness 47 (26) 21 (21) 0 0 0 0 0
New Burdens Grant 111 0 111 -23 88 0 88 0 88
Neighbourhood Planning Grant 94 (31) 63 29 92 0 92 0 92
Individual Electoral Registration 84 (3) 81 (22) 59 (23) 36 0 36
DHP 7 0 7 0 7 0 7 0 7
Garden Village 214 0 214 (114) 100 0 100 0 100
Historic England 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64
Grantham Growth 69 0 69 0 69 0 69 0 69

690 (60) 630 (151) 479 (23) 456 0 456

Working Balance 1,798 (140) 1,658 (70) 1,588 (25) 1,563 (25) 1,538

Total Revenue Reserves 25,340 (5,028) 20,313 (4,132) 16,181 666 16,847 989 17,836

Capital Reserve
LAMS Reserve 266 38 304 26 330 0 330 0 330
General Fund Capital Reserve 2,008 (989) 1,019 434 1,453 (1,166) 287 (266) 21
St Peter's Hill Development 519 2,184 2,703 (2,703) 0 0 0 0 0
Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,924 749 3,673 (3,085) 588 100 688 (684) 4

Total Capital Reserves 5,717 1,982 7,699 (5,328) 2,371 (1,066) 1,305 (950) 355

Total General Fund Reserves 31,057 (3,046) 28,012 (9,460) 18,552 (400) 18,152 39 18,191

P
g 144



Appendix E

HRA Capital Programme

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Ref Description Estimate Slippage/ Forecast New Indicative Updated Base Slippage Updated Indicative Indicative

Base Virements Outturn Bids Base Before Slippage Base Base Base

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Energy Efficiency Initiatives:

1 Central Heating, Ventilation and boiler replacements 1,300 - 1,300 1,350 1,350 1,350 - 1,350 1,050 1,050
1,300 - 1,300 1,350 1,350 1,350 - 1,350 1,050 1,050

Refurbishment and Improvement:

2 New Build Properties 2,213 - 2,213 790 - 790 - 790 2,890 3,800
3 Property Development 1,554 - 1,000 4,446 1,600 4,446 554 5,000 5,000 5,000
4 Re-roofing 1,100 - 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100 - 1,100 1,100 1,100
5 Re-wiring 250 - 250 250 250 250 - 250 250 250
6 Kitchen & Bathroom Refurbishments 1,000 - 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 - 1,000 1,000 1,125
7 Replacement door programme 100 - 100 80 100 80 - 80 80 80
8 External Wall Insulation 1,000 - 1,000 - - - - - - -
9 Sewage Refurbishment 40 - 40 - 40 40 -
10 Communal Rooms 70 - 70 - 70 70 70

7,217 - 6,663 7,776 4,050 7,776 554 8,330 10,430 11,425

Purchase of Vehicles
11 Repairs Vehicles 352 122 339 324 112 324 - 324 292 87

352 122 339 324 112 324 - 324 292 87

TOTAL - HOUSING INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 8,869 122 8,302 9,450 5,512 9,450 554 10,004 11,772 12,562

P
g 145



Appendix E

HRA CAPITAL FINANCING STATEMENT

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Description Forecast Indicative Estimate Indicative Indicative

Outturn Base Base Base Base

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HRA FINANCED BY:

Major Repair Reserve 6,167 4,762 4,214 3,882 4,762
Property Development Reserve - - 5,000 5,000 5,000
HRA Capital Reserve 2,135 750 790 2,890 2,800

TOTAL - HRA CAPITAL PROGRAMME 8,302 5,512 10,004 11,772 12,562

2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Forecast Indicative Estimate Indicative Indicative
Outturn Base Base Base Base

Major Repairs Reserve
Opening Balance (1 April) £'000 8,875 5,232 9,229 11,547 14,295

     - Transfer to Reserve in Year (Depn) 6,521 6,532 6,532 6,630 6,802
     - Transfer from Reserve in Year (6,167) (4,762) (4,214) (3,882) (4,762)

Closing Balance (31 March) £'000 9,229 7,002 11,547 14,295 16,335

Specfic Reserve - HRA Capital

Opening Balance (1 April) £'000 2,853 2,244 2,244 2,821 1,299

- Receipts in Year - HRA (Council House Sales) 1,526 1,113 1,367 1,368 1,580
     - Receipts applied in year -HRA (2,135) (750) (790) (2,890) (2,800)

Closing Balance (31 March) £'000 2,244 2,607 2,821 1,299 79

Property Development Reserve

Opening Balance (1 April) £'000 0 0 0 10,000 5,000
     - Transfer from Reserve in Year 0 0 10,000 (5,000) (5,000)

Closing Balance (31 March) £'000 0 0 10,000 5,000 0

P
g 146



Appendix E

Page 2

HRA RESERVES STATEMENT AS AT 31st MARCH 2018 (FORECAST)

Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance 
as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at on Reserve as at 

31 March 2017 in year 31 March 2018 in year 31 March 2019 in year 31 March 2020 in year 31 March 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

Revenue Reserves
    Insurance Reserve 300 300 300 300 300
    Service Specific Funds (Pension) 879 (193) 686 (225) 461 (262) 199 (199) 0
    HRA Improvement Reserve 601 601 601 601 601
    Loan Repayment Reserve 14,000 2,350 16,350 (15,000) 1,350 0 1,350 0 1,350
    Property Development Reserve 0 0 10,000 10,000 (5,000) 5,000 (5,000) 0
    Working Balance 3,626 (1,513) 2,113 572 2,685 469 3,155 (321) 2,834

Total HRA Revenue Reserves 19,406 644 20,050 (4,653) 15,397 (4,793) 10,605 (5,520) 5,085

HRA Capital Reserve
    HRA Capital Receipts Reserve 2,853 (609) 2,244 577 2,821 (1,522) 1,299 (1,220) 79
    Major Repairs Reserve 8,875 354 9,229 2,318 11,547 2,748 14,295 2,040 16,335

Total HRA Capital Reserves 11,728 (255) 11,473 2,895 14,368 1,226 15,594 820 16,414

Total HRA Reserves 31,134 389 31,523 (1,758) 29,765 (3,567) 26,198 (4,700) 21,499

P
g 147



Cabinet 

Report of: Councillor Neilson
Cabinet Member for Communities 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet 

11 January 2018

Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy - HSG132

Decision
Proposal:

Key decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Communities 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication by:

Chris Foster 
Interim Business Manager Housing. 
c.foster@southkesteven.gov.uk, Tel: 01476 406251
Date: 20 December 2017

Steve Ingram
Strategic Director
s.ingram@southkesteven.gov.uk Tel: 01476 406007
Date: 20/12/2017

Tracey Blackwell 
Strategic Director
t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk, Tel: 01476 406058 
Date: 21  December 2017

Cllr Nick Neilson 
Cabinet Member Communities 
n.neilson@southkesteven.gov.uk   
Date: 22 December 2017

Pg 148

mailto:c.foster@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.ingram@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.neilson@southkesteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY
The Homelessness Act 2002 introduced a statutory requirement for local authorities to 
have either their own homelessness strategy or be part of a wider strategy which 
covered their area.  Since that time, South Kesteven has formed part of the countywide 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy forum with work being undertaken through the 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Group (LHSG). The LHSG comprises of the seven 
local authorities in Lincolnshire and other statutory and voluntary organisations. 
 
This report introduces the draft Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017–2021 (the 
Strategy) together with outlining the views of the joint meeting on the Communities & 
Wellbeing, Growth and Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committees who met on 21 
November 2017 after a summit on homelessness and seeks endorsement of the 
Strategy.

A copy of the draft Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy can be found at Appendix 1 
and the draft Delivery Plan at Appendix 2.

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that Cabinet endorse the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 
2017- 2021 subject to:

(i) A regular monitoring report being provided to each district on the delivery 
of the delivery plan and outcomes achieved;

(ii) A review of the comparability of the data contained within the report being 
carried out by the District Housing Network, and 

(iii) A further review of the county-wide Homelessness Strategy is undertaken 
before the end of 2018 to take into account the impact of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 requires housing authorities to take a long term 
strategic approach to preventing and managing homelessness. Councils are 
required to carry out regular reviews of the homelessness situation within their 
local authority areas, taking account of the activities and services available locally 
to prevent and tackle homelessness, together with relevant national policies, and 
to develop a strategy based on the findings. 

1.2 The proposed Strategy provides a framework which sets out how the seven 
Lincolnshire housing authorities, together with a range of partners, aim to prevent 
and tackle homelessness over the next five years.  This is the fourth joint 
homelessness strategy and whilst each district is managing very diverse housing 
and homelessness pressures they have committed to working to common goals to 
prevent homelessness across the county area. 

1.3 This draft strategy has been developed through engagement with stakeholders of 
the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Group, elected members, the voluntary 
sector and service users. Input from South Kesteven members has been taken 
from the two summits held earlier in the year as part of the development of the 
Council’s Housing Strategy.

Pg 149



1.4 Consideration of local sub-regional, regional plans and strategies alongside a 
series of engagement events and surveys were held to assist in the collation of 
data.

1.5 This Strategy has been developed at a time of considerable change in the housing 
sector. Legislative changes are likely to have significant implications for local 
authorities and our partners in tackling homelessness. 

 1.6 Over the next five years there are a number of stark challenges that are likely to 
impact heavily upon those who are vulnerable to experiencing homelessness, 
alongside those who work to prevent homelessness. These challenges include:

 Changes to government policy where careful management of the possible 
impacts are required, 

 A continuous demand on resources in the face of tightening budgetary 
pressures, 

 The effectiveness of partnership working - £1 billion is the estimated 
national annual cost of homelessness which includes: 

o Rising costs of A&E visits (research indicates that 4 out of 10 
experiencing homelessness have used A&E in the last 6 months), 

 Crime and disorder - 7 out of 10 homeless ex-offenders are re-convicted 
within one year and these issues have the potential to continually impact on 
preventing and tackling homelessness.

1.7 To successfully prevent homelessness going forward, agencies and partners 
      across Lincolnshire will need to prepare themselves to be able to help people who 

are vulnerable to homelessness and support them for the challenges that may lie 
ahead. 

1.8 All county districts are reporting increased statutory homelessness and a rise in 
rough sleeping, with similar trends being experienced on a national level. South 
Kesteven District Council’s figures are shown below and demonstrate a broadly 
similar number of homelessness applications each quarter  however a rising trend 
of duty acceptances since the mid-point in 2015/16. 

Pg 150



1.9 The reasons for homelessness are also changing, with the ending of an assured 
      shorthold tenancy becoming the main reason for homelessness across the county.
      
1.10 Preparations are underway for implementation of the new Homelessness  
      Reduction Act 2017 which replaces the current general duty from April 2018. 

A new duty is placed on Local Authorities in England to provide or secure the 
provision of free information and advice to any person in the district. Local 
authorities will be required to provide advisory services that can be tailored to 
meet the needs of particular groups who are at increased risk of homelessness. 
These are vulnerable groups such as; care leavers, prison leavers, armed forces, 
domestic abuse victims, hospital leavers and those suffering with a mental illness.

      
Implementation

1.11 The Strategy is supported by a delivery plan which sets out the short, medium 
and longer term activities to deliver an effective response to prevent and address 
homelessness for Lincolnshire. To ensure the strategy remains relevant and can 
respond to change, it is proposed that the delivery plan will be regularly monitored 
by the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Group and will be reviewed annually. 

Countywide Delivery Priorities

1.12 Five priority work streams have emerged from the development process.
These are:

 Developing and maintaining strategic relationships and partnerships;

 Preventing homelessness;

 Protecting the most vulnerable from experiencing homelessness including 
tackling rough sleeping;

 Ensuring access to the right type of housing solution; and

 Ensuring a sustainable future for supported housing.

South Kesteven Draft Housing Strategy 

1.13 Work on the Council’s refreshed strategy for housing is underway with public 
consultation of the draft working document having recently been carried out. There 
are a range of proposed outcomes currently contained in the draft Strategy that 
could help to address homelessness both in terms of causes and consequences.  

Feedback from the homelessness and housing needs workshop held on the 21st of 
November provided a further opportunity for members of the Joint OSC meeting to 
suggest areas of activity that should be considered as part of the Council’s future 
strategic housing activity.

Pg 151



Feedback from the Joint Meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing, Growth 
and Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committees

1.14 The county wide Strategy was considered by the meeting of the Joint 
communities and Wellbeing, Growth and Rural Scrutiny Committees who after 
significant debate agreed to support a recommendation to Cabinet to endorse the 
strategy subject to a number of additional requirements:

   
(i) A regular monitoring report being provided to each district on the delivery 

of the delivery plan and outcomes achieved;

(ii) A review of the comparability of the data contained within the report 
being carried out by the District Housing Network, and 

(iii) A further review is undertaken before the end of 2018 to take into 
account the impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 No other options have been considered as production of a homelessness strategy 
is a statutory requirement. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Resources required to implement this strategy and its initial delivery plan are being 
met from within existing service area budgets.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY & DIVERSITY)

5.1 A joint Equality Impact Analysis has been completed and is attached at Appendix 
3 to this report. There are no issues arising from this analysis. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The provision of suitable accommodation and associated support services is 
acknowledged to be a factor in the reduction of crime. 

Category Risk Action / Controls
SKDC are open to challenge and 
possible damage to the Council’s 
reputation if a Homeless Strategy is not 
produced

Production and approval of a Countywide 
Homelessness Strategy

Pg 152



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 The Council has received grant funding from Government via the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant.  This equates to £122,376 in 2017/18 and £130,123 
in 2018/19.  This grant is available to allow Councils’ to provide greater flexibility to 
prioritise homelessness prevention. The Council will be allocating the grant to 
support the work set out in the report. 

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The duty to formulate a homelessness strategy is set out in the Homelessness Act 
2002. A local housing authority must take the homelessness strategy into account 
in the exercise of its functions.

8.2 S.2 of the Homelessness Act confirms that the intention of the strategy is to:

 preventing homelessness in their district;

 securing that sufficient accommodation is and will be available for people in 
their district who are or may become homeless;

 securing the satisfactory provision of support for people in their district;

 who are or may become homeless; or

 who have been homeless and need support to prevent them becoming 
homeless again.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1    Appendix 1 – Lincolnshire Draft Homeless Strategy
           Appendix 2 – Draft delivery plan

Appendix 3 – Equality Impact Analysis

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 There are none 

Pg 153



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire
Homelessness

Strategy
2017-2021

Pg 154



contents
Welcome

Lincolnshire in context

Boston

City of Lincoln

East Lindsey 

North Kesteven 

South Holland

South Kesteven

West Lindsey

Reflecting on the previous Lincolnshire 

Homelessness Strategy 2012 – 2016

Strategy introduction

Homelessness in context in Lincolnshire

Priorities, Delivery Plan and Governance

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

2

4

5

6

8

10 

12 

14

16

18

20

23

37

49

Pg 155



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

3

Pg 156



IT Strategy 2015 - 2017Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

4

welcome
Welcome to the fourth Homelessness Strategy produced 
by Lincolnshire housing authorities. The strategy sets out 
the key challenges, priorities and objectives for preventing 
and tackling homelessness across Lincolnshire over the 
next five years. 

Local authorities and their partners face unprecedented 
change, economic challenges and significant welfare, 
housing and planning policy developments. 

Over recent period the current government has introduced 
substantial and wide-ranging changes meaning that the 
period ahead will be one of the most challenging for local 
authorities and their partners. 

Homelessness is a complex issue that cuts across many 
policy areas. Local authorities have long recognised that 
partnership working is the key to tackling homelessness. 
Now more than ever we need to work together to respond 
to an environment of rapid change. The potential impact 
of a wide range of policy changes on people vulnerable to 
experiencing homelessness cannot be underestimated. 

The strategy is supported by a delivery plan which 
clearly sets out the short, medium and longer term 
activities to deliver an effective homelessness strategy for 
Lincolnshire. To ensure the strategy remains relevant and 
can respond to change, the delivery plan will be regularly 

monitored by the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 
Group and will be reviewed annually. 

Over the past four years Lincolnshire has experienced 
both an increase in homelessness, alongside an increase 
in the complexity of the needs of individuals and 
households affected by homelessness. 

During the lifetime of this strategy we will see significant 
changes which, without innovation, collaboration and 
partnership may lead to increased homelessness amongst 
vulnerable households. In order to respond to the 
challenges ahead we must build on our relationships with 
other statutory services, registered providers, employment 
and skills colleagues and financial inclusion services, all 
of whom will play a larger role in preventing homelessness 
over coming years. With continued pressures on the level 
of available resource across local authorities and their 
partners, we will have to be innovative in our approach 
to homeless prevention, develop further initiatives and 
make best use of our collective resources to improve 
the lives of those who are at risk of, or are experiencing, 
homelessness across Lincolnshire.

This strategy represents a partnership response to 
preventing and tackling homelessness. We would like to 
thank all of the individuals and organisations who have 
contributed to the development of the strategy.

Pg 157



5

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Lincolnshire 
in context
Lincolnshire is the fourth largest county in England, 
covering 5921 sq. km. It is also the fourth most sparsely 
populated. It is a county of contrasts, with a diverse 
landscape covering coastal, rural and urban areas with 
concentrations of population around the city of Lincoln 
and the key market towns of Gainsborough, Sleaford, 
Boston, Grantham, Louth, Skegness, Spalding and 
Stamford. Rural and coastal areas present particular 
homelessness challenges, with the coastal area 
characterised by high concentrations of deprivation 
and high levels of low paid seasonal work while rural 
areas have low population density areas, limited road 
networks and transport infrastructure coupled with 
social isolation.

743,400
Estimated population 2016

5,921km2

Pg 158



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

6

Having some 
of the highest 
private rents 
in the region 
and lowest full 
time wages, 
Boston faces 
real affordability 
challenges

Pg 159



7

Boston
Covering an area of 362 square kilometres Boston 
Borough consists of the market town of Boston and 18 
rural parishes. Boston is a sub-regional centre, second 
in the county to Lincoln, and provides retail employment 
and a variety of visitor attractions. It has a strong food 
and agricultural sector as well as a stable historic 
industrial base and a port. Its historic environment is 
recognised by English Heritage as one of the most 
important in England.

Shaped by agricultural and horticultural activity, the 
Boston area has seen one of the largest increases 
in population since the 2001 Census, nationally. The 
population of Boston Borough has increased by 19.3% 
(to 66,500) since 2001. A high proportion of the increase 
has come from economic migrants, particularly from 
Portugal and Eastern Europe, placing a strain on housing 
and local services. The population is forecast to grow 
further by 10,000 for the period 2014 to 2039.

In common with many other coastal communities, Boston 
faces significant challenges. These include geographical 
isolation, low wages, an economy over-reliant on 
elementary occupations and a poor skills base. Gross 
weekly full time pay is £411.20 compared with an East 
Midlands average of £492.00 (2015) while the proportion 
employed in elementary occupations is 20.3%, more than 
double the Great Britain figure of 10.8%. However, long-
term unemployment remains below the England average. 

Although local schools are of a generally high quality, the 
proportion of residents with NVQ4 Level qualifications 
and above is significantly below the East Midlands and 
Great Britain average.

Some 19.8% of the district’s population falls within the 
20% most deprived areas in England compared to a 
Lincolnshire average of 11.7%. Private sector rented 
accommodation is of generally low quality and rents are 
higher than the East Midlands average.

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

£411.20
Gross weekly full 
time pay Compared with an East 

Midlands average of

£492

66,500 
19.3% increase in 
population since 2001 Pg 160



8

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

City of Lincoln 
City of Lincoln has an estimated population of 97,065 
residents across approximately 44,600 households, with 
the average Lincoln household containing 2.21 people. 

In 2015 Lincoln had 10 areas that were in the highest 
10% of deprived areas nationally. This has increased 
from seven areas in 2010 and five areas in 2007 
according to the Indices of Multiple Deprivation. The 10 
areas equates to 16,014 Lincoln residents and 16.6% of 
the total City of Lincoln population.

Over the last 10 years there has been a rise in the 
number of properties within Lincoln. This is a result of 
an additional 2,110 flats being built in that time which 
equates to an increase of 11.2% in the number of homes 
within the city. 

There has been an increase in private rented properties 
between 2001 to 2011 across Central  Lincolnshire. 
In Lincoln this is partly due to the growth of the 

university therefore resulting in an increase in the student 
population. This increase has raised concerns about the 
condition of the private rented properties, with estimates 
of up to 35.6% non-decency and 21% Category 1 
Hazards under the Housing and Health Rating System.
 
Lincoln has a fast growing student population which is 
reflected in the age demographic which shows a higher 
proportion of younger people living in Lincoln, compared 
to other districts close to the area. 

In 2012/13, the City of Lincoln Council accepted 
199 people as homeless. Some  48% of these were 
aged between  25 and 44. In 2015/16 the number of 
acceptances had reduced slightly to 142, but 84.5% 
of these were acceptances from people aged 16-
44. The City of Lincoln aims to reduce the number of 
homelessness acceptances over the forthcoming years 
by focussing more on homelessness prevention. 

Pg 161



9

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

There is a higher proportion of 
younger people living in Lincoln, 
compared to other districts

97,065
Residents across approximately 
44,600 households

199
people as 
homeless

2,110
flats being built

Pg 162



10

East Lindsey 
East Lindsey has an estimated population of 138,400 and 
covers approximately 1,765 square kilometres making it the 
second largest non-unitary District in England or the ninth 
largest overall if you include unitary authorities. Only four of its 
189 parishes have a population greater than 5,000.

The population is expected to increase but below national 
levels. However the percentage of working age people is set to 
decrease significantly whilst the number of over 65’s, which is 
already higher than regional and national averages, will continue 
to rise. The demand for adapted lifetime homes and health 
related services is already high and will continue to increase.

Employment, training and education opportunities are poor 
resulting in an out of work claimant count of 8,930 (11.6% of the 
working age population) for main out of work benefits including 
JSA, ESA & Income Support. The total claimant count is 12,580 
(16.4% of working age population) which includes Carers, 
Bereavement and Disability benefits as well.

Average wages in East Lindsey have traditionally fallen behind 
regional and national levels but for full-time workers this gap 
has narrowed.  Part-time workers continue to earn less than the 

national average and this gap has widened. There are few major 
employers, and lots of self-employed and micro businesses.

Being a coastal district, with circa 28,000 static caravans, brings 
many challenges. The population of Skegness area increases 
from circa 25,000 up to 250,000 during the summer months 
which generates income to individuals and the wider area but 
can also put pressure on public services. There are high levels 
of seasonal employment which creates financial uncertainty for 
many residents.

Overall, East Lindsey is ranked the 33rd most deprived local 
authority district area in England (out of 326) and there are 
approximately 4,500 children living in poverty. During summer 
months there is an increase in rough sleepers who generally 
migrate from the Midlands to the coast to make a fresh start. 

Between 1st April 2008 and 1st April 2017, the Council enabled 
the development of 1351 new affordable homes. Opportunities 
for large scale housing development are limited due to 
restrictions linked to the Wolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB), proximity to the coast and the risk of flooding 
and existing market town infrastructure.

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

138,400
Estimated population

Adults claim  
key out of  
work benefits

11.6%Poor employment, 
training and education 
opportunities

Pg 163



11

Being a coastal district, 
there are high levels of 
seasonal employment

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

28,000
static caravans bring  
many challenges

1351
New affordable  
homes

High levels  
of seasonal  
employment

Pg 164



12

North Kesteven 
North Kesteven has the lowest crime rate in the country 
and is ranked as the 34th best place to live according 
to Rural Quality of Life Survey.  However, there are a 
range of issues that pose challenges for residents, 
businesses, district council and other public services.  
The 2011 census showed that North Kesteven was the 
fourth fastest-growing district in England and Wales. 
Latest projections indicate this is to grow a further 6% 
by 2021, which creates additional demand on accessible 
and affordable housing, support, education and health 
services. As well as the predicted growth levels, the age 
profile of the population will change significantly with a 
projected 44% increase in the 65+ population by 2031.
  
The NK Economy is built upon traditional strengths 
relating to agriculture and associated industries.  

The district council has financial plans to invest in new 
social, affordable and private rented accommodation. 
In recent years the district has experienced growth 
in local economy and 277 jobs have been created or 
safeguarded and a further 131 local businesses have 
stated their intention to grow. Unemployment is below 
the national average but wage levels are not only 
below the national average but amongst the lowest 
in the country. Deprivation is lower than average, but 
approximately 2,200 children live in poverty. Locally 
we are experiencing an increase in mortgage lending, 
property sales and average houses prices but they 
remain below the national average. The private rented 
sector has also seen increases in rental charges but 
Local Housing Allowance rates remain unchanged for the 
second year.

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

111,000
Estimated population

922.6km2

44%
increase in 
65+ by 2031 Pg 165



13

The District Council has 
financial plans to invest in new 

social, affordable and private 
rented accommodation

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Growth in local 
economy and 

277 
jobs created

131 
local businesses 
have stated  
intention to growth

2,200
children live  
in poverty

111,000
Estimated population

Pg 166



14

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

South Holland 
South Holland has an estimated population of 92,000. 
The population has grown by c.20% between 2001 and 
2011, driven by a combination of inward migration from 
other parts of the UK and further afield, alongside growth 
in the ageing population locally. Whereas unemployment 
remains consistently lower than national averages, 
lower earnings locally compound the issue of housing 
affordability within South Holland. The population of 
the district is anticipated to grow significantly over 
the next 21 years, with rates of population growth 
anticipated to reach the second highest levels of 
growth within Lincolnshire. Whereas there is a buoyant 
housing market in South Holland, driven by the district’s 
excellent connectivity to places of high growth such as 
Peterborough, levels of growth have fallen short of local 
targets. Market rents in South Holland are high, and are 
comparable with those in Cambridgeshire to the south 
of the district. There is a notable gap between Local 
Housing Allowance rates and local market rents. 

The number of applications for assistance with 
homelessness to the council has increased over the 
past 12 months, leading to corresponding increases in 
temporary accommodation use. The district has also 
seen an increase in rough sleeping over the past few 
years. In response to these challenges, South Holland 
District Council is seeking to play an activity role in 
increasing supply of new housing within the district. 
The authority has set up Welland Homes Ltd (a private 
company with a remit to develop new housing for market 
rent), alongside pursuing a number of new affordable 
housing developments through the council’s Housing 
Revenue Account. The council is also planning for 
major housing growth through two Sustainable Urban 
Extensions within Spalding; the largest settlement within 
the district. Growth is also planned for Crowland and 
Holbeach.

39.2%
own their own 
home without a 
mortgage

33.3%
home owners 
with a mortgage

12.7%
privately rent/rent 
within  
social housing

mortgage renting

Pg 167



15

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

The population is expected 
to increase significantly 

over the next 21 years

6,250+
new homes 
planned over 2 
major sites

20% 
population
increase since 2001

Pg 168



16

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

South Kesteven 
South Kesteven is a district of divides. Stamford in the 
south of the district is very affluent yet areas of Grantham 
in the north of the district rank among the 10% most 
deprived neighbourhoods in the country. In 2013 the 
Sunday Times voted Stamford as the Best Place to Live  
in Britain. Many households cannot afford to buy a house  
in Stamford. 
 
The Office for National Statistics data shows that South 
Kesteven will see the highest increase across the county 
of the 75+ age group between 2012 and 2037. This means 
that the demand on accessible and affordable housing will 
increase whilst the number of people of working age and 
paying tax for much needed services will decrease.  

The district council intends to invest approximately £8m 
on affordable housing over the next four to five years.  
The number of unemployment claimants has reduced by 
more than a half in the last four years.  Between April 2015 
and April 2016, there was a drop in claimant rate of over 
4%.  The median average house price across the whole 
of South Kesteven in 2012 was £156,500.  Between 2009 

and 2013, there has been an increase in the house prices 
in all areas of South Kesteven. The increase has ranged 
from 4% in Market Deeping to 14% in Stamford.   

The Local Housing Allowance rates have remained the 
same in South Kesteven for the last five years. Only 
about half of two and three bed private rental properties 
available to let in Grantham are at or below Local Housing 
Allowance rates; most if not all of the rental properties in 
Stamford and Bourne are above the LHA rate and all 4+ 
bed properties are above the LHA rate (Rightmove figures 
as at 2016). 

The Peterborough Sub-Regional Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment shows that the indicative income required 
to buy a property at the lower quartile purchase price is: 
£37,100; for a lower quartile private rent: £19,400; for an 
affordable rent: £15,500 and for a social rent: £13,400 
(figures as at 2013).  These statistics show that many 
households are priced out of private homeownership and 
many households who need to rely on welfare benefits are 
priced out of the private rental sector.

Pg 169



17

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Stamford is a very expensive 
place to live, making housing 

unaffordable to many households 

Stamford
best place to live in Britain
Sunday Times 2013

SK will see the highest in-
crease across the  
county of 75+ age group

£8m
on affordable 
housing over the 
next  
4 - 5 yrsPg 170



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

18

West Lindsey 
The district of West Lindsey covers the area immediately 
north of Lincoln and forms the north west gateway to 
Lincolnshire. The district is predominantly rural and has 
a diverse housing market with significantly higher levels 
of demand and higher house prices and affordability 
challenges in villages closer to Lincoln compared to the 
main market town of Gainsborough. This is also reflected 
in the levels of deprivation and unemployment across the 
district. 

Whilst some of the West Lindsey villages are amongst 
the least deprived in the country, the South West Ward of 
Gainsborough is one of the most deprived. This area is 
characterised by a dense private rented sector requiring a 
number of council initiatives to improve housing standards 
and reduce vulnerability. The Council is working hard 
to tackle empty homes and has recently introduced a 
selective licensing scheme to improve the standards and 
management of private sector properties. A number of 
successful multi-agency approaches to tackling the wider 
issues that contribute to deprivation and vulnerability 
across the District are underway. 

Varied micro markets across former Ministry of Defence 
villages, rural villages and market towns within the district 
present very different housing challenges. 

Gainsborough has been identified as an area in which 
there will be significant growth and development over 
the next few years. Gainsborough is one of the few areas 
of the Country to have achieved Housing Zone status, 
with ambitious plans to develop a minimum of 800 new 
homes on brownfield sites within the town. Further land 
is allocated to accommodate an additional 3635 which 
represents 12% of the total growth planned for Central 
Lincolnshire

Over the last 10 years, West Lindsey has experienced 
4.3% growth in population and it is anticipated that by 
2030, the population will increase by 30% which is the 
highest level of growth in the county and compares with a 
regional level of 20% and a national level of 15%.

West Lindsey has an ageing population. Some 21% of the 
population in the census was of retirement age compared 
with 19% in the rest of the country. It is envisaged that 
this will rise to 32% by 2037. This is also reflected in a 
lower than average proportion (75%) of people who are 
economically active. This means that the demand on 
accessible and affordable housing will increase whilst the 
number of people of working age and paying tax for much 
needed services will decrease.

West Lindsey District Council’s housing stock was 
transferred to Acis Group in 1999. 

Pg 171



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

19

The district is 
predominantly rural 

and has a diverse 
housing market 

4.3% growth
in population

30% increase
by 2030

21%
of population in  
the census was  
of retirement age Pg 172



20

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Reflecting on the previous 
Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy 2012 – 2016 
Lincolnshire’s Homelessness Strategy 2012 – 2016 focused 
on five key priority areas:

• Priority 1: Prevention
• Priority 2: Partnership working
• Priority 3: Welfare reform
• Priority 4: Young people
• Priority 5: Rough sleeping
 
Through working together, the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy 2012-16 achieved the following key outcomes:

• Prevented in excess of 9,700 households across 
Lincolnshire from experiencing homelessness

• Secured around £1 million of additional homelessness-
related government grant for Lincolnshire, which has 
been used to fund services and initiatives that have 
contributed towards the prevention of homelessness

The strategy and partnership also secured the following 
achievements which made a significant contribution to 
reducing homelessness across Lincolnshire:

PREVENTION

• We focused our resources to target the most vulnerable 
enabling them to remain in their own homes or obtain 
suitable alternative accommodation, mitigating as far 
as possible the impacts of welfare reform. The range 
of measures deployed include the use of discretionary 
housing payments, charitable funding, government grants 
and rent deposit schemes to prevent homelessness

• We delivered a ‘Breaking the Myths’ communications 
campaign, that sought to dispel the myths about 
homelessness through various media in Lincolnshire.

PARTNERSHIP WORKING

• We established a genuine collaboration to broker 
additional local and central government funding to deliver 
services such as the rough sleeper outreach team to 
redirect the lives of over 1,200 individuals

• Following a successful partnership bid of £430k we 
secured the provision of new accommodation and 
support, introducing specialist accommodation for male 
domestic abuse victims

• Through closer working with criminal justice agencies 

Pg 173



21

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

we enhanced our understanding of the links between 
homelessness and offending to achieve better risk 
management and enable more settled housing solutions

• Together with statutory and voluntary partners, 
we developed our Vulnerable Adult Panels across 
Lincolnshire to assist in meeting the needs of complex 
and chaotic households

WELFARE REFORM

• We have worked closely in partnership with the 
Department of Work and Pensions, Citizens Advice and 
Credit Unions to prepare for and mitigate against the 
impact of welfare reform

• Lincolnshire has taken a lead for the Universal Credit 
‘pilots’, training over 500 advisors on the implications of 
Universal Credit and how to identify support needs for 
customers, together with the setting up of digital hubs 
across Lincolnshire managed by trained volunteers

YOUNG PEOPLE

• We worked in partnership with Lincolnshire County 
Council to develop a model of early intervention and 
prevention to reduce youth homelessness and developed 
a joint protocol to meet the needs of young people at risk 
of homelessness

• With a focus on early intervention to prevent youth 
homelessness, we commissioned a successful drama 
programme in schools. A total of 278 shows were 
performed during the life of the strategy to 16,589 young 
people. The project has since been commissioned by 10 

other local authority areas across the country. 
• Our youth homelessness  prevention work is cited as 

best practice by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government 

ROUGH SLEEPING

• We developed and supported implementation of rough 
sleeper outreach service operating across Lincolnshire 
and Rutland, redirecting the lives of 1,395 individuals

• Lincolnshire received national recognition from Homeless 
Link for best practice when tackling rough sleeping 
across multiple local authority areas

• Our partnership working had a significant impact on 
reducing rough sleeping across Lincolnshire by 47% in 
the first year of the outreach service  

• We encouraged members of the public to play an active 
role by reporting and referring people sleeping through 
implementation of a dedicated 0800 rough sleeper hotline

• 279 EU Nationals were connected back to their local 
communities and support networks 

• Recognising the important contribution that this service 
made to vulnerable rough sleepers, an extension for the 
funding for this service was secured for a minimum of 
three years through discussions with Public Health

Pg 174



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

22

Pg 175



23

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Strategy introduction
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires housing authorities 
to take a long term strategic approach to preventing and 
managing homelessness. Councils are required to carry out 
regular reviews of the homelessness situation in our local 
authority areas, taking account of the activities and services 
available to prevent and tackle homelessness in addition to 
taking account of relevant national and regional policies and 
to develop a strategy based on the findings of these. 

Lincolnshire’s Homelessness Strategy 2017 – 2021 sets out 
how the seven Lincolnshire housing authorities, together with 
a range of partners, aim to prevent and tackle homelessness 
over the next five years. This is Lincolnshire’s fourth joint 
homelessness strategy; a combined strategy between 
the seven Lincolnshire district authorities who, although 
managing very diverse housing and homelessness pressures 
and needs, have committed to working to common goals to 
prevent homelessness across Lincolnshire. 

This strategy has been developed through engagement 
with stakeholders of the Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy Group, elected members and service users. It has 
been informed by the findings of a homelessness review 
undertaken during 2016 and 2017. 

Engagement has taken place with statutory and voluntary 
sector partners to ensure our homelessness strategy is 
effective and relevant. Consideration has been made of 

local and wider sub-regional plans and regional plans and 
strategies. Therefore a series of engagement events and 
surveys were held to assist in the collation of data. 

It is important to acknowledge this strategy has been 
developed at a time of considerable change in the housing 
sector. Legislative changes being introduced at the time of 
writing are being implemented and will likely have significant 
implications for local authorities and our partners in tackling 
homelessness. 

NATIONAL AND LOCAL CONTEXT AND DRIVERS FOR 
CHANGE 

Over the next five years there are a number of challenges 
that are likely to impact heavily upon those who are 
vulnerable to experiencing homelessness, alongside those 
who work to prevent homelessness. These challenges 
include changes to government policy where careful 
management of the possible impacts are required, a 
continuous demand on resources in the face of tightening 
budgetary pressures, a fragile national economic picture 
and various policy areas that have the potential to impact 
on preventing and tackling homelessness but are not 
necessarily coordinated. In order to successfully prevent 
homelessness going forward, the homelessness prevention 
agenda across Lincolnshire will need to prepare those 
vulnerable to homelessness and the services that support 

Pg 176



24

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

them for the challenges that may lie ahead. This section sets 
out the national, countywide and local context that surrounds 
some of these challenges. 

A national government focus on supporting home 
ownership, and a likely corresponding reduction in the 
supply of new homes for affordable rent 

Since the May 2015 General Election there has been a 
notable shift in central government policy in relation to 
affordable housing. Whereas previous government policy 
was strongly focused on increasing the number of homes 
available for affordable rent, prevailing government strategy 
has seen investment and policy directed towards increasing 
the supply of affordable homes designed to help households 
into home ownership. Early indications following the June 
2017 General Election suggest that supporting households 
into home ownership will remain a key theme of the 
government’s focus in relation to affordable housing. 

The government has sought to do this in a number of ways. 
The government has consulted on proposals for local 
authorities to secure a higher large proportion of new housing 
on new housing developments as ‘low cost home ownership 
housing (e.g. shared ownership and shared equity housing) 
as opposed to low cost rented housing. The government 
is also seeking to direct higher levels government grant 
for affordable housing into ‘rent to buy’ housing; a product 
aimed at working households who can afford a market rental 
property, but as a result do not have the available income to 
save for a deposit to buy. 

The government has also applied a constraint on the income 
that social landlords can derive from rented housing between 
2016 and 2020. This has had the impact of encouraging 

housing associations to build a higher proportion of homes 
for market sale and rent, as a means of cross-subsidising 
the delivery of rented housing. Whereas cross-subsidisation 
is helping housing associations to deliver rented housing, 
the investment priorities of many housing associations have 
drifted away from rented housing as a result. 

Whereas this shift in government policy will undoubtedly 
generate opportunities to support households into home 
ownership across Lincolnshire, these changes are likely to 
result in the delivery of fewer rented homes for affordable 
rent. This creates challenges for local authorities in relation 
to how they plan to meet the needs of those for whom home 
ownership is not a viable housing solution. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

A decrease in the supply of new social housing has the 
potential to significantly impact on the ability of Lincolnshire 
local authorities to meet their statutory duties in relation to 
homelessness households. The reduction in supply which 
may result from these policy changes may also limit our 
ability to utilise social housing to prevent and/or alleviate 
homelessness before it arises, and also to limit the options 
available for those in need of independent accommodation 
(such as those presently residing in supported 
accommodation). 

Over the next four years, it will become vitally important 
to the success of this strategy to ensure that the available 
supply of affordable rented housing is prioritised for the most 
vulnerable, and that those who can meet their housing needs 
through alternative tenures are supported to do so. 

Home ownership opportunities will be varied across Pg 177



25

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Lincolnshire. One of the biggest challenges in Lincolnshire is 
to understand how many households will be able to afford 
low cost home ownership products – for some, this will 
present a new opportunity for home ownership however 
for others and in some parts of the county, this will not be 
viable. Lincolnshire’s ageing population presents additional 
challenges, with some households being unable to access 
high street borrowing options to enable home ownership. 
Housing providers will need the flexibility to be able to 
develop a range of home ownership products and must 
also consider how best to ensure that social rented stock 
prioritised for those in the greatest need. 

A likely reduction in the size of the existing pool of 
available affordable housing for rent 

In addition to limiting the supply of new affordable housing to 
rent, a number of new government initiatives may also result 
in reducing the existing stock of affordable rented housing 
across Lincolnshire. Such initiatives include the extension of 
the Right to Buy for housing associations tenants (affording 
housing association tenants the right to buy their home at 
a discount), alongside an plans to introduce a policy which 
will compel stock-owning local authorities to sell their higher 
value stock in order to fund the replacement of homes 
purchased through the extended Right to Buy scheme. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

As with the potential decrease in the supply of new 
affordable housing for rent, any reduction of the existing pool 
of homes to rent is likely to limit the ability of Lincolnshire 
local authorities and their partner organisations to utilise 
social housing to meet the needs of all but the most 
vulnerable households. Once again, it will become vitally 

important to the success of this strategy to ensure that the 
available supply of affordable rented housing is prioritised for 
the most vulnerable. 

A likely increased reliance on the private rented sector 
to meet housing need amongst vulnerable groups, and 
other PRS reforms 

With the government placing a strong emphasis on 
supporting home ownership, there are a number of factors 
that are likely to impact upon the supply of new and existing 
affordable housing for rent. Lincolnshire local authorities 
and their partners rely heavily upon the existing stock 
of affordable rented housing within the county to meet 
the needs of the most vulnerable households, including 
those who are either threatened with or have experienced 
homelessness. 

If the supply of new affordable housing for rent decreases, 
and the pool of existing stock for rent shrinks, it is likely that 
over the lifespan of this strategy there will be an increased 
reliance upon the private rented sector across Lincolnshire 
in order to meet the housing needs of those whose needs 
would have previously been met through a housing 
association or local authority home. 

This comes at a time when central government is seeking 
to encourage a higher quality private rented sector by 
introducing new standards in relation to fire safety, new 
standards in relation to lettings practices and bolstering 
consumer rights for tenants and also through utilising the tax 
system to encourage landlords to become more ‘visible’ and 
adopt more formal business arrangements. It also comes at 
a time when many local authorities are exploring becoming 
private landlords themselves, as a means of setting a higher Pg 178



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

26

standard for within the sector locally in terms of management 
practices and quality of accommodation. South Holland 
District Council is one local authority within Lincolnshire who 
has established itself as a market rented landlord. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

There is evidence of a high level of demand for private rented 
housing across all of the major towns in Lincolnshire. The 
quality and affordability of the private rented sector offer is 
however, hugely varied across Lincolnshire. 

Our evidence suggests that the private rented sector plays 
an important role in meeting housing need and demand 
across the county, however, consistent with the national 
picture, the ending of a an assured shorthold tenancy in the 
private rented sector continues to be a leading reason for 
households approaching local authorities as homeless. 

Increased reliance on the private rented sector to meet 
housing need will require those working in homelessness 
agenda across Lincolnshire to consider how we best engage 
with the sector as a means of supporting households 
to access private rented accommodation, in addition to 
supporting private landlords to provide accommodation for 
those who will come to rely upon it. Supporting vulnerable 
households in accessing the sector will become a key focus 
of our strategic approach to addressing homelessness over 
the course of this strategy. 

A government welfare reform agenda with a strong 
emphasis on supporting access to employment 

Since the 2010 and 2015 General Elections, there has been 

a strong government focus on reform to the Welfare Benefits 
system. There have been a number of national drivers 
for these reforms, including a tightening of government 
expenditure on welfare budgets and a policy focus on 
encouraging and supporting households to take up 
employment opportunities as opposed to being reliant upon 
welfare payments to meet housing and living costs. 

The government’s Welfare Reform agenda includes a 
number of key policies, most notably the introduction of 
Universal Credit (which consolidates a range of existing 
welfare payments into a single monthly payment) and the 
introduction of caps and limits of the benefit that households 
are entitled to in order to cover their living and housing costs. 
There are some specific elements of welfare reform which 
pose potential challenges to the homelessness agenda at 
a national, county and local level over the lifetime of this 
strategy. These challenges include the following: 

THE DESIGN OF KEY ASPECTS OF THE UNIVERSAL 
CREDIT SYSTEM 

A flagship policy of the government’s welfare reform 
agenda, the Universal Credit system seeks to pull together 
six means tested benefits into a single welfare payment. 
The government’s view is that the Universal Credit scheme, 
which will see a single payment of welfare benefit paid to 
households on a monthly basis, will support households in 
the transition into employment by simplifying the benefits 
system from the perspective of the claimant (thus making 
it easier for the claimant to understand how their benefits 
may change if they enter employment) whilst also preparing 
claimants for life in employment by mirroring the typical 
monthly pay cycles associated with paid work. 
A large number of housing and homelessness charities Pg 179



27

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Lincolnshire local authorities and 
their partners rely heavily upon the 
existing stock of affordable rented 
housing within the county to meet 
the needs of the most vulnerable 
households, including those who 
are either threatened with or have 
experienced homelessness

Pg 180



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

28

have raised concerns about some elements of the design 
of the Universal Credit scheme, and how these elements 
may heighten the risk of vulnerable households claiming 
the benefit from experiencing budgeting challenges, debt 
issues and homelessness. Concerns relating to scheme 
design issues include the monthly payment of benefits 
(which will require households to effectively manage their 
income over a month long period, ending the current 
fortnightly arrangement), and the ending of direct payment 
of rent to social landlords (which will lead to claimants in 
the social sector being required to take responsibility for 
ensuring the housing elements of Universal Credit are paid 
to their housing provider). Claimants of Universal Credit 
will also be required to enter into formal arrangements with 
the Department for Work and Pensions in relation to their 
commitment to find employment. Those who cannot satisfy 
the requirements of the DWP in relation to expectations 
around finding employment may be subject to benefit 
sanctions. 

Whereas there is broad political consensus that the welfare 
system should be reformed to better support households 
into employment, a number of housing and homelessness 
charities have raised concerns about the sanctions system 
and how it may adversely affect vulnerable individuals and 
those who live chaotic lifestyles. 

At the time of writing, there are 2300 Universal Credit 
claimants in Lincolnshire. Whilst new claimants moving 
onto Universal Credit will do so only in line with the eligibility 
criteria, any change in circumstances for those claimants 
will not lead to a move away from Universal Credit, therefore 
there will be people in receipt of Universal Credit with varied 
circumstances and needs. 

THE LOWERING OF THE BENEFIT CAP FROM £26,000 
TO £20,000 

Another flagship policy of the government’s welfare reform 
system relates to the lowering of the national household 
benefit cap. The benefit cap, which limits the total annual 
value of welfare entitlement that a household can claim, was 
lowered from £26,000 to £20,000 in November 2016.

Whereas the original £26,000 cap introduced in April 
2013 broadly only affected larger out of work families, 
the proposed £20,000 cap has affected a larger number 
of households nationally, especially those in higher value 
areas where housing benefit is being claimed to support 
accommodation costs.

THE GOVERNMENT’S COMMITMENT TO THE 
‘REMOVAL OF THE SPARE BEDROOM SUBSIDY’ 

The government remains committed to the continued 
removal of the ‘spare bedroom subsidy’ for those claiming 
housing benefit whilst residing in affordable housing. This 
welfare reform, introduced in 2012, requires tenants in the 
social rented sector to make a financial contribution to their 
rent where the property that they occupy is larger than what 
their family requires. Whereas many housing providers and 
local authorities have sought to mitigate the impact of this 
policy by reviewing how they allocate and manage affordable 
housing, it remains a financial challenge for many tenants 
residing in social housing where their ability to move to 
smaller accommodation is restricted. There are proposals to 
extend the policy to include those of pensionable age who 
were previously exempt. 

Pg 181



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

29

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

The government’s strong and continued emphasis on 
utilising welfare reform as a means to encourage households 
to enter employment presents a number of challenges for the 
homelessness prevention agenda across Lincolnshire over 
the lifespan of this strategy. 

The government’s use of Universal Credit to encourage 
greater personal responsibility in relation to budgeting 
requires those working in the homelessness agenda across 
the county to consider the importance of budgeting advice 
and financial inclusion as a tool to protect and mitigate 
against vulnerable households experiencing debt and 
homelessness. 

The policy focus on capping the welfare entitlement of many 
out of work households will lead to many households being 
compelled to find employment or move to less expensive 
housing, in order to meet their accommodation and living 
costs, including households who are presently furthest away 
from the jobs market. 

Preparing households for the impacts of welfare reform 
will form a key component of our strategy to prevent 
homelessness over the coming four years. 

A shifting role for social housing in meeting housing need 

A key theme of emerging government policy in relation to 
housing is the shifting role of social housing in meeting 
housing need, with a strong focus on social housing starting 
to play the role of a ‘stepping stone’ to alternative housing 
tenures as and when the circumstances of the tenant 
improve to a point that allows them to move out of publicly 

subsidised accommodation. 

This shift is demonstrated through the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016, which has paved the way for secondary legislation 
to be introduced which, if enacted, will bring to an end the 
automatic granting of ‘lifetime tenancies’ for those in local 
authority housing. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

The government’s agenda in relation to the shifting role 
of social housing in meeting housing need presents both 
challenges and opportunities for the homelessness agenda 
across Lincolnshire. In relation to the opportunities, measures 
which assist housing providers in directing social housing 
to those in greatest need have the potential to ensure 
that opportunities are created for vulnerable households 
to benefit from a scarce resource. It will be necessary to 
revisit and review housing allocations policies and tenancy 
strategies to ensure that the social housing resource is 
prioritised for those in the greatest need. 

A growing call for local authorities to do more to prevent 
homelessness 

Nationally there is a growing call for local authorities to go 
beyond their current statutory duties and play a more direct 
and proactive approach in preventing homelessness and 
to improve the help that single people receive under the 
homelessness legislation. These calls have not only come 
from leading housing and homelessness charities, but also 
from Parliament itself. 

In August 2016, the cross-party Communities and Local 
Government Committee published the findings of its Pg 182



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

30

Pg 183



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

31

enquiry into homelessness. The review explored the 
factors contributing to homelessness, the present role and 
performance of local authorities in supporting those who lose 
their accommodation, and the experiences of the system of 
those who have become homeless. Much of the work has 
also drawn on the experiences of the revised homelessness 
legislation in Scotland and Wales, leading to consideration of 
whether any of the lessons learned and changes made could 
be applied in England.
 
In addition to making several recommendations in 
relation to government welfare and housing policy, the 
committee called on the government to amend the existing 
homelessness legislation. As such The Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 became law in 2017 and will go live in 
April 2018. The Act will amend Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 and is far reaching in its ambitions. 

Key measures in the Act include:
• An extension of the period during which an authority 

should treat someone as threatened with homelessness 
from 28 to 56 days, and clarification of the action 
an authority should take when someone applies for 
assistance having been served with a notice to leave 
market rented housing. These provisions represent a 
shift in focus to early intervention, and aim to encourage 
local housing authorities to act quickly and pro-actively, 
addressing some concerns that some previously only 
intervened at crisis point.

• A new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible 
applicants threatened with homelessness, regardless 
of priority need. This extends the help available to 
people not in priority need, with local housing authorities 
supporting them to either stay in their accommodation 
or help them find somewhere to live and should mean 

fewer households reach a crisis situation.

• A new duty to relieve homelessness for all eligible 
homeless applicants, regardless of priority need. This 
help could be, for example, the provision of a rent 
deposit or debt advice. Those who have a priority need 
will be provided with interim accommodation whilst 
the Local Housing Authority carries out the reasonable 
steps.

• A new duty on public services to notify a local authority if 
they come into contact with someone they think may be 
homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. It is hoped 
that this measure will ensure that a person’s housing 
situation is considered when they come into contact with 
wider public services, and encourage public services 
to build strong relationships based on local need and 
circumstances. 

The legislation reflects a recognition that tackling 
homelessness is not simply a matter of increasing housing 
supply, and instead that an effective national strategy to 
tackle homelessness will need to be developed across 
a wider cross-government programme of work. At a 
national level, homelessness policy currently sits within 
the Department for Communities and Local Government, 
but is influenced by policy from many other Government 
departments including Department for Works and Pensions, 
the Department of Health and the Treasury. The committee 
recognised that policies from these departments have 
impacted on homelessness through the absence of joined 
up working and at times, as a result of contradictory policies. 
A wider, cross government strategy on homelessness 
prevention has been recommended by the committee 
report, including a focus on early intervention and a duty 
for public services to cooperate. The committee also set Pg 184



32

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

out a view that legislative change will only deliver ambitions 
to reduce homelessness if implemented as part of a 
coherent, workable, long-term national strategy for ending 
homelessness. The committee reported the view that a 
successful strategy would review the impact of national 
policy on homelessness trends and bring together local 
housing, health, justice and employment partners. 

The committee also set out a need to address the increasing 
gap between household incomes and rising rents and allow 
councils to protect and build more affordable homes. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

The extension of the statutory duties that local authorities 
have to homeless households to include a wider group 
of people beyond the most vulnerable is likely to result in 
increased costs for local authorities, requiring a renewed 
emphasis on homelessness prevention across Lincolnshire.

Proposed changes to the future funding of supported 
housing 

A policy statement issued in October 2017 set out proposed 
changes to the funding of supported housing.  These 
proposals are currently out to consultation but include 
changes to short term and transitional supported housing 
to be through a new ring fenced grant to local authorities in 
England.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

There remains a great deal of uncertainty at the time 
of drafting this document, however, partners across 
Lincolnshire remain committed to working together to 

feed into the government consultation, undertake a needs 
analysis and develop a strategic supported housing plan.  
Throughout the life of this strategy we will need to continue 
to work together to ensure effective pathways for vulnerable 
people that rely on supported accommodation.

Depending upon the outcome of the consultation relating 
to the future funding of supported housing, the future 
provision and sustainability may prove challenging with 
such significant constraints placed on providers’ revenue. 
In addition to partners, local authorities will seek to play 
an active role in the national discussions relating to the 
proposed changes to the funding of supported housing.

Pg 185



33

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 is far reaching in its ambitions 
and includes a new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible 

applicants threatened with homelessness, regardless of priority need

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Pg 186



34

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021
Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Pg 187



35

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

The term homelessness is broad, and in this section we 
consider key matters impacting on homelessness.

Some forms of homelessness are governed by law and 
this is commonly known as statutory homelessness.  The 
law is complicated but covers households which do not 
have accommodation they have a legal right to occupy, is 
accessible and physically available to the household and it 
would be reasonable for them to continue to live in. 

Local authorities  have a duty to provide free advice and 
assistance to all households threatened with homelessness, 
although in practice authorities often go beyond this to pro-
actively attempt to prevent or relieve homelessness. 

Rough sleeping is the most visible form of homelessness 
and in line with government advice, a count of people 
sleeping rough is undertaken each autumn. 

An increasing number turn to the council for assistance 
with their homeless crisis. 

Between 2010/11 and 2016/17, 6,286 homeless applications 
were made to the seven housing authorities across 
Lincolnshire. A total of 3,969 of these applications led to a full 
homelessness duty being accepted.

Between 2010/11 and 2016/17, the number of decisions 
made by Lincolnshire authorities rose by 46.5%. Discounting 
East Lindsey where the number of decisions made fell 
(15.9%), decisions rose by 79.8%. This is a considerable rise 
when viewed against the national rise in decisions of 6.26% 
and evidences the lack of affordable alternatives across the 
county.

Homelessness in
context in Lincolnshire

Pg 188



36

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

197 12 77 65 164 42 150 707

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

268 94 127 101 243 95 89 1078

Homelessness Decisions 2016/17

Homeless Duty Acceptances 2016/17

Not all homeless applications are approved by authorities. Some applicants are found to be not homeless or to be homeless 
but have no priority need, or to have made themselves intentionally homeless. Applicants falling into these categories are 
provided with advice and assistance to obtain alternative accommodation or to remain in their current accommodation where 
possible. Nevertheless, the number of applications that were awarded the full main duty has risen across Lincolnshire by 
46.5% over the period. 

Many homeless households are literally homeless, requiring the council to find temporary accommodation whilst enquiries 
are progressing or until a more settled home is secured. 

The following tables do not show all households provided with temporary accommodation by the authority over the year. 
Instead, they show the numbers accommodated at the end of March 2017. For those households who require temporary 
accommodation, the majority (53%) are housed within local authority stock.

Pg 189



37

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

22 11 29 2 14 28 12 118

No. in TA (snapshot end of Q4) 2016/17

Acceptances/1000 population 2016/17

TYPE SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC Totals

B&B / hotel 0 0 1 0 5 0 6 12

Other nightly paid, 
privately managed 
accommodation

0 0 17 2 4 0 0 23

Hostel 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 5

Women’s refuges 0 0 4 0 1 0 1 6

PRS/RP 0 6 7 0 0 0 0 13

LA stock 22 0 0 0 4 28 5 59

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC TOTAL

2011 Census population 
figure

133,788 64,637 136,401 89,250 93,541 88,270 107,766 713,653

Acceptances 197 12 77 65 164 42 89 646

Acceptances per 1000 
population

1.47 0.19 0.56 0.73 1.75 0.48 0.83 0.91

Type of TA (snapshot end of Q4) 2016/17

Pg 190



38

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

There is a long term trend of a rise in homelessness both nationally and locally. Every homeless application made comes at a 
cost to the local authority in terms of staff time and potentially for temporary accommodation whilst enquiries are being made 
or whilst more settled accommodation is being secured. 

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 has the potential to increase considerably the work load of Lincolnshire authorities in 
meeting their duties to households in housing need. There are risks of legal challenge to the authority if resource requirements 
are not met and councils are unable to meet new legal duties arising from the Act. Government has committed to providing 
additional resource to local councils to help them implement the new Act. The demands will be met from a combination of 
existing resource, partnership working and any future funding from government.

Homelessness Reasons 2016/17 SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC %

Parents no longer willing or able to 
accommodate 

30 1 0 1 6 2 8 7.43

Friends no longer willing or able to 
accommodate

11 0 9 2 11 8 6 7.28

Relationship breakdown – non violent 22 0 6 9 14 5 21 11.92

Violence 12 6 15 21 54 5 16 19.97

Harassment, threats or intimidation 1 1 2 0 1 0 3 1.24

Mortgage arrears 1 0 0 2 1 1 4 1.39

Rent arrears 2 0 0 1 3 3 7 2.48

Termination of Assured Shorthold Tenancy 69 2 25 23 39 6 5 26.16

Reason other than Termination of Assured 
Shorthold Tenancy

15 1 19 1 23 7 12 12.07

Required to leave accommodation 
provided by Home Office as asylum 
support

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

Left an institution or LA care 2 1 0 2 7 2 0 2.17

Left armed forces 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.15

Other 32 0 1 3 5 3 6 7.74

Pg 191



39

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

The loss of private rented accommodation as a key  
cause of homelessness across Lincolnshire

The ending of an assured shorthold tenancy is the single 
largest reason for loss of settled accommodation amongst 
statutorily homeless households nationally. This trend 
that has been increasing sharply since 2009, with over 
4,000 households (11% of all cases in 2009/10) becoming 
homeless through the ending of a private tenancy to now 
17,900 (31% of cases in 2015/16).  The main reason for 
homelessness in Lincolnshire is the ending of an assured 
shorthold tenancy, this accounts for 26% of all statutory 
homeless acceptances in 2016/17 across the county.

Domestic abuse is a key driver of homelessness  
across Lincolnshire

Violence is the second most common reason for 
homelessness in Lincolnshire. During 2015/16 there were 
856 cases of domestic abuse that were assessed as being 
high risk and have required a high level of multi agency 
intervention and a referral to Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference. This demand on services demonstrates a 
continued need to pro-actively ensure early intervention 
is used to help households that have become homeless 
through violence. 

Parents no longer willing or able to accommodate

Parental exclusions is also considered a main reason 
for homelessness across Lincolnshire, with many young 
people also being captured in the category of friends no 
longer willing or able to accommodate. Councils work 

collaboratively with Lincolnshire County Council to ensure 
that young people receive the help and support that they 
need. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

With an increased reliance on the private rented sector to 
meet housing need including for vulnerable households; 
access, sustainability, quality and affordability in the private 
rented sector must be a key feature of our strategy to 
prevent and reduce homelessness in Lincolnshire. Councils 
will need to develop new incentives to engage with private 
sector landlords and help customers to access or remain in 
their tenancies.

It will be more important than ever for councils to work in 
partnership to address the many forms of domestic abuse 
and to ensure that schemes to prevent homelessness are 
prioritised.

Partnership working forms the cornerstone of our work with 
young people. We need to maintain current work streams 
whilst together we assess if better outcomes could be 
delivered by doing things differently.

Pg 192



40

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Homelessness Preventions 
2016/17

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC TOTAL %

Mediation 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 0.25

Conciliation 5 1 5 14 0 9 12 46 2.85

Homeless Prevention Fund 2 2 0 33 1 27 2 67 4.15

Debt Advice 2 1 7 2 0 84 7 103 6.38

Resolve Housing Benefit 3 0 28 62 348 119 275 835 51.73

Resolve Rent Arrears 15 1 65 0 0 3 24 108 6.7

Sanctuary Scheme 8 0 3 17 33 1 14 76 4.71

Crisis Intervention 2 0 0 4 3 1 8 18 1.12

Negotiation with PRS 21 18 7 13 2 6 21 88 5.46

Assistance with PRS 13 0 6 83 1 102 0 205 12.71

Mortgage Arrears intervention 1 1 8 0 0 0 7 17 1.05

Other 10 0 22 0 1 0 14 47 2.91

Total 84 24 151 228 389 352 386 1,614

Developing a joined and cohesive approach to 
homelessness prevention between districts and county

It is becoming more important for councils to make attempts 
to prevent homelessness and during the five year period 
of the homeless strategy, over 9,700 households were 
prevented from becoming homeless across Lincolnshire. 

Tackling financial issues highlighted by the need for debt 
advice, resolving housing benefit issues and resolving rent 
arrears remain key factors in preventing homelessness.
Many of these issues relate to helping a household to remain 
in the private rented sector or to find accommodation in 
the private rented sector. This mirrors the major cause of 
homelessness being the ending of an assured shorthold 
tenancy. 

Pg 193



41

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

SKDC BBC ELDC WLDC COL SHDC NKDC TOTAL

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

P
re

ve
nt

R
el

ie
f

%

Hostel/HMO 7 1 0 5 56 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 8 0 76 6 6.93

PRS - 
Incentive 
Scheme

10 4 1 3 60 2 5 0 29 6 21 0 8 1 134 16 12.68

PRS - Without 
Incentive

1 0 0 4 67 0 11 1 0 0 3 0 61 0 143 5 12.51

Friends/
Relatives

0 0 0 3 11 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 9 4 21 7 2.37

Supported 
accomm-
odation

4 1 0 7 31 0 33 10 23 5 12 0 15 0 118 23 11.92

Social Housing 
- Existing LA 
Tenant

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0.34

Social Housing 
- Part 6 offer

7 1 7 11 82 4 85 2 111 10 123 0 66 15 481 43 44.29

Social Housing 
- Non Part 6

14 0 0 1 35 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 51 1 4.4

Low cost 
home 
ownership 
scheme

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 1 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 45 9 4.56

44 7 8 43 343 6 134 13 163 21 170 0 211 20 1073 110

Pg 194



42

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Homeless People - Priority Needs

Of those households accepted as being homeless, 
the following priority needs were recorded. They 
demonstrate that households with children are the 

main category of priority need. Also notable is the 
demonstration that homeless people are approaching 
with high prevalence of physical disability and mental 
illness or disability.

Priority Need 2016/17

S
K

D
C

B
B

C

E
LD

C

W
LD

C

C
O

L

S
H

D
C

N
K

D
C

T
O

TA
L

%

Emergency (fire, flood, storms, disaster, etc) 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0.31

Dependent children 130 9 56 42 101 22 59 419 64.86

Pregnant woman - no dependents 24 0 0 2 11 7 6 50 7.74

Aged 16 or 17 years old 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 3 0.46

Formerly "in care", and aged 18 to 20 years 
old

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0.15

Old age 1 0 1 8 0 1 3 14 2.17

Physical disability 18 0 7 5 5 1 11 47 7.28

Mental illness or disability 18 0 6 3 22 6 6 61 9.44

Drug dependency 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0.62

Alcohol dependency 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 4 0.62

Former asylum seeker 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.15

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0.15

Having been "in care" 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Having served in HM Forces 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Having been in custody/on remand 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.15

Having fled their home because of violence/
threat of violence

0 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 0.31

Domestic violence 1 2 6 3 20 3 1 36 5.57

Total 197 12 77 65 164 42 89 646
Pg 195



43

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

The role of preventing homelessness will have to be 
strengthened and further developed particularly in finding 
incentives to encourage the private rented sector to work in 
partnership. The Homeless Reduction Act will act as a key 
driver for authorities with new duties for Councils and new 
responsibilities placed on applicants. 

There are clear linkages with other public services and a 
requirement to work in partnership to ensure that homeless 
people receive the right support. 

Just as the government’s cross party Communities and 
Local Government Committee found that an effective 
strategy needed to be developed across a wider cross 
government programme of work, it is clear that the same 
requirement exists at the local level. Our future approach 
requires collaboration from a range of partners across the 
statutory and voluntary sectors. 

A continued challenge to tackle rough sleeping in 
Lincolnshire 

Rough sleeping is the most visible form of homelessness. It 
is also one of the most destructive forms of homelessness. 
The life expectancy of someone who has experienced rough 
sleeping is around 47 years compared with 77 within the 
general population.

Rough sleeping is rising. Nationally rough sleeping rates have 
risen by 79% between 2012 and 2016. Despite efforts of 
the service to reduce rough sleeping during 2016, there has 
been a year on year increase in rough sleeping levels across 
Lincolnshire (100% from 2012 to 2016, source: Autumn 
Rough Sleeper Counts).

Local 
Authority 
Area

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

COL 5 11 8 14 13

WLDC 0 0 1 0 1

NKDC 0 0 0 0 3

SKDC 1 1 2 2 1

BBC 7 5 4 7 5

SHDC 1 2 6 3 4

ELDC 3 2 1 6 7

Lincs Total 17 21 22 32 34

England 
Total

2309 2414 2744 3569 4134

Rates of rough sleeping vary across the county, with 
specific ‘hotspots’ existing in Lincoln, Boston, Spalding and 
Skegness. 

Pg 196



44

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021
Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

ROUGH SLEEPING LEVELS IN LINCOLNSHIRE OVER 
THE PAST FOUR YEARS HAVE BEEN INFLUENCED BY 
THE FOLLOWING KEY CHALLENGES:

The introduction of restrictions to the welfare
entitlement for EEA nationals

Changes to the welfare entitlement of EEA nationals has 
been a contributing factor to increased levels of rough 
sleeping amongst EEA nationals across Lincolnshire and 
most particularly, those individuals assessed as ineligible 
for welfare benefits but considered by the Home Office to 
have permanent residency in the UK. These changes have 
had the impact of limiting the housing options available to 
those who experience a loss of employment whilst residing 
in the UK, resulting in some individuals who experience 
sporadic employment patterns which in turn leads to street 
homelessness. Such individuals can face being ‘trapped’ 
with no resources to return to their home country, no work 
and therefore no money and no home. 

These challenges are likely to remain for the lifetime of this 
strategy, requiring authorities across Lincolnshire and their 
partners to consider how support is provided to those 
who have lost their employment and experience street 
homelessness. This includes support in re-accessing 
employment, in addition to support in returning to their 
country of origin.

Rough sleeping as a result of being vulnerable and/or 
having a chaotic lifestyle

Significant numbers of rough sleepers and those known 
as hostel hoppers or sofa surfers are vulnerable in the 
commonly understood sense of the word. This can include 

having a mental health problem, or addiction to drugs or 
alcohol, being physically unwell or any combination of these. 
Many have had abusive childhoods or have had a sequence 
of major life traumas which have the consequence of an 
inability to form positive relationships and ‘difficulty coping’.
The fear of isolation and loneliness can act as a barrier for 
some to access and maintain settled accommodation where 
the ‘street’ represents a known quantity and familiar faces.

There are examples where partners involved in supporting 
rough sleepers across Lincolnshire express difficulties in 
accessing appropriate services for individuals. The Rough 
Sleeper Outreach Service, commissioned by Lincolnshire 
County Council and delivered by P3, frequently reports 
the difficulties in supporting rough sleepers with mental 
health issues in accessing services to provide support and 
assistance with such issues.

In addition to difficulties in accessing mental health services, 
many partners report difficulties in securing suitable 
accommodation for rough sleepers, often as a result of their 
higher support needs, substance misuse and their tenancy 
history.

There is some evidence of individuals experiencing 
homelessness as a result of being discharged from hospital 
without suitable accommodation being available for them 
upon discharge.

The challenges facing us include:
•  Concerns around engaging mental health services to 

assess and support individuals.
•  Evictions from supported housing
•  Unplanned discharge from hospital.
•  Difficulties in accessing accommodation due to support 

needs and tenancy histories. Pg 197



45

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021 Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

More recently, a report commissioned by the independent 
anti-slavery commissioner considered the links between 
modern slavery and homelessness. The results were eye 
opening, showing that homeless people are at risk of being 
exploited when they are on the streets, but also that victims 
of modern slavery are at risk of becoming homeless if no 
long-term support is provided to them. The report makes 12 
recommendations for organisations who work with  
homeless people.

In response to the challenge, the street outreach team have 
implemented a ‘Housing First’ model, initially within Lincoln. 
Through this model, accommodation is offered to those 
who have been rough sleeping for a period of time or where 
traditional housing related support services have not worked.

More recently, together with P3 and Lincolnshire County 
Council, the seven district councils were successful in 
securing funding  from the Department of Communities and 
Local Government’s Homelessness Prevention Programme 
to expand our work with some of the most entrenched 
rough sleepers across Lincolnshire. This funding presents 
an opportunity to build on strong foundations to try, in 
partnership, something new and more innovative than 
previous traditional service models.

The service, ACTions Lincs is based on the premise that 
traditional methods of engagement do not meet the needs 
of the most vulnerable and will incorporate the support 
and coordination of other key services including the Mental 
Health Trust, Addaction, Lincolnshire CCG’s, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, Health Watch and Credit Union to take 
an holistic approach to the needs of rough sleepers.

This is a £1.3m fund, just one of eight social impact bond 

projects across England and the first complex needs project 
in Lincolnshire. The project launched in September 2017 
and will support 120 of the most entrenched and vulnerable 
homeless individuals intensively for a three and a half year 
period. The model adopts a housing first approach, and will 
be delivered through genuine collaboration and partnership. 
ACTion Lincs will provide life changing support to the most 
entrenched rough sleepers across the County. 

The project will be delivered by a team of specialists 
including a seconded drug and alcohol recovery worker 
and a seconded mental health practitioner. Crucially, 
once someone is accepted onto the program, then unlike 
traditional services, they will remain part of the program and 
support will be provided in any setting whether that be the 
street, hospital, prison or home. By offering support over a 
prolonged period of time, and by being flexible to meet the 
needs of the people that we are working with, we hope that 
it will give them the best opportunity of bringing about lasting 
change.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY?

Tackling rough sleeping will continue to form a major part 
of our work on homelessness. There is a need to build on 
relationships with key statutory and voluntary sector partners 
to address concerns and to tackle the barriers which prevent 
rough sleepers from moving away from the streets.

It is recognised that tackling homelessness is not simply a 
matter of increasing housing supply. To tackle the broader 
causes and symptoms of homelessness in Lincolnshire, 
there is a need for coordinated action; bringing together 
housing, health, criminal justice and employment 
commissioners and partners. At a time of increasing Pg 198



46

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

homelessness in Lincolnshire, there is a need to ensure 
that effective collaborative working is in place across each 
of these areas and that all partners and commissioners 
understand their roles and genuinely contribute to preventing 
homelessness even in the absence of national joined up 
policy.

At a national level the Homelessness Reduction Act provides 
an opportunity to include a duty to cooperate for other 
public bodies to comply with efforts to prevent and relieve 
homelessness, particularly for vulnerable groups. We will 
seek to engage with ongoing discussions regarding the 
Act. We will seek to engage with relevant strategic partners 
and commissioners, seeking to invite adoption of the 
homelessness strategy and action therein. Whilst a wider 
group of partners and stakeholders will continue to play an 
important role in homelessness prevention, the emergence of 
a group of strategic commissioners partners, focussed
on the prevention and reduction in homelessness across  
the county.

The need to ensure the availability of services and 
supported housing to meet the needs of those who are at 
risk of, or experience homelessness

Housing related support plays a vital role in preventing and 
relieving homelessness, particularly for vulnerable groups 
who are unable to access or sustain alternative housing 
options. It is important that the limited resources available 
are able to meet the needs of those customers in need, and 
that the services form part of a pathway to housing and 
independence. 

Thanks to Lincolnshire County Council’s ongoing 
commitment to preventing and tackling homelessness, 

Lincolnshire has not to date encountered the levels of 
reduction to housing related support provision experienced 
in other parts of the country. In 2014, the Public Health 
Directorate of Lincolnshire County Council recommissioned 
housing related support services in Lincolnshire. The revised 
model sought to provide transitional accommodation and 
support to a greater number of people – services were 
rationalised and an emphasis placed on throughput and 
more even distribution of services across Lincolnshire.

Whilst the recommissioning process has resulted in the 
loss of client group specific accommodation and support, 
the need to continue to address rough sleeping was 
integrated into the revised model as part of a countywide 
floating support service.  The development of an electronic 
referral system sought to improve areas such as ease of 
access to services, greater transparency, accountability and 
improved data capture to inform evidence of need and future 
commissioning.   The services commissioned as part of the 
revised model are available to:

• Former rough sleepers, and other single homeless 
people living in hostels, to move-on into self-contained 
accommodation;

• Recovering substance misusers, to settle down after 
treatment and rehabilitation;

• Offenders, who have lost their home while in prison, to 
plan for their release;

• People suffering domestic abuse to find new 
accommodation freeing themselves from abusive 
relationships

Pg 199



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

47

It is anticipated that housing related support services will 
be re-commisioned during the life of this strategy. A Public 
Health led review of the service as part of the commissioning 
cycle is currently underway, with a focus on:

• Rationale for current model
• Delivering outcomes 
• Future commissioning needs and alignment with  

other key areas of work (such as the Housing for  
Independence Strategy)

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR OUR STRATEGY? 

Access to stable and suitable accommodation plays a 
vital role in assisting vulnerable people to rebuild their 
lives. It is also important to genuinely work collectively and 
collaboratively to meet the needs of those at risk of, or 
experiencing homelessness and to make best use of the 
limited resources available to us in Lincolnshire. We will 
engage fully with the review of Housing Related Supported 
services, with a focus on ensuring that supported housing 
continues to be available to those who need it. We will seek 
to ensure that associated work streams (including housing 
for independence, the Housing Health and Care Delivery 
Group and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment) are 
aligned. We also seek to engage Lincolnshire County Council 
as a partner in adoption and delivery of this countywide 
homelessness strategy.

The emergence of a number of non-commissioned 
supported housing schemes, funded in the main through 
intensive housing management must also be considered as 
part of this strategy in terms of their role in preventing and 
tackling homelessness, their sustainability and opportunities 
to ensure a partnership approach to preventing and tackling 

homelessness across Lincolnshire.  We will seek to actively 
engage with providers of these services operating in 
Lincolnshire.

Pg 200



48

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

We have used the sections above on ‘national and local 
context and drivers for change’ (pages 21 – 33) and 
‘homelessness in context in Lincolnshire’ (pages 35 – 46) to 
formulate the following Key Priorities that we hope to focus 
on and achieve throughout the life of this strategy. We will 
meet these priorities through working to meet the actions 

set out in a Delivery Plan. Accompanying this strategy will 
be our first Delivery Plan which will run for the first two years 
following launch of the strategy. We will undertake a review 
of our Delivery Plan after 18 months and consider progress, 
whether it is still fit for purpose and whether other actions 
need to be added.

Priorities, Delivery Plan and 
Governance

Priority One:  Partnership Developing and maintaining strategic 
relationships and partnerships.

Priority Two:  Prevent Preventing homelessness wherever possible to 
do so.

Priority Three:  Protect Protecting the most vulnerable from experiencing 
homelessness including tackling rough sleeping. 

Priority Four:  Place Ensuring access to the right type of housing 
solution. 

Priority Five:  Possibility Ensuring a sustainable future for supported 
housing. 

 

The Key Priorities are:

Pg 201



49

Effective governance arrangements are key to 
driving change and improvements across the sector. 
Coordination of our Delivery Plan and associated work 
programmes will be the responsibility of Lincolnshire’s 
Homelessness Prevention Programme Manager. 
This post will be accountable to the Lincolnshire 
Homelessness Strategy Partnership. Any further 

demands will be met from a combination of existing 
resource, partnership working and any future funding 
from Government.

The following table sets out our governance 
arrangements and the key roles and responsibilities of 
those involved in making this strategy a success:

Context / Role

Homelessness 
Prevention 
Programme Manager

A countywide role funded by a grant from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government. 

Accountable to the Homelessness Strategy Partnership.

Homelessness 
Strategy Network 

Wide network of voluntary and statutory sector stakeholders working together to prevent and 
tackle homelessness in line with the objectives of the countywide homelessness strategy and 
delivery plan. Information sharing, collaboration and delivery.

Homelessness 
Strategy Partnership 
(Strategic)

Strategic partnerships comprising the District Councils, County Council and other key 
stakeholders from Health and Criminal Justice. Oversee the delivery of the Homelessness 
Strategy and ensure the delivery plan is responsive to emerging needs. Unblock and address 
key strategic issues that are impacting on homelessness.

Oversee the ACTion Lincs Project and steering group

Accountable to the District Housing Network.

Programme / Project 
Sponsorship

Within the homelessness strategy, work programmes / key projects may require strategic 
leadership from a member of the Homelessness Strategy Partnership. For these areas of work, a 
Local Authority programme /project sponsor will be agreed.

District Housing 
Network

Endorsed by the Lincolnshire Chief Executives Group as the senior housing group on 
Lincolnshire. Oversee the work and outcomes of the Homelessness Strategy Partnership.

Housing, Health and 
Care Delivery Group

A sub group of Lincolnshire’s Health & Wellbeing Board. Driving forward collaboration and 
integration between housing, health and care.

 

Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - 2021

Pg 202



South Holland District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01775 761161
Housing Advice/Needs: contact via SHDC  
Switchboard: 01775 761161

North Kesteven District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01529 308308
The Safe as Houses and Housing Options: contact via 
NKDC switchboard: 01529 414155

West Lindsey District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01427 613960
The Housing & Communities Team and Home Choices Team 
contact via WLDC switchboard: 01427 676676

East Lindsey District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 07766 776447
Housing Advice: 01507 613126

Boston Borough Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01205 362151
Housing Advice/Needs: 01205 314555

South Kesteven District Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01476 590044
Housing Advice/Needs: contact via SKDC  
switchboard – 01476 406080

City of Lincoln Council
Homelessness Out of Hours: 01522 534737
For housing advice contact the Property Shop:  
01522 873777 
Private Sector Housing team: 01522 873787

Pg 203



Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017-2021  

Delivery Plan

Below is our interagency homeless strategy delivery plan for years one and two. The strategy has 
been produced jointly by the local housing authorities and a variety of partnerships. This delivery 
plan highlights the key activities that are being taken forward to tackle homelessness across 
Lincolnshire. This delivery plan will be revised over the course of time to ensure that our actions 
remain relevant and focused to ensure maximum impact. 

Priority One: Developing and maintaining strategic relationships and partnerships

Activity
1.1 Seek commitment from key statutory and strategic partners to play their part in reducing 

and tackling homelessness in its many forms
1.2 Create a new forum for key strategic partners including health and social care to be more 

actively involved in the strategic planning and delivery of services and approaches
1.3 Ensure attendance from housing and homeless teams at the full range of partnerships, co-

ordinating actions and information
1.4 Contribute to the work of the Housing and Wellbeing sub group of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.
1.5 Support the pilot of the hospital in-reach housing service
1.6 Collaborate in the production of information leaflets for use in A&E and community health 

settings.
1.7 Produce a common referral form for the use by strategic and partner agencies in the 

delivery of the Homeless Reduction Act
1.8 Maintain homelessness forums in each of the districts and quarterly meetings of all districts 

to which all partners and stakeholders are welcome. 
1.9 Continue to play an active role supporting Lincolnshire’s Domestic Abuse Strategy and meet 

the ten standards of the charter. 
1.10 Continue to support work on the JSNA and to use the data strategic conversations and 

development of services
1.11 Work with LCC to produce the next Youth Housing Strategy and Protocol
1.12 Work with provider of Wellbeing Service to ensure homeless persons and those threatened 

with homelessness who are  eligible get a consistent service across Lincolnshire

Priority Two: Preventing homelessness

Activity
2.1 Undertake work to prepare each council and partner agencies for the implementation of the 

Homeless Reduction Act, including setting out additional staffing requirements, training 
requirements and new procedural arrangements. 

2.2 Review the approach to young people and care leavers in collaboration with Children’s 
Services

2.3 Work with LCC to develop a strategic approach to ensure a smooth transition for care 
leavers

2.4 Review current homeless prevention tools including the management of DHP budgets and 
rent deposit/bond schemes

2.5 Provide training to staff and stakeholders in relation to new processes adopted as a 
consequence of the homeless Reduction Act

Pg 204



2.6 Develop approaches across social landlords which promote tenancy sustainment 
2.7 Engage private sector landlords to ensure that more people can remain in their 

accommodation
2.8 Minimise the impacts of universal credit by providing advice to vulnerable customers, 

encouraging RSL partners to do the same
2.9 Review the main causes of homelessness to effectively target prevention activity
2.10 Review accommodation pathways to ensure the needs of former Forces personnel are met
2.11 Facilitate networking and training across relevant staff groups working in local authority 

housing and homeless teams. 
2.12 Work with supported accommodation providers to ensure residents with no local 

connection are reconnected and not made homeless at end of stay.
2.13 To review evictions from supported accommodation to establish how this can be reduced

Priority Three: Protecting the most vulnerable from experiencing homelessness including tackling 
rough sleeping

Activity
3.1 Implement the successful Social Impact Bond award working with P3, LCC and other 

stakeholders
3.2 Set up a SIB steering group to provide overall governance of the SIB
3.3 Submit a bid to DCLG to facilitate work with those who are homeless with no recourse to 

public funds and not able to find work
3.4 Consider the options of a Housing First approach across Lincolnshire using learning from SIB

Priority Four: Ensuring access to the right type of housing solution

Activity
4.1 Consider new initiatives which are attractive to private sector landlords and can enable 

those on benefits or low incomes to access and maintain accommodation.
4.2 Review opportunities for increased provision of shared housing 
4.3 Consider alternative approaches to ensure the use of B&B isn’t used or continues to be 

minimised
4.4 Explore links with Better Care Fund and support for Delayed Transfers Of Care with regard to 

the provision of adapted temporary accommodation for disabled homeless people

Priority Five Ensuring a sustainable future for supported housing

Activity
5.1 Work with the commissioners of housing related support services in their review of how 

services meet need including number of bed-spaces and length of stay where service user 
has complex needs.

5.2 Explore options for the provision of non-commissioned supported accommodation
5.3 Monitor allocations policies and move on outcomes to ensure that flows from supported 

housing are achieved but social housing is not the only form of move on. 
5.4 Ensure a strategic response is taken to planned supported housing funding changes

Pg 205



Equality Analysis Template June 2016 1

Equality Analysis (EA): service/function

Name of the service/function: Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy
Lead officer for this EA: Phil Taylor (commissioned by West Lindsey District Council on behalf of Lincolnshire’s 7 district councils)

1) Please list all the key elements within the service/function covered by this EA:

The Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy meets the statutory requirement placed on local housing authorities by the Housing Act 1996 
Part VII (As Amended by the Homelessness Act 2002) to undertake a review of homelessness in their area and to publish a strategy 
setting out the authorities plan to tackle it.

2) Identify any elements of the service/function aimed at or impacting on people who share a protected characteristic.

Protected Characteristics Service / function
Race: people from different ethnic groups There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Sex: men and women There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Disability: physical or mental There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Religion/belief: people from different faith groups with or without a belief There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Sexual orientation: lesbian, gay or bisexual people. There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Age: older or younger people There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Gender reassignment: the process of transitioning from one gender to another There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Pregnancy or maternity There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Marriage or civil partnership There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Other groups (e.g. from deprived (IMD) communities; from rural communities) There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.

P
g 206



Equality Analysis Template June 2016 2

3) Have you identified differences in need for those with a protected characteristic?

Protected Characteristics Identified differences
Race: people from different ethnic groups There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Sex: men and women There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Disability: physical or mental There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Religion/belief: people from different faith groups with or without a belief There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Sexual orientation: lesbian, gay or bisexual people. There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Age: older or younger people There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Gender reassignment: the process of transitioning from one gender to another There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Pregnancy or maternity There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Marriage or civil partnership There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.
Other groups (e.g. from deprived (IMD) communities; from rural communities) There is no evidence that this policy would impact on people in 

any way because of this characteristic.

4) Have you identified evidence of an adverse equality impact on those with a protected characteristic? What actions have you taken to mitigate any 
adverse equality impact on those with a protected characteristic?

Protected Characteristics Evidence of adverse equality impact Mitigating action
Race: people from different ethnic groups
Sex: men and women
Disability: physical or mental
Religion/belief: people from different faith groups with 
or without  a belief
Sexual orientation: lesbian, gay or bisexual people. 
Age: older or younger people
Gender reassignment: the process of transitioning 
from one gender to another

P
g 207



Equality Analysis Template June 2016 3

Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
Other groups (e.g. from deprived (IMD) communities; 
from rural communities)

5) Have you identified evidence of a beneficial equality impact on those with a protected characteristic? (E.g. fostering good relations, advancing 
equality of opportunity, etc.)

Protected Characteristics Beneficial equality impact
Race: people from different ethnic groups
Sex: men and women
Disability: physical or mental
Religion/belief: people from different faith groups with or without a belief
Sexual orientation: lesbian, gay or bisexual people. 
Age: older or younger people
Gender reassignment: the process of transitioning from one gender to another
Pregnancy or maternity
Marriage or civil partnership
Other groups (e.g. from deprived (IMD) communities; from rural communities)

6) In considering the above information, have any gaps in data or equalities information been identified?

7) Outcomes of analysis and recommendations to Equality Board (delete as applicable and provide evidence to support the recommendations)

Outcome of EA Recommendation Record specific action/s to be taken
Equality analysis has not 
identified any potential for 
discrimination for adverse 
impact and all 
opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken          

No major changes 
to the service 
needed

The Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy underpins the delivery of statutory duties placed on 
the authority by the Housing Act. The legislation makes provision equally across all protected 
characteristics and there are no elements of deliberately unfairness of treatment or 
disadvantage.

As part of their wider equalities work authorities should look to undertake reviews of those 
accessing services in relation to protected characteristics to consider whether any positive 
targeting activity is proportionate in their area.

P
g 208



Equality Analysis Template June 2016 4

Signature of lead officer:
Date:

Date agreed by Equality Board:

P
g 209



Equality Analysis Template June 2016 5

Supporting notes:

Possible negative impacts to consider:

 Direct discrimination - when someone is deliberately treated unfairly due to an irrelevant characteristic, such as their race, gender, age, disability, 
religion/belief or sexual orientation.

 Indirect discrimination - when a criterion or practice is applied to everyone but has the effect of putting a particular group at a disadvantage.  

 Unmet needs - specific requirements of particular groups that might be overlooked.  This may not be against the law, but doing so may have a 
negative effect on different groups, preventing them from accessing a service, applying for a job or taking part in society for example.

If you identify unmet needs you should consider how you can make your service more inclusive and accessible for all groups. E.g.:
 Providing information in different formats
 Delivering the service in a different way for different groups
 Publicising the service in different ways and in different places so more people can learn about it
 Raising awareness and/or training for relevant staff delivering the service

Examples of completed EAs and more detail for each of the protected characteristics is held in Alfresco: http://davinci:8080/share/page/site/corporate-
documents/documentlibrary#filter=path%7C%2FEquality%2520and%2520Diversity%7C&page=1 

Key points to remember:

 The objective is not simply to complete this template, but to understand how your service impacts on people who share a protected characteristic
 The time and effort involved should be in proportion to the importance of the service to equality and good relations.
 Equality analysis involves looking for what steps could be taken to advance equality as well as eliminate discrimination, including any action to 

meet the needs of those affected or to remove or minimise disadvantage.
 Without good evidence, good equality analysis will be difficult to achieve. A lack of information is never an excuse for not analysing the effect on 

equality, as some evidence will almost always be available. Where it isn’t available, take steps to gather it.
 The insights from engagement with employees, service users, trade unions and others affected are important evidence for your equality analysis.

P
g 210

http://davinci:8080/share/page/site/corporate-documents/documentlibrary#filter=path%7C%2FEquality%2520and%2520Diversity%7C&page=1
http://davinci:8080/share/page/site/corporate-documents/documentlibrary#filter=path%7C%2FEquality%2520and%2520Diversity%7C&page=1


 

 

 
 

Cabinet 

 
Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

Cabinet Member for Environment 
 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 

Cabinet 
 
11th January 2018 

 
Pilot Food Waste Collection Service (ENV674) 
 

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

 Delegation to Cabinet Member 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

 
Report author: 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
Signed off by: 
 
 
 
Approved for 
publication 

 
Keith Rowe – Service Manager, Street Care 
Tel: 01476 406370  E-mail: k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 17th December 2017 
 
Ian Yates – Assistant Director, Environment 
Tel: 01476 406201  E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 18th December 2017 
 
Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director, Environment and Property 
Tel 01476 403058 E-mail:  t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 20th December 2017 
 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Environment 
Date: 20th December 2017 
 

 

SUMMARY 
In revising the Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (LJMWMS), 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) has looked for a Waste Collection Authority to pilot a 
food waste collection service so that the impact of introducing such a service can be 
evaluated on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP). SKDC’s 
representation on the LJMWMS has, since April, been focused on ensuring that 
innovation and a circular waste economy is part of the waste strategy. Our involvement 
in this trial exhibits our commitment as a team player in the waste management 
process. This report sets out a proposal by this District Council to introduce a pilot 
scheme of weekly food waste collections to approximately 4700 properties in the 
district, with the additional operational collection costs being funded by LCC. 

Pg 211



 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that: 
 
 

1. Cabinet supports the principle to pilot a food waste collection service for 
approximately 4,700 properties in the South Kesteven district over 12 months, 
funded by Lincolnshire County Council on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership. 
 

2. Authority to approve and implement the scheme on terms to be agreed with 
Lincolnshire County Council is delegated to the Cabinet Member for 
Environment. 

 
 

 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 

1.1 The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the 7 Waste 
Collection Authorities (Districts and the City), the Waste Disposal Authority 
(Lincolnshire County Council) and the Environment Agency as the partners 
responsible for managing the municipal waste produced in Lincolnshire. 
Through this partnership a Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
(JMWMS) is produced providing the strategic framework through which all the 
partners manage the waste produced. The current 2008 strategy is now under 
review with a focus on innovation and new ways of working to deliver the 
intended outcomes. 

 
1.2 Good progress has been made towards the goals as set out in 2008; with 

recycling rates continuing upwards from around 12% to around 46% in 2017 
and the diversion of residual waste from landfill to the new energy from waste 
(EFW) plant at North Hykeham. The strategy was not designed to rely entirely 
on EFW to meet all the landfill diversion targets. The intention was to ensure 
the waste hierarchy was supported through waste prevention, re use, recycling 
and then energy from waste with landfill being a final option.  

 
1.3 In respect of Lincolnshire, the graph produced by Lincolnshire County Council 

below demonstrates the shift away from landfill, the increasing volume of 
residual waste being produced and the growing levels of rejected materials 
(contamination) from the Materials Recycling Facility (MRF). The contamination 
is often due to food waste. 

 

Pg 212



 

 

 
 
 
 
1.4 The graph produced by Lincolnshire County Council below demonstrates the 

downward trend in the overall level of materials recycled across Lincolnshire. 
This reflects the national picture. Currently, the most common methods of 
recycling in Lincolnshire are by means of the co-mingled wheeled bin fortnightly 
and dedicated green waste wheeled bin collections. There are no separate 
weekly food waste collections. 
 

 
 
 

Pg 213



 

 

 Food Waste Collections 
 
1.5 As part of the development of the new LJMWMS a number of different 

approaches are being considered, including the option for countywide food 
waste collections. This could help reduce the amount of waste being sent to the 
EFW plant, improve recycling rates and reduce levels of food contamination in 
the recycled waste. In order to assess the impact of food waste collections in 
Lincolnshire, the County Council has requested support from a Waste 
Collection Authority to pilot an approach. 
 

 1.6 A pilot food waste collection service would enable the assessment of the 
following over varying geographical and demographic areas:- 

 

 the amount of food waste that can be collected on a weekly basis 

 the levels of participation and customer acceptance 

 the collection costs 

 the impact on the different waste streams i.e. residual and recycling 

 the impact on the volume of residual waste sent to the EFW plant 

 the impact on recycling rates 
 

 
The Case for a Pilot 
 

1.7 There are a number of operational options to enable the collection of food 
waste. This can be achieved using dedicated food waste vehicles or by using 
standard refuse collection vehicles with food “pods” built into the vehicle, 
allowing one vehicle to collect the wheelie bin loads at the same time as the 
food waste on a weekly basis. Depending on the approach taken it is estimated 
that a 12 month pilot would cost in the region of £210,000 taking all costs into 
account (subject to procurement processes). These additional costs associated 
with the pilot would be wholly funded by LCC. 

  
1.8 It is intended that the pilot food waste service would operate on an existing 

collection round, making it possible to measure the impact of the service on the 
residual and recycled waste streams. The selected round covers different 
geographical and demographical areas of the District, collecting from 
approximately 4,700 properties. This is expected to result in an average of 
around 1.3kg of food waste being collected per property over the period of the 
pilot, amounting to a possible 320 tonnes per annum. A smaller pilot scheme 
will not deliver scales of economy in terms of collection costs compared to a 
District wide scheme.   

 
1.9  The pilot results will be shared with the LWP, allowing the partnership to make 

informed decisions for the future waste strategy. A separate study modelling the 
costs and benefits of a food waste collection service has been funded through 
the national Waste Resources Action Programme (WRAP) with results 
expected shortly. However, it is estimated that the countywide food recycling 
costs could be significant. Despite this, it is important that any future decisions 
are based on the overall end goals of the LWP. 

 
 
 

Pg 214



 

 

1.10 To maximise participation, an appropriate communications strategy will be 
required.  This will also need to take account of the potential for the pilot not to 
develop into a full and ongoing food waste service if the final evaluation 
identifies that the costs outweigh the benefits. 

  
2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 LCC have requested support from a Waste Collection Authority to pilot a food 

waste collection service. There is an option not to give the support and allow 
another Waste Collection Authority to provide the pilot service. 

   
3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
3.1 The County Council have indicated their ability to fund the additional costs of a 

pilot, however, commitment to future funding for the service may not be 
secured. This pilot is subject to written confirmation of the funding arrangement 
and securing the plant, equipment and appropriate food waste disposal and 
treatment arrangements. 

 
 
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  
 
4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 

included in the table below: 
 

 

Category Risk Action / Controls 

Funding for the scheme is 
not available 

Partnership agreement to gain 
commitment in advance 

Customer participation is 
not maximised 

Communication plan to be in place 
educating and encouraging customers 
to participate 

Procurement of plant and 
equipment and sourcing an 
appropriate 
disposal/treatment facility 

Project plans to be prepared and 
commitments agreed before final sign 
off 

Adverse customer impact if 
a successful scheme is 
withdrawn 

Communication strategy to ensure 
customers understanding of any future 
decisions 

 
 
5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 

etc.) 
 
5.1 The food waste collection pilot will utilise our existing “assisted collections” 

arrangements. However, a review of the existing equality impacts assessments 
will be undertaken prior to the service being implemented. 

  
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
  
6.1 None. 
  

Pg 215



 

 

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 
7.1 Care should be taken that no expenditure relating to this project is undertaken 

until formal confirmation is received from by the County Council agreeing that 
they will fully underwrite costs, thus ensuring there is no further burden to the 
tax payer. 

 
8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
8.1 As a waste collection authority, the District Council, has a duty to collect 

household waste free of charge in accordance with the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. Food waste is collected in general household waste black 
bins. Currently, there is no legal requirement for the separate collection of food 
waste. The provision of such a service would be at the discretion of each 
collection authority. 

 
8.2 The proposed pilot scheme for the separate collection of food waste from an 

area of the district will be delivered by the District Council on terms to be agreed 
with the waste disposal authority, Lincolnshire County Council. The terms of 
such an agreement have yet to be settled and it is proposed that the agreement 
of those terms is delegated to the Cabinet Member for Environment. 
 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  
 
9.1 None.  
 
10.  APPENDICES 
  
10.1 None. 
  
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  
11.1 None. 

Pg 216



 

 

 
 

Cabinet 

 
Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

Cabinet Member for Environment 
 

 

Report to: 
 
Date: 
 
Subject: 

Cabinet 
 
11th January 2018 

 
Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (ENV675) 
 

 

Decision 
Proposal: 

 Delegation to Cabinet Members 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member: 

 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

 
Report author: 
 
 
 
Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
Signed off by: 
 
 
 
Approved for 
publication 

 
Keith Rowe – Service Manager, Street Care 
Tel: 01476 406370  E-mail: k.rowe@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 17th December 2017 
 
Ian Yates – Assistant Director, Environment 
Tel: 01476 406201  E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 18th December 2017 
 
Tracey Blackwell – Strategic Director, Environment and Property 
Tel 01476 403058 E-mail:  t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 20th December 2017 
 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Environment 
Date: 20th December 2017 
 

 

SUMMARY 
There is an opportunity for the Council to demonstrate its strong commitment and 
support for electric vehicles by providing a charging point infrastructure in its “off street” 
car parks within the main towns. As take up of electric vehicles increases this 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment to lead by example and take the initiative by 
investing in new technology for the benefit of residents, businesses and visitors. 
 

 

Pg 217



 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that: 
 

1. Cabinet supports the principle to introduce electric vehicle charging points in 
appropriate Council owned car parks across the District. 

2. The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee work with the Cabinet 
Member for Environment to develop a scheme for delivery of charging points. 

3. Delegated authority be given to the Cabinet Member for Environment and the 
Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy, to approve and implement the 
final scheme for delivery of charging points. 

 

 
 
1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT 
 
1.1 The Government has made a clear commitment to improve air quality and meet 

emission targets.  This commitment supports the development of Ultra Low 
Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) and bans the sale of new diesel and petrol vehicles 
from sale in the UK from 2040. 

 
1.2 South Kesteven declared an Air Quality Management Area in the centre of 

Grantham in 2013 and in response developed an Air Quality Action Plan.  This 
contains a number of measures which will be supported by the initiative being 
put forward in this report (see section 11 below, for link to the Air Quality Action 
Plan). 
 

1.3 Currently, there are limited publicly accessible electric vehicle charging points in 
the District. This does not incentivise ownership of electric vehicles or facilitate 
vehicle charging for visitors to the area. The provision of electric vehicle 
charging points would support the increase in electric vehicle ownership and 
also demonstrate the Council’s commitment to lead by example and take the 
initiative by utilising new technology.  

 
1.4 A vehicle charging infrastructure could be introduced within the Council’s own 

off- street car parking sites.  These are located across the four main towns and 
provide an opportunity to easily and quickly install a suitable network.  Studies 
and site surveys are currently being undertaken to establish the suitability of 
sites for the introduction of dual stations (enabling two vehicles to be charged 
simultaneously).  

 
 Benefits 
 
1.5 This approach demonstrates the Council’s leadership and willingness to invest 

for the future of its residents by providing the following benefits:- 
 

 Assists in the improvement of air quality within the District specifically in 
Grantham where there is an Air Quality Management Area. 

 Supports and encourages the “visitor economy” by allowing visitors to 
charge their vehicles whilst spending time in our towns. 

 Encourages residents to switch to electric vehicles 
  

Pg 218



 

 

 Indicative Costs 
 
1.6 There are other factors which will need to be further explored, including the type 

of charging connector point, the speed of connection and the method of 
payment.     

  
1.7 The following table provides a comparison of charging types, power supply 

requirements, estimated charging times and purchase costs per unit, excluding 
services. Further details relating to “fast charge” units are provided in Appendix 
A.  

 

Type of Charge Fully Charged Time  Indicative Cost £ 

Slow A/C 3.7kW 8-12 hours 400 

Fast A/C 7kW 4-6 hours 700 

Fast AC/DC 20kW 1-2 hours 12,000 

Rapid 3-phase 50kW 20-30 minutes (80% 
charged) 

18,000 

  
 Government Funding 
 
1.8 Government grant funding is available to support electric vehicle charging 

points through a number of schemes:- 
 

 Home Charge – up to 75% of the costs of installing charge points at 
domestic properties 

 Workplace  - voucher based scheme to support up-front costs of the 
purchase and installation of electric vehicle charge points for dedicated 
employee spaces only 

 On Street Residential Charge Point Scheme 

 Air Quality Grant Programme for those with a designated air quality 
management area 

 
It is our intention to evaluate the most appropriate scheme in order to maximise 
the external financial support. This includes approaching third parties and 
vehicle manufacturers to seek their support. 
 
Electric Vehicle Market Size 

 
1.9 Sales of electric plug-in cars started to increase from 2014. In 2016, 36,907 

plug-in electric vehicles were registered. In the first 6 months of 2017, 22,348 
new electric or plug-in hybrid vehicles were registered, up 15 % on the same 
period in 2016. Market share of new car sales now stands at 1.5%. The graph 
below shows how plug-ins have been capturing a larger share of the market. 
 

Pg 219



 

 

 
 
1.10  The market for electric vehicles is growing with numerous sale forecasts which 

range from 100,000 to 1,500,000 new sales in approximately 8 years’ time. In 
2016 Britain sold almost 37,000 units, second only to Norway in Europe.  

 
1.11 The technology to support the range vehicles can travel and their capabilities is 

constantly improving. These improvements will help electric vehicles to become 
more mainstream. The intention is to incorporate a number of electric vehicles 
into the Council’s fleet and the associated charging points, as part of this 
initiative. 

  
2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
  
2.1 Any future final scheme will need to carefully consider the funding 

arrangements, such as the availability of grant support and the potential for third 
party provision.  

  
3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
3.1 The intention is to utilise the existing capital financing available from within the 

Council’s vehicle replacement programme subject to final scheme and 
associated costs. Any future options will also look to set appropriate fees for 
using the facility. These will need to be set at an appropriate time. 

 
4. RISK AND MITIGATION  
 
4.1 Risk will be considered before any final scheme is approved. 

 
5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 

etc.) 
 
5.1 This will be considered as part of the development of any final scheme. 
 

Pg 220



 

 

  
6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 This will be considered as part of the development of any final scheme. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 
7.1 Savings on vehicle procurement have created an under spend of £117K which 

could be utilised in 2017/18. If the expenditure is undertaken in 2018/19 
additional approvals will be required. Careful attention must be paid when 
setting fees and charges, mindful of both cost recovery and the local market. 

 
8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
  
8.1 The National Planning Policy Framework states (para35) that ‘Plans should 

protect and exploit opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for 
the movement of goods or people. Therefore, developments should be located 
and designed where practical to […] incorporate facilities for charging plug-in 
and other ultra-low emission vehicles’   

 
8.2 Any proposed infrastructure could be considered as part of the planning policy 

for the area. In addition, it could be considered in respect of individual planning 
developments or, in this case, through non-planning routes where provision is 
flexible. This could be useful where levels of provision have not yet been 
established. 

 
8.3 Local authorities in the UK have a responsibility under Local Air Quality 

Management (LAQM) legislation to review air quality. Where concentrations 
exceed national objectives, measures should be put in place to reduce 
emissions.  
 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES  
 
9.1 None 
 
10.  APPENDICES 
  
10.1 Appendix A Indicative Fast Charge Unit Costings 
  
11.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  
11.1 South Kesteven Air Quality Action Plan 

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17687&p=0  
 

  

Pg 221

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=17687&p=0


 

 

Appendix A  
 
Indicative Fast Charge Unit Costings 

 
The costs set out below are estimates based on current information. The car parks are 
being surveyed with regards to the ideal positioning of the charging units based on the 
proximity of power sources etc. Until such information is available an assumption has 
been made where the charging point is within 10 metres of a source of power hook up. 
Cost of electrical cables etc, provided by Western Power installations. 
 

Fast Charge units (20kW)                                                         £12,000.00 (approx.) 

10 metres of cable @£11.00 per metre                                    £     110.00 

10 metres of ground works @ £70.00 per 
metre 

£     700.00 

Commissioning per unit                                                            £     150.00 

Data Package (communicating unit)                                        £     360.00 (for 3 years) 

Revenue Recovery (to claim back 
electricity costs 

£     190.00 

Signage & Painting of bays £  1,000.00 

Maintenance       £     249.00 

  

Total costs of double unit                                                             £14,759.00 

 
 
  

Pg 222



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

11th January 2018

Proposed changes to Car Park Tariffs – Welham Street, 
Grantham

Report No:   PD0074

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Nick Robins
Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Paul Stokes - Service Manager - Venues and Town Centre
Management
Tel: 01476 40 6410 E-mail: p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 18 December 2017

Neil Cucksey – Assistant Director - Property
Tel: 01476 406224 E-mail: n.cucksey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 21 December 2017

Steve Ingram - Strategic Director - Development & Growth
Tel: 01476 40 60 07 E-mail: s.ingram@southkesteven.gov.uk   
Date: 21 December 2017

Councillor Nick Robins E-mail: nick.robins@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Cabinet Member - Retail and Visitor Economy
Date: 21 December 2017

Pg 223

mailto:p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.cucksey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:s.ingram@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nick.robins@southkesteven.gov.uk


SUMMARY

Cabinet previously considered report No PD0024 on 12th October 2017. That report 
proposed amendments to the car parking tariffs at Welham Street Grantham in order to 
complement the adjoining leisure offer that is being developed. Cabinet considered 
recommendations made by the Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
amended the proposals accordingly.  Authority was also granted for the consultation 
process to commence in order to make the necessary amendments to the Order. This 
report sets out the outcome of that consultation.

RECOMMENDATION

The Cabinet is asked to consider the consultation responses and objections to 
determine the recommendations to Council in respect of proposed changes to the 
South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 
2017 (as attached at Appendix 1).  

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Cabinet previously considered report No PD0024 on 12th October 2017. That 
report proposed amendments to the car parking tariffs at Welham Street 
Grantham in order to complement the adjoining leisure offer that is currently 
being developed. Cabinet considered recommendations made by the Growth 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and amended the proposals accordingly.  
Authority was also granted for the consultation process to commence in order to 
make the necessary amendments to the Order. The consultation on the 
proposed changes to the car parking tariffs was commenced and ended on the 
29th December 2017. Any further responses to the consultation following 
publication of this report and the consultation deadline will be provided to the 
Cabinet. 

1.2 The proposed new Parking Order amends the existing 2017 Parking Order; 
South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places 
Order 2017 (“Existing Parking Order”). The amendments are identifiable in red 
on the tracked changed document at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.3 The “Leisure tariff” for Welham Street car park forms part of the proposed 
Heads of Terms developed with the preferred cinema operator for the new 5 
screen cinema as part of the St Peter’s Hill development. The development also 
includes new restaurants. The “Leisure tariff” is required to assist in establishing 
this new leisure venue as the destination of choice for those customers within a 
15 to 30 minute drive time catchment area. The tariff would be for a maximum 
stay of 4 hours and only applicable to Welham Street car park in Grantham. 
Customers using this car park for all day parking or shorter stays would pay the 
prevailing charge. The “Leisure tariff” would be available to anyone using the 
car park as well as supporting those customers that wish to experience the offer 
at the cinema, restaurant or Guildhall Arts Centre.

Pg 224



1.4 Cinema films vary considerably in length, however most fall within 120-200 
minutes (2-3hrs) running time. The “Leisure tariff” for a maximum of 4 hrs would 
therefore support a visit before 6:00pm to the cinema or Guildhall Arts Centre 
and a restaurant meal before or after a show. Equally it could be used by 
anyone accessing the town centre for a variety of reasons. However, the 
primary purpose of the targeted “Leisure Tariff” is to help establish the new 
destination for a leisure experience in Grantham town centre.

1.5 The stated St. Peter’s Hill - Cinema redevelopment project objectives are:
1) To provide a viable, contemporary, state of the art multi-screen cinema 

complex.
2) To support and enable development of a diverse daytime and evening 

economy through the creation of associated new A3 restaurant space.
3) To improve the attractiveness of the public realm both in, leading to and 

around the scheme.
4) To improve pedestrian access and connectivity to the wider town centre 

and to fundamentally extend the ‘dwell time’ of visitors.
5) To act and attract as a stimulus and a destination for further investment in 

town centre.

It is considered that the introduction of a “Leisure tariff” will support the 
achievement of these defined objectives.

1.6 The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 gives Local Authorities power to provide 
parking places and regulate the use of the parking place by way of a Parking 
Order. Welham Street car park is currently a long and short stay car park which 
is regulated by the South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street 
Parking Places Order 2017. The proposed changes include the provision of 
Welham Street car park as a long stay car park only. In that respect a further 
change was proposed to increase the tariff for vehicles parked for longer than 6 
hours.

1.7 The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 gives Local Authorities power to provide 
parking places and regulate the use of the parking place by way of a Parking 
Order, providing that consultation is carried out with the statutory bodies 
(Freight Transport Association, the Road Haulage Association, the Chief Officer 
of Police and the local Highway Authority – Lincolnshire County Council) and 
the general public. The consultation must be in accordance with Local 
Authorities Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996. 

1.8 The consultation consisted of writing to and sending a copy of the New Parking 
Order to those statutory bodies and publishing, at least once, a notice of the 
proposals in a local newspaper circulating in the area to which the Order 
relates. Also, a notice was placed in the affected areas. The same notice and a 
copy of the New Parking Order was also be made available for inspection at the 
Council’s Customer Service Area. The consultation expired on the 29th 
December 2017.  To date, we have received 16 written objections concerning 
the proposed level of increase to £10.00 for more than 6 hours parking.  The 
main objectors are local businesses or people employed within the area. See 
attached at Appendix 2 for the details of the objections.

Pg 225



1.9 The basis of the objections received to date can be summarised as follows;

 The proposed charge for over 6 hrs will displace those seeking all day 
parking on to unrestricted streets in the area such as Dudley Road. 

 The proposed over 6 hr charge will impact workers on the minimum 
wage, students on low income and volunteers working in the near area. 

 Long term all day users feel aggrieved at the proposed increase in the 
all-day charge as they feel they have made a significant financial 
contribution over the years. 

 Lack of alternative long stay off road parking. 

 Lack of clarity on whether season tickets will still be available in Welham 
Street car park after the proposed tariffs are brought in. 

 Perception that Council employees will be allowed to park free all day at 
the expense of Council tax payers. 

 Lack of an effective public transport system means workers from 
surrounding villages have little option but to come to work in Grantham in 
a car and need all day parking. 

 Council seen as profiteering with the proposed over 6-hr charge.   
 

Cabinet now needs to appropriately consider the basis of these objections and 
to thereby make further recommendations to Council having fully evaluated 
them.

Having regard to the nature of these objections it is suggested that Cabinet 
needs to specifically consider the basis of the proposed long stay parking 
charge.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Initially a car park charge rebate scheme to cinema customers was promoted to 
the Council by the Cinema operator but was rejected in further negotiations 
over the development of the Heads of Terms.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
 

3.1 The implementation of the Order can be achieved within existing resources. 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
None identified in relation to 
this report 

Pg 226



5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1      Further assessment is not required.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Parking in off street parking places can be regulated by Order to prevent 
misuse. Crime and disorder implications increase if an Order is not made and 
car parking cannot be regulated.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 The Welham Street car park in Grantham (levels 3-6) is one of 2 car parks in 
the town that is classified as a long stay car park and the tariff rates are 
currently structured to support this classification.   Therefore any significant 
variation to the current tariff rates would require a change to the car park 
classification.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 Any Order regulating parking must be implemented in accordance with the 
provisions of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, which includes consultation 
with the regulatory statutory bodies and members of the public. The process for 
introducing a new order is contained in the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996.  Any objections received 
must be taken into consideration before the proposed Order is introduced.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None received. 

10. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Current South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-
Street Parking Places Order 2017 incorporating proposed changes shown as 
tracked changes

Appendix 2 - Comments received during consultation period

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

As referred to in the body of the report. 

Pg 227



 
 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

CIVIL ENFORCEMENT OFF- STREET PARKING PLACES ORDER 

20172018 

 

South Kesteven District Council (“the Council”) in exercise of its powers under 

Section 35 and Schedule 9 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 as 

amended (“the 1984 Act”) and the Traffic Management Act 2004 (“the 2004 

Act”) and of all other enabling powers and with the consent of the Lincolnshire 

County Council given under Section 39(3) of the 1984 Act and after consultation 

with the Chief Officer of Police in accordance with Part III of Schedule 9 of the 

1984 Act and in compliance with regulations made under the Act make the 

following Order:- 

 

PART I – GENERAL 

 

1. This Order is made on the 20th April 2017 and will come into effect on the 

8th May 2017 and may be cited as the South Kesteven District Council 

Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 20172018. 

 

2. The South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking 

Places Order 2012 2017 and all subsequent variations or amendments are 

revoked by this Order. 

 

3. (1) Any reference in this Order to a numbered Article is a reference to 

the Article bearing that number in this Order and any reference in 

this Order to “the Schedule” is a reference to the Schedule to this 

Order.  

 

 (2) In this Order – except where the context otherwise requires – the 

following expressions shall have the meanings respectively 

assigned to them:- 

 

  “Cashless Parking”, means a cashless prepayment made via a 

telephone, smartphone, computer or other method, allowing a 

Pg 228



 
 

vehicle to park for a period of time.  When that time runs out the 

vehicle is required to leave the Parking Place; 

 

  “charging hours” – means any period specified in column 5 of Part 

I of the Schedule on any day prescribed in column 4 of Part I of 

the Schedule as a day when charges are payable. 

 

  “civil enforcement officer” – means the officer appointed by or on 

behalf of the Council to supervise the parking places. 

 

  “Council” – means South Kesteven District Council situated at St. 

Peter’s Hill Grantham Lincolnshire NG31 6PZ. 

 

  “disabled person’s badge” – has the same meaning as in the 

Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor Vehicles) (England) 

Regulations 2000 and shall include a badge issued under 

regulations having effect in Scotland or Wales under s21 of the 

Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970. 

 

  “disabled person’s vehicle” – means a vehicle driven by a disabled 

person, or used at the time of parking for the carriage of a disabled 

person as defined in the above Regulations. 

 

  “driver” – means the person driving the vehicle at the time it was 

left in the parking place.  

 

  “owner” – means the person by whom the vehicle is kept and for 

the purposes of this Order it shall be presumed that the owner was 

the person in whose name the vehicle was at the relevant time 

registered under the provisions of the Vehicle Excise and 

Registration Act 1994 and “registered keeper” shall be construed 

accordingly. 

  

Pg 229



 
 

  “motorcycle” – means a solo motorcycle only and excludes any 

motorcycle which has a side car or trailer or which has more than 

two wheels. 

 

  “parking bay” – means the area of a parking place which is 

provided for the leaving of the vehicle and indicated by markings 

on the surface of the parking place. 

 

  “parking place” – means any area of land specified in column 1 of 

Part I and Part II of the Schedule provided by the Council in 

pursuance of Section 32 (1) of the 1984 Act for use as a parking 

place. 

 

  “parking ticket meter” and “ticket issuing machine” – means such 

apparatus or device as may from time to time be provided by the 

Council and situated in the parking place for the purpose of Article 

5 of this Order. 

 

  “Pass” means a voucher issued by the Council on such terms and 

conditions as it shall be decided, permitting a Driver to leave a 

vehicle in a Parking Place without the purchase and display of a 

Pay and Display Ticket, Resident Car Park Permit, Season Ticket 

or through the Cashless payment scheme or displaying a disabled 

driver’s badge and clock.  A Pass may include a Council Member 

Pass and a Council Staff Pass; 

  

  “Pay and Display Ticket” means a ticket issued by a Parking Ticket 

Machine indicating the payment of the charge, the date on which 

the ticket is valid and the time that paid for parking runs out when 

the vehicle is required to leave the Parking Place; 

 

  “Penalty Charge” has the same meaning as in Section 92 of the 

2004 Act; The penalty charge shall be set at Band 2 as set out in 

Pg 230



 
 

Section 1 of the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions 

(Guidelines on Levels of Charges) (England) Order 2007; 

 

  “Penalty Charge Notice” means a notification of a Penalty Charge 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 78 of the 2004 Act and the 

Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General 

Regulations 2007;  

 

  “Relevant Position” means 

(a) In respect of a Disabled Person’s Badge 

(i) The Badge is shown inside the windscreen on the 

dashboard or fascia of the vehicle, or 

(ii) where the vehicle is not fitted with a dashboard, 

fascia or windscreen, the Badge is shown in a 

conspicuous position on the vehicle 

   and in each case so that the date of expiry, the name of 

the issuing authority and the serial number are clearly 

visible and able to be read easily from outside the vehicle, 

and 

(b) in respect of Pass, Pay and Display Ticket, Season Ticket, 

(i) The Pass, Pay and Display Ticket, Season Ticket, is 

shown inside the windscreen, or 

(ii) In the case where of a vehicle is not fitted with a 

dashboard, the Pass, Pay and Display Ticket, or 

Season Ticket must be displayed in a conspicuous 

position on or in the vehicle 

  and in each case so that the front face and all of the information 

including any expiry time and date, any date of validity and any 

reference number is able to be read easily from outside the 

vehicle; 

 

“Restricted Area”, in respect of a Parking Place means any area 

other than a Parking Bay and where parking is not permitted; 

 

Pg 231



 
 

  “Season Ticket” means a ticket purchased from the Council and 

issued subject to the Council’s terms and conditions, valid for the 

period specified on the ticket and in the Parking Place(s) specified 

on the ticket; 

 

  “vehicle” means any motorcar, motorcycle or other mechanically 

propelled automobile. 

  

 (3) The Interpretation Act 1978 shall apply for the interpretation of this 

Order as it applies for the interpretation of an Act of Parliament. 

Pg 232



 
 

PART II – USE OF PARKING PLACES 

 

Use of land and parking places  

 

4. (1) (i)  Each area of land specified by name in column 1 of Part I 

and Part II of the Schedule to this Order may only be used 

subject to the following provisions of this Order as a 

parking place for such class or classes of vehicles in such 

positions on such days and during such hours as are 

specified in relation to that area in Part I of the Schedule. 

 

 (2) (i) Where in Part I and Part II of the Schedule a parking place 

is described as available for vehicles of a specified class 

or in a specified position the driver of a vehicle shall not 

permit it to wait in that parking place unless it is of the 

class and in the position so specified. 

   

  (ii) Where within a parking place there is a sign or surface 

marking which indicates that a parking bay is available 

only for a disabled persons vehicle the driver of a vehicle 

shall not permit it to wait in that parking bay unless it is a 

disabled persons vehicle displaying a disabled persons 

badge. 

 

  (iii) Where within a parking place there is a surface marking of 

lines or hatching or some other marking indicating that 

waiting or parking is not permitted within or over such lines 

hatching or other marking the driver of a vehicle shall not 

permit it to wait or be parked on such markings but must 

ensure that it is left wholly within a parking bay and parked 

between the lines so as not to obstruct access to and 

egress from the parking place or any part thereof for other 

users or to obstruct the free movement of vehicles using 

other parking bays within the parking place. 

Pg 233



 
 

  

 (3) Insofar as a vehicle is left in a parking place during the charging 

hours the driver thereof shall pay such charge or charges as are 

specified in the following provisions of this Order. 

 

Amount of initial charge at parking places 

 

5. (1) This article applies to the parking places specified by name in 

column 1 of Part I of the Schedule. 

  

 (2) The initial charge for a vehicle parking in a parking place during 

the charging hours shall, subject as hereinafter provided, be in 

accordance with the Scale of Charges specified in column 7 of 

Part I of the Schedule. 

 

 (3)  

 

Payment 

 
6. The Driver of a vehicle using a Parking Place shall, upon parking the 

Vehicle in the Parking Place, make payment of a charge either by: 

 (i) purchasing a Pay and Display Ticket; or 

(ii) making a Cashless Parking prepayment at the level of the charge 

for the period required in accordance with the scale of charges 

specified in Part I of the Schedule, or otherwise varied by an 

Order or a Notice of Variation. 

 

Means of payment 

 

7. The charge referred to in Article 5 shall be payable either by: 

 

(i) the insertion of an appropriate coin, coins, banknotes or by means 

of a credit/debit card, making up the amount of the charge payable 

to the Parking Ticket Machine situated in that Parking Place, or by 

Pg 234



 
 

payment to a person nominated by the Council, or other approved 

method of payment. 

(ii) a cashless prepayment made via a telephone, smartphone, 

computer or other method, allowing a vehicle to park for a period 

of time. 

 

8. The owner of a vehicle may on application to the Council purchase a 

Season Ticket in respect of that vehicle for a charge ascertained by 

reference to the said Scale of Charges and that season ticket shall be 

valid in such parking places and at such times as may be determined by 

the Council during the period for which it is issued.  The Council reserves 

the right to suspend the issue of Season Tickets without notice. 

 

9. The Council may, at its discretion, issue a parking permit or pass to the 

driver of a vehicle and that parking permit shall be valid in such parking 

places and at such times as may be determined by the Council. 

 

10. The driver of a vehicle shall attach or cause to be attached any ticket or 

tickets issued on payment of the initial charge referred to in this Article or 

any Season Ticket or Pass issued under this Article in the Relevant 

Position at all times when the vehicle is parked in a parking place. 

 
Validity of Pay and Display Tickets 

 

11. A Pay and Display Ticket is not transferable from one vehicle to another. 

 

12. A Pay and Display Ticket is valid only in the Parking Place in which it 

was issued.  This is defined by the reference code and/or location of the 

Parking Ticket Machine in that Parking Place, printed on the Pay and 

Display Ticket. 

 

Expiry of parking period 

 

13. The parking period expires where: 

Pg 235



 
 

 

(i) a Pay and Display Ticket is purchased and the time indicated on 

the Hand Held Computer is later than the expiry time and date 

indicated on the Pay and Display Ticket displayed on a vehicle; or 

(ii) a Cashless Parking prepayment is made and the time indicated on 

the Hand Held Computer or other device is later than the expiry 

time and date of the electronic record of that transaction. 

 

14. The vehicle shall be removed from the Parking Place by the end of the 

parking period. 

 

No Ticket displayed 

 

15. Where neither a Pay and Display Ticket, disabled driver’s badge and 

clock is displayed on a vehicle in the Relevant Position and in 

accordance with the provisions of Article 16, nor can it be determined 

that a Cashless Parking prepayment has been made, it shall be deemed 

that the charge has not been paid. 

 

16. If at the time when a vehicle is left in a Parking Place and on the nearest 

Parking Ticket Machine in that Parking Place there is a notice placed by 

any person duly authorised by the Council, indicating that the Parking 

Ticket Machine is out of order, or the Parking Ticket Machine displays 

“not in use” or a Pay and Display Ticket cannot be obtained from that 

Parking Ticket Machine for any reason, then a Pay and Display Ticket 

shall be obtained from another Parking Ticket Machine located within the 

car park (where provided). 

 

17. A vehicle may not be left in a Parking Place if neither a valid Pay and 

Display Ticket has been obtained and displayed, or a Cashless Parking 

prepayment made. 

Pg 236



 
 

 

Indication by parking ticket meter 

 

18. (1) Payment of the initial charge for a vehicle left in a parking place 

shall be indicated by the issue of a ticket or tickets indicating that 

the charge has been paid on the day on which the vehicle is so left 

in respect of an initial period being of not more than the unexpired 

period of the charging hours on the day of payment. 

 

 (2) Any ticket of the type referred to in this Article shall be exhibited in 

the Relevant Position 

 

 (3) Any ticket issued by a parking ticket meter shall be presumed 

unless the contrary is proved to have been issued on the date 

shown thereon and when the clock on the said parking ticket 

meter indicated the time to be that shown on the said ticket. 

 

 (4) No person shall exhibit on a vehicle left in a parking place during 

the charging hours any ticket or tickets issued by a parking ticket 

meter relating to that parking place other than the ticket or tickets 

issued by a parking ticket meter upon payment of the initial charge 

in respect of that vehicle. 

 
 (5) Any person who interferes with a Parking Ticket Machine or 

operates or attempts to operate it by the insertion of objects other 

than undamaged and unaltered coins of legal tender, shall be 

liable to prosecution. 

 

Amount of Penalty Charge at Parking Places 

 

19. (1) If a vehicle is left in a parking place during the charging hours for a 

longer period than that period for which payment was made, the 

amount shown in Part III of the Schedule (which amount is 

hereinafter referred to as the “Penalty Charge”) shall be payable 

Pg 237



 
 

by the driver of that vehicle in accordance with Part III of the 

Schedule and Article 21.  

Pg 238



 
 

 (2) If a vehicle is left in a parking place during the charging hours 

either:- 

 

  (i) without having paid the initial charge, or 

 

  (ii) without a valid parking ticket season ticket or parking 

permit being displayed 

 

  the amount shown in Part III of the Schedule (which amount is 

referred to as the “Penalty Charge”) shall be payable by the driver 

of that vehicle in accordance with Part III of the Schedule and 

Article 21.  

 

 (3) If a vehicle is left in a parking place during the charging hours and 

fails to comply with this Order the amount shown in Part III of the 

Schedule (which amount is referred to as the “Penalty Charge”) 

shall be payable by the driver of that vehicle in accordance with  

that Part of the Schedule and Article 21.  

 

 (4)  In the case of a vehicle in respect of which an Penalty Charge may 

have been incurred, it shall be the duty of a Civil Enforcement 

Officer to attach to the vehicle in a conspicuous position or, where 

the driver is present, to hand to the driver, or the Council to post to 

the Owner the Penalty Charge Notice which shall include the 

following particulars and which particulars are required by the Civil 

Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General 

Regulations 2007 (or any subsequent amendments):- 

 

  (a) the date on which the notice is served; 

 

  (b) the name and address of the Council; 

 

Pg 239



 
 

  (c)  the registration mark of the vehicle or, where the vehicle is 

being used under a trade licence, the number of the trade 

plate carried by the vehicle;  

 

  (d) the date and time at which the alleged contravention 

occurred; 

 

  (e) the grounds on which the civil enforcement officer serving 

the notice believes that a Penalty Charge is payable; 

 

  (f) the amount of the Penalty Charge; 

 
 (g) that the Penalty Charge must be paid not later than the last 

day of the period of 28 (twenty eight) days beginning with 

the date on which the Penalty Charge Notice was served; 

 

 (h) that if the Penalty Charge is paid not later than the last day 

of the period of 14 (fourteen) days beginning with the date 

on which the notice is served the Penalty Charge will be 

reduced by the amount of any applicable discount; 

 

(i) the manner in which the Penalty Charge must be paid; and 

 

 (j) that if the Penalty Charge is not paid before the end of the 

period of 28 (twenty eight) days referred to in (g) above a 

notice to the owner may be served by the Council on the 

owner of the vehicle. 

Pg 240



 
 

 

Restriction on removal of notices 

 

20. When a Penalty Charge Notice has been attached to a vehicle in 

accordance with any of the foregoing provisions of this Order no person 

other than a person authorised by the Council or the driver or a person 

authorised by the driver shall remove the Notice from the vehicle.  

 

Manner of payment of Penalty Charge 

 

21. (1) The Penalty Charge shall be paid to the Council in accordance with 

the instructions indicated on the Penalty Charge Notice either by 

cheque, which shall be delivered or sent by post to the address 

indicated on the Penalty Charge Notice, by debit or credit card 

(except Electron and American Express) on the 24 hour telephone 

payment line; 0845 234 0038 or by any other acceptable means 

which is agreed by the Council and the person or persons paying the 

Penalty Charge. 

(2) The Penalty Charge must be paid to the Council before the end of 

twenty eight days beginning with the date of the Penalty Charge 

Notice. 

(3) If the Penalty Charge is paid to the Council before the end of a period 

of fourteen days beginning with the date of the Penalty Charge Notice 

the amount of the Penalty Charge shall be reduced in accordance 

with the Part III of the Schedule of this Order which is pursuant to the 

Traffic Management Act 2004. 

(4) For the purposes of this Article the Penalty Charge shall be taken to 

be paid when it is received at the office at the address indicated on 

the Penalty Charge Notice and if the end of the period of twenty eight 

days specified in paragraph (2) above or the end of the fourteen days 

specified in paragraph (3) above falls upon a day the Council office is 

closed, the period within which the payment of the Penalty Charge 

shall be made shall be extended until the time at which the Council 

office closes on the next full day on which that office is open. If full 

Pg 241



 
 

payment is not received within 28 (twenty eight) days of issue, the 

registered keeper or the person that the Council believes to be the 

owner of the vehicle will receive a Notice to Owner. 

(5) At this stage, the registered owner/keeper of the vehicle can submit a 

formal representation objecting to the issue of the Penalty Charge 

Notice.  Vehicle keeper information will be requested from the DVLA. 

(6) In the event that the formal representation is rejected, the registered 

owner/keeper can submit an appeal to the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. 

They are an independent body and will consider the registered 

owner/keeper's comments and those offered by the Council.  A final 

decision will be reached. 

(7) If no payment is received within twenty eight days of the date of 

service of the Notice to Owner, a Charge Certificate will be issued 

and the outstanding amount is increased by 50%. 

(8) Continued non payment will result in the debt being registered at the 

County Court and an Order for Recovery will be sent to the owner.  At 

this stage, the outstanding amount has increased by £7.00 and a 

period of 21 (twenty one) days are allowed for payment or for a 

witness statement to be submitted. 

(9) Failure to pay the outstanding amount will result in the outstanding 

amount being referred to a bailiff to recover the monies. 

 

Miscellaneous 

 

22. The driver of a vehicle using a parking place shall stop the engine as soon 

as the vehicle is in position in the parking place, and shall not start the 

engine except when about to change the position of the vehicle in or to 

depart from the parking place. 

 

23. (1) No person shall use a vehicle, while it is in a parking place, in 

connection with the sale of any article to persons or the sale of 

that vehicle or offering or advertising that vehicle for sale to 

persons in or near the parking place or in connection with the 

selling or offering or advertising for hire of his skill or service. 

Pg 242



 
 

 

 (2) No person shall use any part of a parking place or any vehicle left 

in a parking place: 

 

  (a) for sleeping or camping or cooking; or 

 

  (b) For the purpose of servicing or washing any vehicle or part 

thereof other than is reasonably necessary to enable that 

vehicle to depart from the parking place. 

 

24. The driver of a vehicle using a parking place shall not sound any horn or 

other similar instrument except when about to change the position of the 

vehicle in or to depart from the parking place. 

 

25. No person shall in a parking place wantonly shout or otherwise make a 

loud noise to the disturbance or annoyance of users of the parking place 

or residents of premises in the neighbourhood. 

 

26. No person shall in a parking place use any threatening, abusive or 

insulting language, gesture or conduct with intent to put any person in fear 

or so as to occasion a breach of the peace and whereby a breach of the 

peace is likely to be occasioned. 

 

27. Where in a parking place signs are erected or surface markings are laid 

for the purpose of:- 

 

 (a) indicating the entrance to or exit from the parking place, or  

 

 (b) indicating that a vehicle using the parking place shall proceed in a 

specified direction within the parking place; 

 

 no person shall drive or permit to be driven any vehicle (i) so that it enters 

the parking place otherwise than by an entrance, or leaves the parking 

Pg 243



 
 

place otherwise than  by an exit, so indicated, or (ii) in a direction other 

than so specified. 

 

28. No person shall, except with the permission of a person authorised by the 

Council in that behalf, drive or permit to be driven any vehicle in a parking 

place or any part of any car park to which this Order relates for any 

purpose other than the purpose of leaving that vehicle in the parking place 

in accordance with the provisions of this Order or for the purpose of 

departing from the parking place.  

 

29. No person shall permit the vehicle to remain continuously in a parking 

place specified in Part II of the Schedule for a period of more than forty 

eight (48) hours without express written permission of the Council. 

 

30. Caravans shall not be permitted to wait in any parking place at any time 

without the express written permission of the Council. 

 

31. Heavy goods vehicles shall not be permitted to wait in any parking place 

unless that parking place is of that specified class at any time without the 

express written permission of the Council. 

 

32.  Trailers that are not attached to a vehicle shall not be permitted to wait in 

any parking place at any time without the express written permission of the 

Council. 

 

33. In a parking place no person shall:- 

 

 (a) erect or permit to be erected any tent, booth, stand, building or 

other structure without the written consent of the Council. 

 

 (b) light or cause or permit to be lit any fire. 

 

 (c) drive a vehicle above the speed of 10mph (ten miles per hour) or 

for driving around such parking place unnecessarily for driving 

Pg 244



 
 

recklessly erratically dangerously or for any game or sport 

involving motor vehicles or motor sport rally or motor trial. 

 

 (d) place a skip or similar storage receptacles or for the storing of 

goods rubbish or waste of any description howsoever short or long 

the period without the express written permission of the Council. 

 

 (e)  commit any criminal offence. 

 

34. Save as provided in Article 35of this Order, no person shall cause or 

permit any vehicle to wait at any time on any carriageway giving access to 

or egress from a parking place. 

 

35. Nothing in Article 34 of this Order shall prevent a person from causing or 

permitting a vehicle to wait on any such carriageway as is mentioned 

therein for as long as may be necessary:- 

 

 (a) if the vehicle is waiting, owing to the driving being prevented from 

proceeding by circumstances beyond his control or such waiting 

as is necessary to prevent an accident; 

 

 (b) if the vehicle is a fire engine or ambulance or any vehicle in the 

service of the local authority or police force being used in either 

case in pursuance of statutory powers or duties. 

 

36. Any vehicle using or remaining in the parking place shall be at the owner’s 

or driver’s risk and the Council, or its agents, officers or employees shall 

not be liable for loss or damage to it or its contents or accessories 

howsoever arising. 

 

37. The Council may at its complete discretion and without prior notice having 

been given, suspend the use of any parking place covered by this Order. 

 

Pg 245



 
 

PART III – EXEMPTION 

38. (1) The driver of a disabled persons vehicle which displays in the 

relevant position a disabled person’s badge shall be exempt from 

any limitation of time and from any payment specified in Articles 5 

to 10. A driver who is neither disabled nor carrying a disabled 

person at the time of parking is not exempt from the provisions of 

Articles 5 to 10. 

 

 (2) For the purpose of this Order a vehicle shall be regarded as 

displaying a disabled person’s badge in the Relevant Position 

when:–  

   

  (i) in the case of a vehicle fitted with a front windscreen, the 

badge is exhibited thereon with the obverse side facing 

forwards on the near side of and immediately behind the 

windscreen, and 

 

  (ii) in the case of a vehicle not fitted with a front windscreen, 

the badge is exhibited in a conspicuous position on the 

front or nearside of the vehicle. 

 

PART III – REMOVAL OF VEHICLE FROM PARKING PLACE  

 

39. (1) If a vehicle is left in a parking place in a position other than in 

accordance with the provisions of Article 4, a person authorised by 

the Council may alter or cause to be altered the position of the 

vehicle so that its position is in accordance with the said 

provisions. 

 

 (2) If a vehicle is left in a parking place in contravention of any of the 

provisions of this Order a person authorised by the Council may 

remove the vehicle from that parking place or arrange for such 

removal and storage of the vehicle. 

 

Pg 246



 
 

 (3) For the purpose of meeting the requirements of any emergency, a 

person authorised by the Council or a police constable in uniform 

may alter or cause to be altered the position of a vehicle in a 

parking place or remove or arrange for the removal and storage of 

a vehicle from a parking place. 

 

(4) If a vehicle is removed and stored as mentioned in (2) and (3) 

above the Council shall serve upon the owner of the vehicle a 

notice stating that their vehicle has been removed and inform them 

of where it is being stored.  Also the notice will stipulate the 

charges incurred in accordance with the Civil Enforcement of 

Parking Contraventions (Guidelines on Levels of Charges) 

(England) Order 2007 (and any subsequent amendments) which 

are set out in Part III of the Schedule. 

Pg 247



 
 

 (5) The Council may for the purpose of altering or causing to be 

altered the position of any such vehicle or for the purpose of 

removing or arranging removal of such vehicle gain access by the 

use of reasonable force if necessary to such vehicle. 

 

 (6) Any person altering, or causing the alteration of, the position of a 

vehicle by virtue of paragraph (1) of this Article, or removing, or 

causing the removal of, a vehicle by virtue of paragraph (2) or (3) 

of this Article, may do so by towing or driving the vehicle or in such 

other manner as he may think reasonably necessary to enable the 

position of the vehicle to be altered or the vehicle to be removed. 

 

 (7) Any person removing or arranging for the removal of a vehicle by 

virtue of paragraph (2) or (3) of this Article shall make such 

arrangements as he considers reasonably necessary for the safety 

of the vehicle in the place to which it is removed and stored. 

 

 (8) The Council or other person shall not be liable for any cost claim 

demand or liability arising from the exercise of their powers under 

this Article. 

 
 

PART V – DISPOSAL OF VEHICLES ABANDONED IN A PARKING PLACE 

 

40. The Council may as respects a vehicle which has been, or could at any 

time be, removed from a parking place in pursuance of Article 39 of this 

Order, if it appears to them to have been abandoned, sell or otherwise 

dispose of the vehicle.  Provided that the power of disposal conferred by 

this Article shall not be exercisable in the case of a vehicle unless there 

have been taken by the Council such of the following steps as are 

applicable to the vehicle and there has elapsed a period of six weeks 

beginning with the taking of the first of those steps. 

 

Pg 248



 
 

41. (1) Subject to the provisions of Article 47 of this Order, where a 

vehicle carries a registration mark issued under the Vehicle Excise 

and Registration Act 1994 the Council shall apply in writing to the 

Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency enquiring who it appears 

may be the owner of the vehicle and the address of that person. 

 

 (2) Where the Council act under this Article the first step for the 

purposes of the last and next succeeding Article shall be taken to 

be the sending of the notice mentioned in Article 42. 

 

42. The Council shall, where they are by virtue of the last preceding Article 

aware of the name and address of a person who it appears may be the 

owner of the vehicle, send a notice to that person at that address stating 

that it is the intention of the Council to sell or otherwise dispose of the 

vehicle (which shall be sufficiently described in the notice) on or after a 

specified date (which shall not be less than two weeks from the date of the 

notice and in any event not earlier than 6 (six) weeks from the date of the 

first step taken by the Council under this part of this Order) unless it is in 

the meantime removed by or on behalf of that person from such place as 

is specified by the Council in the said notice, or from such place as may be 

subsequently notified in writing by the Council to that person. 

 

43. If any person to whom a notice is sent in accordance with the last 

preceding Article informs the Council of the name and address of some 

other person whom he alleges may be the owner of the vehicle a notice 

stating the particulars mentioned in the last preceding Article shall be sent 

to that other person and to any further person who the Council may in 

consequence of the sending of the notice to the said other person be led 

to believe may be the owner of the vehicle. 

 

44. Subject to the provisions of Article 47 of this Order, where a vehicle does 

not carry a registration mark issued under the Vehicle Excise and 

Registration Act 1994, the first step to be taken by the Council shall be to 

apply in writing to the Chief Officer of the Police in whose area the parking 

Pg 249



 
 

place is from which the vehicle has been, or could at any time be, 

removed in pursuance of this Order inquiring who that officer considers is 

the owner of the vehicle and the address of that person. 

 

45. If, after steps have been taken under the foregoing provisions of this Part 

of this Order, a vehicle is not claimed, the Council shall make further 

enquiries (if any) as they consider reasonable as to who may be the owner 

of the vehicle and the address of that person especially in the case of a 

vehicle with a foreign registration. 

. 

46. Where by virtue of Article 44 or 45 of this Order, the Council are informed 

of the name and address of a person who it is considered may be the 

owner of the vehicle, Articles 42 and 43 of this Order as respects the 

sending of notices shall apply in relation to that person at that address as 

they apply in relation to the person mentioned in the said Article 42. 

 

47. Nothing in the foregoing provisions of this part of this Order shall require 

the Council to take any such steps as are therein mentioned for the 

purpose of inquiring who is the owner of a vehicle to which Article 40 of 

this Order applies, if they have found a person who satisfies them that he 

is in fact the owner of that vehicle and they have sent him at his address a 

notice containing the particulars specified in Article 42 of this Order. 

 

48. Upon the sale of a vehicle by the Council, the Council shall apply the 

proceeds of sale in or towards the satisfaction of any costs incurred by 

them in connection with the disposal thereof and of any charge or payment 

to which they are entitled as regards the vehicle under Section 102 of the 

1984 Act. 

 

49. In the event of any such costs incurred by them in connection with the 

disposal of the vehicle not being satisfied by virtue of the last preceding 

Article, the Council may recoup those costs so far as not satisfied from the 

person who was the last owner of the vehicle before it was removed from 

the parking place in pursuance of Article 39 of this Order, if that person 

Pg 250



 
 

was sent by the Council a notice under the foregoing provisions of this part 

of this Order stating the particulars mentioned in Article 42 of this Order. 

 

50. Any sum received by the Council on a sale of the vehicle, after deducting 

any sum applied there out by virtue of Article 48 of this Order, shall be 

payable within a period of 1 (one) year from the date of the sale of the 

vehicle to any person whom, but for such sale the vehicle would have 

belonged, and insofar as any such sums are not claimed within the said 

period they shall be paid into the general fund of the Council. 

 

51. If the owner of a vehicle which has been or which could at any time have 

been removed from a parking place in pursuance of Article 40 of this 

Order, reclaims the vehicle before the Council sells or otherwise disposes 

of it as provided for by Article 40 of this Order then the Council shall be 

entitled to recover from such owner any charge or payment to which they 

are entitled as regards the vehicle under Section 102 of the 1984 Act.  

 

52. Where under the foregoing provisions of this Part of this Order a notice is 

required to be, or may be, sent to a person the notice shall be sent by 

registered post or by the recorded delivery service. 

 

Executed as a Deed by SOUTH  ) 

KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL  ) 

having caused its common seal  ) 

to be affixed hereto  ) 

 

In the presence of ) 

Pg 251



 
 

South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 2018 
 

REVISED 30.8.17 
 

SCHEDULE – PART I 

NAME OF PARKING 
PLACE 

POSITION IN WHICH 
VEHICLES MAY WAIT 

CLASSES OF 
VEHICLES  

DAYS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACES  

HOURS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACE 

MAXIMUM PERIOD FOR 
WHICH VEHICLES MAY 

WAIT 

SCALE OF CHARGES 

(1) (2) (3) 
 

(4) (5) (6) (7) 

       
North Street Car Park 
Stamford 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Saturday 
Inclusive 

8.00 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 10 hours Up to 30 mins -    £0.50 
 
0  - 1 hour        - £0.80 
 
0 –  2 hours       - £1.30 
 
0 – 3 hours       -  £1.80 
 
0 – 4 hours       -  £3.00 
 
Over 4 hours    -  £4.00 

        

Bath Row Car Park 
Stamford 
(including the river front 
parking) 

“ “ “ “ “ “ 

       

St. Leonards Street Car 
Park, Stamford 

“ “ “ “ “ “ 

       

Scotgate Car Park 
Stamford 

“ “ “ “ “ “ 

       

 

P
g 252



 
 

 
 

NAME OF PARKING 
PLACE 

POSITION IN WHICH 
VEHICLES MAY WAIT 

CLASSES OF 
VEHICLES  

DAYS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACES  

HOURS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACE 

MAXIMUM PERIOD FOR 
WHICH VEHICLES MAY 

WAIT 

SCALE OF CHARGES 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 
       
Wharf Road Car Park 
Stamford 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Saturday 
Inclusive 

8.00 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 10 hours Up to 3 hours - £1.80 
 
Up to 4 hours - £2.50 
 
ALL DAY - £3.00 

       

Cattle Market Car Park 
Stamford 

“ “ “ “ “ “ 
 

       

Cattle Market Car Park 
Stamford 
 

Within one or more 
parking bays 

Coaches Every Day 24 hours  24 hours £10.00 per 24 hours or 
part thereof 

P
g 253



 
 

 

NAME OF PARKING 
PLACE 

POSITION IN WHICH 
VEHICLES MAY WAIT 

CLASSES OF 
VEHICLES  

DAYS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACES  

HOURS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACE 

MAXIMUM PERIOD FOR 
WHICH VEHICLES MAY 

WAIT 

SCALE OF CHARGES 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 
       
Welham Street Car Park 
Grantham 
 
Levels 1 and 2 
ALL LEVELS 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
(iv)  Invalid carriages 

Monday to Saturday 
inclusive 

8.00 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 10 hours Up to 30 mins -    £0.50 
0  - 1 hour        - £0.80 
0 –  2 hours       - £1.30 
0 – 3 hours       -  £1.80 
0 – 4 hours       -  £3.00 
Over 4 hours    -  £4.00 
 
Up to 3 hours        £1.00 
 
Up to 4 hours        £1.50 
 
Up to 6 hours        £3.00 
 
Over 6 hours    -  £10.00 

       

Welham Street Car Park 
Grantham 
 
Levels 3,4,5, and 6 

“ “ “ “ “ Up to 3 hours - £1.80 
 
Up to 4 hours - £2.50 
 
Up to 4 hours        £1.50 
 
ALL DAY - £3.00 

P
g 254



 
 

 

NAME OF PARKING 
PLACE 

POSITION IN WHICH 
VEHICLES MAY WAIT 

CLASSES OF 
VEHICLES  

DAYS OF OPERATION OF 
PARKING PLACES  

HOURS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACE 

MAXIMUM PERIOD FOR 
WHICH VEHICLES MAY 

WAIT 

SCALE OF CHARGES 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 
       

Conduit Lane Car Park 
Grantham 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Saturday 
Inclusive 

8.00 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 10 hours Up to 3 hours - £1.80 
 
Up to 4 hours - £2.50 
 
ALL DAY - £3.00 

       

Guildhall  Street Car Park 
(Greenwoods Row), 
Grantham 

“ “ “ “ “ Up to 30 mins -    £0.50 
 
0  - 1 hour        - £0.80 
 
0 –  2 hours       - £1.30 
 
0 – 3 hours       -  £1.80 
 
0 – 4 hours       -  £3.00 
 
Over 4 hours    -  £4.00 

       

Watergate Car Park 
Grantham 

“ “ “ “ “ “ 

       
       P

g 255



 
 

 

 
NAME OF PARKING 

PLACE 
POSITION IN WHICH 

VEHICLES MAY WAIT 
CLASSES OF 

VEHICLES  
DAYS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACES  

HOURS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACE 

MAXIMUM PERIOD FOR 
WHICH VEHICLES MAY 

WAIT 

SCALE OF CHARGES 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 
       
Council Offices Car Park 
St Catherine’s Road 
Grantham 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Saturdays Only 8.00 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 10 hours Up to 30 mins -  £0.50 
 
0  - 1 hour        - £0.80 
 
0 –  2 hours       - £1.30 
 
0 – 3 hours       -  £1.80 
 
0 – 4 hours       -  £3.00 
 
Over 4 hours    -  £4.00 

 

Wharf  Road Multi Storey 
Car Park 
Grantham 

“ “ Monday to Saturday 
Inclusive 

“ “ Up to 30 mins -  £0.50 
 
0  - 1 hour        - £0.80 
 
0 –  2 hours       - £1.30 
 
0 – 3 hours       -  £1.80 
 
0 – 4 hours       -  £6.00 
 
Over 4 hours    -  £8.00 

 

 

P
g 256



 
 

South Kesteven District Council Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 2018 
30.8.17 

 

 

SCHEDULE – PART II 

(NON PAY AND DISPLAY CAR PARKS / “FREE TO PARK” CAR PARKS) 

NAME OF PARKING 
PLACE 

POSITION IN WHICH 
VEHICLES MAY WAIT 

CLASSES OF 
VEHICLES  

DAYS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACES  

Wyndham Park Hill 
Avenue Grantham (PLAN 
A) 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Sunday 
Inclusive 

Dysart Park Bridge End 
Road Grantham (PLAN 
B) 
 
 
 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Sunday 
Inclusive 

Trent Road adjacent to 
the Rose and Castle 
Public House Grantham 
(PLAN C) 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Sunday 
Inclusive 

Pg 257



 
 

 
NAME OF PARKING 

PLACE 
POSITION IN WHICH 

VEHICLES MAY WAIT 
CLASSES OF 

VEHICLES  
DAYS OF OPERATION 
OF PARKING PLACES  

The Meres Leisure 
Centre and Sports 
Stadium onTrent Road 
Grantham (PLAN D) 
 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Sunday 
Inclusive 

Arnoldfield Gonerby Hill 
Foot Grantham 
Lincolnshire (PLAN E) 

Wholly within a parking 
bay 

Any of the following 
having a height of less 
than 6’6”:- 
 
(i)    Motor cars within the     
       provisions of Section   
       136(2)(a) of the Act 
 
(ii)   Motor cycles as  
       defined in Section  
       136(4) of the Act 
 
(iii)  Motor vehicles  
       constructed or  
       adapted for use for 
       the conveyance of  
       goods or burden, the  
       unladen weight of 
       which does not 
       exceed 1½ tonnes 
 
(iv)  Invalid carriages  

Monday to Sunday 
Inclusive 

Land off St. Catherine’s 
Road Grantham 
Lincolnshire/to the rear of 
Welham Street Car Park 
(PLAN F) 

Waiting is prohibited at all 
times, with the exception 
for  invalid carriages or 
vehicles displaying a valid 
disabled clock and badge 

 (iv)  Invalid carriages  Monday to Sunday 
Inclusive 

 

Pg 258



 
 

SCHEDULE  

 
PART III 

 

The following is payable: 

£70.00 (£35.00 where paid within 14 days; £105 if paid after service of charge certificate)  

1. Using a vehicle in a parking place in connection with the sale or offering or exposing for sale of 
goods when prohibited 

2. Parked in a restricted area in a car park 
3. Parked in a disabled person's parking space without clearly displaying a valid disabled person's 

badge 
4. Parked in a car park or area not designated for that class of vehicle 
5. Parked causing an obstruction 

 

£50.00 (£25.00 where paid within 14 days; £75 if paid after service of charge certificate) 

1. For parking without displaying a valid parking ticket; that is without paying to park, or parking 
after expiry of paid time and for parking without clearly displaying of disabled parking clock or any 
other parking ticket 

2. Parking beyond the bay markings 
3. Parking for a purpose other than that permitted 
4. Parking with the engine running 

 

CHARGES FOR THE REMOVAL STORAGE AND DISPOSAL OF VEHICLES 

1. Removal - £105.00 
2. Storage - £12.00 per day  
3. Disposal - £50.00 

 

 

 

Pg 259



 
 Pg 260



 
 Pg 261



 
 Pg 262



 
 Pg 263



 
 Pg 264



 
 Pg 265



 
 Pg 266



 
 Pg 267



 
 Pg 268



 
 Pg 269



 
 Pg 270



 
 Pg 271



 
 Pg 272



 
 Pg 273



 
 Pg 274



 
 Pg 275



 
 Pg 276



 
 

 

Pg 277



Appendix 2 - Consultation Comments Received 

From: 
Sent: 15 December 2017 12:30
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welham Street Car Park

Dear Paul

I am emailing regarding the increase in car parking charges at Welham street car park. 
Though I appreciate you are decreasing the charge for shorter parking hours, my concern is 
with the proposed rate of ten pounds for all day parking. 

I work for a charity based in St Catherine’s Road, supporting those impacted by rape and 
sexual abuse. I work full time (Monday to Friday) and park in the Welham Street car park at 
a current cost of £15 per week. The proposed increase will see my weekly expenditure 
increase by £35 which is not affordable and I will be forced to park on the side streets in the 
area. There is already an issue with the number of cars parked on the likes of Dudley Road 
and I can only envisage that this number will increase. In turn I imagine that this will impact 
on the residents of these side streets. 

This increase will also impact on both the charity and a number of our volunteers. We have 
volunteer counsellors who need to park for the whole day so they can conduct sessions with 
clients. As a service we are now providing over 90 counselling sessions each week for 
our clients who have sought our help. The majority of our volunteers do not claim their 
car parking expenses back from us. This increase will either mean that they cover the cost 
themselves (therefore paying ten pounds in order to meet their client’s needs) or will pass 
this cost onto our charity. As I’m sure you can imagine this is a cost that will eat into our very 
limited budget and mean that something else in the service will have to be reduced or taken 
away so that our volunteers are not out of pocket.

As a charity we do receive 80% business rate relief which means we pay 20% (£900 per 
year) would we be able to obtain full rate relief as an option? I could then utilise the £900 
towards my volunteer expenses? Also would we be able to obtain car parking permits for 
staff either free or at a significantly reduced rate as a token of goodwill ?  The clients that 
access our service travel from all over the county of Lincolnshire and as a result help to grow 
the local economy as they use the town for things such as shopping, petrol, local coffee 
houses and restaurants. 

I look forward to your response, along with your considered explanation of how to minimise 
the impact on local residents and those who dedicate their time to supporting the 
Lincolnshire community. 

With best wishes

Pg 278



From: 
Sent: 15 December 2017 12:33
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Parking charge increase

Dear Paul

I am emailing to register my disappointment and concern at the proposed increase for 
parking charges at Welham Street car park. 

I am employed by Trust House Lincolnshire, a charity supporting those affected by rape and 
sexual abuse on St Catherine’s Road in Grantham. The proposed charge increase is a cost 
that I am unable to meet personally and will therefore no longer be able to park in the car 
park. I will have to park on one of the side streets around St Catherine’s Road. It is already 
clear that parking in these areas is an issue for residents of those streets and I feel sure that 
this proposed increase will only add to this with the number of cars trying to park there. I am 
sure that this must be very frustrating for those residents and that this level of frustration will 
also increase. 

I am also concerned about the impact on some of our volunteers, who park all day to meet 
with their clients in our centre. Many of these volunteers do not reclaim their parking charges 
from us but have already stated that they will not be able to pay £10 and so will be forced to 
claim this cost from us. As I’m sure you can appreciate our charity experiences limited 
funding and the increase in covering volunteer expenses will impact on other areas of our 
service delivery. 

Is there any reassurance that thought has been given as to how to minimise the impact on 
those who are working to support Grantham (and wider Lincolnshire) residents? Perhaps an 
option is a free or vastly subsidised permit for those who are working or volunteering for 
those services focused on increasing the wellbeing of the community. 

I wait in anticipation of your response.

Regards

Pg 279



From: 
Sent: 15 December 2017 12:06
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Parking charge increase at Welham Street car park

Dear Paul

I am emailing regarding the increase in car parking charges at Welham street car park. 
Though I appreciate you are decreasing the charge for shorter parking hours, my concern is 
with the proposed rate of ten pounds for all day parking. 

I work for a charity based in St Catherine’s Road, supporting those impacted by rape and 
sexual abuse. I work full time (Monday to Friday) and park in the Welham Street car park. As 
I am sure you can appreciate, I cannot personally afford fifty pounds per week for car 
parking and will be forced to park on the side streets in the area. There is already an issue 
with the number of cars parked on the likes of Dudley Road and I can only envisage that this 
number will increase. In turn I imagine that this will impact on the residents of these side 
streets. 

This increase will also impact on both the charity and a number of our volunteers. We have 
volunteer counsellors who need to park for the whole day so they can conduct sessions with 
clients. The majority of our volunteers do not claim their car parking expenses back from us. 
This increase will either mean that they cover the cost themselves (therefore paying ten 
pounds in order to meet their client’s needs) or will pass this cost onto our charity. As I’m 
sure you can imagine this is a cost that will eat into our very limited budget and mean that 
something else in the service will have to be reduced or taken away so that our volunteers 
are not out of pocket. 

I also have concerns around the safety impact of this decision. Many of our counselling 
sessions are held in the evening and therefore the safest place for our staff and volunteers 
to park is in the car park. Parking on the side streets will mean that we are walking to our 
cars in the dark as the street lighting on Dudley Road is not adequate. Though a solution to 
this could be that cars are moved to the car park once the number of hours parking needed 
has reduced to a cheaper rate, this is not feasible due to the timings of counselling sessions. 

I look forward to your response, along with your considered explanation of how to minimise 
the impact on local residents and those who dedicate their time to supporting the 
Lincolnshire community. 

With best wishes

Pg 280



From: 
Sent: 15 December 2017 09:45
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Proposed new parking order 2018 - Welham Street Car Park Grantham

Dear Mr Stokes,

Please find attached a pdf of my objections to the proposed new parking order 2018 - 
Welham Street Car Park Grantham. I have also copied and pasted the text below for your 
immediate access.

Please acknowledge receipt of this document.

Kind regards

Proposed new parking order 2018 - Welham Street Car Park Grantham

I wish to strongly object to the proposed new parking order that increases the cost of a days 
parking in Welham Street Car Park to £10 (more than 3 times the current charge of £3.00)

In the councils ‘statement of reasons’ document the reason for this rise is ‘To ensure that 
there will be turnover of spaces for leisure purposes and discourage all day parking ‘.

So where do the people who work in the Welham Street, Avenue Road and St Catherines 
Road area, park? It is us that you are targeting.

I am the Director of Grantham Physiotherapy Practice Ltd and I have worked on St 
Catherines Road for the past 26 years. I do not need to use my car for my work every day 
and on those days it remains on my drive and I walk 15 minutes into work. On the one or two 
days a week when my work takes me on home visits, to work efficiently, I need to be able to 
park near my place of work. Over the past 26 years all possibility of on street parking has 
been eroded leaving me with no option but to park in Welham Street Car Park. With the new 
proposal, instead of paying £18 per month for 6 days parking I would have to pay £60.

Having a monthly pass is not an option for me and many other workers in Grantham who do 
not need to use the car park everyday. 

Without access to all day parking at an affordable price my business will have to downscale. 
I am not sure if it will then be a viable business. Was this what you intended?

Local business’s need support or they close.

Regards
 
 

Pg 281



From: 
Sent: 14 December 2017 18:09
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welhan street car park charges

Dear Mr Stokes

I wish to object to the proposed increase in parking fees for long stay users of the above car park.
I and many of my work colleagues have used the car park since it first opened and have therefore 
made significant financial contribution in parking fees over this period.
I feel it is unfair and a very short sighted approach to suddenly impose a massive price hike to 
discourage long stay users of the car park.These workers provide a reliable and steady income which 
may not be true of more variable short term users.
The proposed increase would definitely deter myself and my fellow workers from using the car park 
in the future and I can’t believe this would be a desirable consequence of your increased fees.

I would appreciate your views regarding my issues raised,

Yours sincerely,

Sent from my iPad

From: 
Sent: 13 December 2017 13:23
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welham Street Car Park - increased parking charges

and just where are the people employed in Grantham supposed to park for work? (and let's 
face it, Graham is not known for high wages).

£50 a week (£250 for a five week month) - I'm not sure there are many who could afford to 
lose that amount of income.

I cannot imagine the residents of Dudley/St Catherine's Road will be too pleased with the 
extra cars being parked along there either. 

Very short sighted.

Pg 282



From: 
Sent: 13 December 2017 13:45
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welham st 

Dear Mr Stokes,

I am writing to complain about the extreme increase in car parking charges at the Welham st car 
park for periods of 6 hours or more. There is a planned increase to £10, which is  more than 3 times 
the present charge.  I find this totally unacceptable. People who use this car park for daily parking 
are usually using it so they can go to work in Grantham. Discriminating in this way against these 
workers is completely anti business and I am shocked that the council are suggesting such an huge 
hike in parking fees. Where are the workers if Grantham supposed to park, in the streets?
If workers cannot park in town, then businesses will not be able to recruit staff. This will ultimately 
damage the whole town.

I look forward to your response regarding my concerns.

Yours sincerely,

Worker in the town of Grantham and use of the Welham street car park whilst at work.

Pg 283



From: 
Sent: 12 December 2017 18:35
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Proposed Parking Charges Amendments Welham Street

Dear Mr Stokes
With reference to the proposed parking charges amendments for the Welham Street car 
park, your attention would be appreciated to the attached in a response to the request for 
feedback of this proposal.
Kind regards

            

Paul Stokes - Business Manager  
Venues and Facilities
South Kesteven District Council, 12th December 2017
Council Offices, 
St. Peter’s Hill, 
Grantham, NG31 6PZ

Dear Mr Stokes

RE: Proposed Parking Charges Amendments Welham Street

I write to put forward my opposition to the proposed charges increase for all day parking at the 
Welham Street carpark, up to £10 for over 6 hours.  Whilst I appreciate the Council has to take action 
to encourage visitors & the regeneration of Grantham, I would urge you to relook at the economics 
behind this proposal. 
You may gather I am a heavy day user of this facility, Monday to Friday, either via a season ticket or 
through the ticket machine.  Outside of this facility, with the exception of Conduit Street, which is of 
significantly smaller offering, there is no other long stay car parking in Grantham.  Grantham is 
strongly catered for by a number of private businesses who offer free 2 hour parking or short stay 2- 4 
hour parking.  Parking beyond this period is primarily left to Street Parking with the exception of 
Welham Street.
Clearly there is a need for all day parking, otherwise the council wouldn’t be looking to prevent it to 
create the increased turnover of spaces.  Therefore, this proposal creates a gap for those who require 
relatively safe all day parking. I acknowledge the Council are offering all day parking at £10, the 
proposal advises this is being done to facilitate a turnover of car park spaces.  Therefore discouraging 
all day parking.  Can I also point out that Grantham is far from being a major city therefore making a 
comparison of parking tariffs with these does not stack up.  In Melton Mowbray you can park across 
the town in Council owned car parks for £3 per day.
The Council’s proposal makes no reference to the impact on season ticket holders & whether this 
feature will be cancelled or increased.  I would also guess, with the loss of Council parking due to the 
new cinema complex, Council employees will be allowed to park in Welham Street all day.  Might I 
suggest this will be at the expense of Council tax payers too?  A potential marketing disaster!
If you are looking at this change from a leisure perspective, I would have thought most leisure visits to 
the town occur outside the normal working hours of Monday to Friday?  Perhaps a different tariff for 
the weekends would be worth investigating as an alternative approach.
In summary, I feel this proposal creates a greater problem than the problem it is trying to solve.  
Grantham clearly has a need for ‘carefully’ priced all day parking & this change has the potential to 
affect people’s lives both economically & potentially professionally.  The Council is hitting the wrong 
consumer of a service in the case of this proposed change.

Yours sincerely

Pg 284



From: 
Sent: 11/12/2017 18:00
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: car parking charges

Re.: the planned £10.- long stay parking charge proposed for Welham Street  car park (as reported in 
the Grantham Journal of 08.12.2017)

If the plan is to encourage more people into the town centre to shop and undertake their business, an 
increase in car parking charges seems ill advised.
Those who are obliged to drive into town and park, due to lack of public transport will entail 
unaffordable daily costs. Should I be a running a small business or in receipt of low pay as an 
employee my position would be impossible.

Big cities can impose such charges in order to relieve congestion and for environmental reasons only 
because they have a public transport system which can take the strain.

Because Grantham survives on the support of, and interaction with, the population of  its’ surrounding 
villages and small towns it seems a foolish idea to encourage these people to go elsewhere.

From: 
Sent: 11/12/2017 17:18
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Proposed new charges at Welham Street car park

Hello,
I am writing to you as i am completely against the new proposed charges at the Welham st. 
Car park. I have worked in town and always used this car park for a full days parking while at 
work. 

If the new charges came into affect i would not be able to park there as i'm on min wage. I 
would, like most people park on public roads, making the traffic busier and upsetting 
someone for parking on a road where they live and taking up all the residents spaces.

Please rethink this proposal, surely there must be alternatives.

regards

Pg 285

mailto:P.STOKES@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:P.STOKES@southkesteven.gov.uk


From: 
Date: 28 November 2017 at 16:19:51 GMT
To: <a.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk>
Subject: Welham Street Car Park

Dear Mr Stokes,

I am contacting you as a resident of Grantham and a volunteer helper at Grantham Museum.
 Perhaps you could pass this message on to the relevant party at the council.
I was concerned to discover that at the Welham Street Car Park the cost for parking over 6 
hours is likely to go up to £10.
 It is a concern because work at the Museum may take longer than 6 hours in one day and 
several volunteers being retired are not very able to walk the longer distance from a Long 
Stay Car Park.
  Also it may prejudice the number of people who are willing to take part in or help out at day-
long events at the Museum.
  Does the council really value their Grantham Museum? Or is it an irrelevant, forgotten 
cultural amenity. This seemed the case last Sunday November 26th, at the Christmas Fair 
which took place directly in front of the Museum, effectively blocking access.
 Shouldn't  Grantham Museum be a  'jewel in the crown' of our town that could attract more 
tourists and so business?

Hoping that the Car Parking policy in Grantham is carefully thought out to benefit as many 
people as possible. Could the time to pay £10 be after an 8 plus hour stay? Why is it 6 hours 
in particular?

Yours sincerely,

  

Pg 286

mailto:a.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk


Grantham Journal Article

Anger over planned £10 Grantham Welham Street car parking 
charge

Email Published: 09:47 Monday 11 December 2017

Businesses and residents are angry over a planned £10 long stay parking charge 
proposed for the Welham Street car park.

Read more at: https://www.granthamjournal.co.uk/news/anger-over-planned-10-grantham-
welham-street-car-parking-charge-1-8284995#comments-area 

South Kesteven District Council is making shorter stays cheaper but more than tripling the 
rate for long stays of more than six hours. Simon Bailey, of Bailey’s Hairdressing, says he 
and other businesses are unhappy with the planned changes because the hike in long stay 
rates from the current £3 will badly affect staff at his and other businesses who need to park 
all day. The closure of parking surrounding the planned new cinema had also made parking 
problems worse in the town centre. A nearby resident also told the Journal that people 
working in the town centre would refuse to pay £50 a week to park, putting further strain on 
nearby side streets. Visitors would also refuse to pay such an amount, or they might simply 
stop coming to Grantham. He added: “What is the point of having a large car park if no-one 
is willing/able to pay the charges?” SKDC says the changes, including a new £1.50 rate for 
four hours, plus free parking after 6pm and on Sunday, will benefit the town centre by 
encouraging a greater turnover of parking spaces. 

The charges are just proposals and people have until December 29 to comment before they 
are presented to Cabinet, with a final decision made by full council.

Comments on the New Parking Order can be made by writing to Paul Stokes, SKDC’s 
business manager for venue and facilities at the council offices, or by email to 
p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk

Pg 287

https://www.granthamjournal.co.uk/news/anger-over-planned-10-grantham-welham-street-car-parking-charge-1-8284995#comments-area
https://www.granthamjournal.co.uk/news/anger-over-planned-10-grantham-welham-street-car-parking-charge-1-8284995#comments-area


From: 
Sent: 08 December 2017 19:35
To: Paul Stokes
Cc: steve@investsk.co.uk
Subject: Car parking charges at welham street

Paul I read with immense disappointment the proposed increase in Welham Street parking to 
£10 for more than 6 hours. This hits businesses hard around the area and is hugely 
counterproductive.

Have the council car park users been moved as you outlined.

Have the post office been told to relocate

Having read the proposals for a station car parking scheme on Tanvic Tyres site this 
nonsense would be shelved? What is the state of play here. My understanding of the 
increases at Welham Street was simply to deter the train commuters from parking all day. 
The Tanvic proposals would seem to sort this out.

My only conclusion is that the council are profiteering!!

Look forward to hearing from you.

Steve have copied you in as this doesn’t seem to me to be encouraging economic 
regeneration much either!

-----Original Message-----
From: 
Sent: 28 November 2017 10:45
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welham Street Carpark

Hello,

I am writing regarding the increase in cost for parking in the Welham street multi-story carpark.

As a student studying engineering at the local college I do not have the funds to pay for parking 
every week.

I will therefore have to park on the local streets (if there is any parking available) and risk the vehicle 
getting damage due to careless drivers/others parking next to my vehicle.

I ask that you consider giving students at the college a discount or reconsider the increase in parking 
charge.

Regards, 

Pg 288

mailto:steve@investsk.co.uk


From: 
Sent: 09/12/2017 10:45
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welshman Street Carpark

Dear Mr Stokes

I write following the letter I just read in this weeks Grantham Journal 
from L North.

I did not realise the increase in car park charges until I read this 
letter and I wholeheartedly agree with L North.  Grantham is a lovely 
town which needs supporting and by increasing the charges - how will 
this encourage people to come to our town. Indeed a previous article in 
the paper was requesting money to help save Grantham  Museum - how will 
increase in prices encourage people to visit so places like the museum 
with suffer even more.  Will people want to pay a high price when 
visiting the new cinema complex? I was born in Grantham and have never 
moved away (living now in a village only a few miles away) but I support 
the town by using the banks, independent cafes, shopping in the 
independent shops and always do all my Christmas shopping in town rather 
than support Nottingham, Peterborough etc apart from using M and S for 
clothes!!  This much to the amusement of some of my friends who are not 
so supportive of Grantham.

To live on Dudley Road must be a nightmare driving down it is bad enough 
as you can never get down without stop starting due to all the cars 
parked and to not be able to park outside your house - a nightmare.

Who also realistically can afford fifty pounds a week out of their 
salary to pay for parking - I can’t think there will be many.

Please please rethink this and help residents of Grantham and visitors 
enjoy what we have to offer.

Regards

Pg 289

mailto:P.STOKES@southkesteven.gov.uk


From: 
Sent: 04 December 2017 09:50
To: Paul Stokes
Cc: 
Subject: Proposed Fee change - Welham Street Car Park

Dear Mr. Stokes

Further to your notice in a recent Grantham Journal regarding plans to increase Welham 
Street car parking charges, I wish to make a formal response on behalf of the Optum team, 
one of the tenants within the St Peter’s Hill site. 

I can understand the need for reviewing the car parking charges in the light of changes to 
the nearby site and I understand in principle your aspiration that the Welham Street car park 
is mainly short term parking. However Optum have a significant number of staff on the St 
Peter’s Hill site, the majority of whom currently use the Welham Street car park on a daily 
basis. Most travel from outside the Grantham area and alternative modes of transport are 
limited. An increase of 150% to the current daily rate will be prohibitive and those staff will no 
doubt seek alternative parking arrangements. For us a tenant this will cause issues as I’m 
sure increased street parking in Grantham will also.

Can I request that we could be given a preferential tenant rate for our staff? I’m happy to 
meet with you to discuss the practicalities of this.

I hope you consider our response. In the longer term we would have to evaluate our position 
as a tenant in St Peter’s Hill if nearby car parking at a reasonable rate is not available to our 
staff.

Regards

Pg 290



Pg 291



Appendix 2 - Consultation Comments Received (Part 2) –  redacted

DATE RECEIVED BUSSINESS/INDIVIDUAL OUTLINE SUMMARY
16th December Individual Concerned how the higher

charges will impact on people 
parking on streets locally.

22nd December Individual Worried about the high
amount they will be paying in 
order to park for work in the 
town.

28th December Business Concerned how these
proposed charges will affect 
their employees.

28th December Business Very worried they will lose
volunteer workers and also 
their business tenants may 
look elsewhere due to the 
increased charges.

29th December Individual Very unhappy with the
proposed higher charge as 
there is already considerable 
issues locally with people 
parking in nearby streets and 
this will only increase the 
problem. Also believes 
Businesses will suffer.

29th December Individual Very unhappy with the
proposed higher charge as 
there is already considerable 
issues locally with people 
parking in nearby streets and 
believes this will actually deter 
visitors to the town.

29th December Individual Not happy with the proposed
higher charge as there is 
already considerable issues 
locally with people parking in 
nearby streets and believes it 
will deter visitors to the town.

29th December Individual Believes the proposed higher
charge will cause considerable 
issues locally with people 
parking in nearby streets and 
believes it will deter visitors to 
the town.

Pg 292



Pg 293



Pg 294



From:  
Sent: 22 December 2017 09:22
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Car park increase

I am appalled at the proposed  increase in parking for over six hours from £3.00 to £10.00 in the Welham St 
car park.
I, along with many other employees along St Catherine's Road cannot  justify paying £50 per week out of 
our wages.
Please reconsider your outcome and do not penalise  us
With hopeful  anticipation

Pg 295



From: 
Sent: 28 December 2017 04:54
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welham Street Car Park fees

Dear Mr. Stokes,

Re: Welham Street Car Park fees

We are very concerned about the proposal to increase car parking fees for parking more 
than 6 hours at the Welham Street Car Park to £10. This car park is used on a regular 
basis by our staff and the new charge would prove to be prohibitive.

Therefore, we would strongly urge the council to seriously consider the businesses and 
their staff before making any further decisions on the fees for those who use the car park 
for longer than 6 hours per day.

Yours faithfully, 

Pg 296



From: 
Sent: 28 December 2017 08:17
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Proposed change in parking costs at Welham Street car park

Dear Paul,

I am contacting you on behalf of Grantham Museum regarding South Kesteven District Council Civil 
Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 2018, with particular reference to Welham Street car park 
in Grantham.

It is clear that the council is trying to attract more visitors and shoppers to the town, and reducing the cost of 
short stay parking can only be a good thing, however we are extremely concerned about the plans to increase 
the cost of parking for over 6 hours to £10. Currently the cost of parking in Welham Street car park for more 
than 6 hours is £4, or only £3 if using the top level, so the council is proposing a massive increase.

Grantham Museum is a charity run by volunteers for the benefit of the whole community. We are struggling 
to stay open because of the challenges we face in raising enough money to cover our overheads each year. 
One of our main income streams is the rental of the offices on our first floor. If our tenants suddenly have to 
pay £10 a day for parking we fear that they will start looking elsewhere for office space. The increase from
£15-20 a week for parking to £50 a week is too big an increase for many small businesses to carry.

In addition, we rely largely on volunteers to run the museum. We rely on their goodwill and are not in a 
position to pay expenses. It is completely unreasonable to expect volunteers to pay £10 a day to park.  Even 
our two paid members of staff would be forced into paying almost 20% of their daily wage on parking 
should these plans go ahead. There is no other long stay car park close to the museum they could use as an 
alternative.

We are also concerned about the impact on our fundraising activities. We hold regular events throughout the 
year to help raise funds, including Craft Markets, Do Domething New events and Writers Festivals. These 
generate an average of 300 visitors and £450 per event for the museum and are an extremely important part 
of our fundraising strategy. Stallholders arrive at the museum at 8am and don’t leave until 4.30pm. They 
park in the Welham Street car park because it is the only long stay car park close to the museum. A £10 
parking fee would make attending any events cost prohibitive. It will be extremely difficult to attract 
stallholders to events should these planned parking charges go ahead.

The loss of either tenants, volunteers or fundraising events would hit the museum very hard. The loss of all 
of them, purely because of unviable daily parking charges, would be disastrous for the museum.

I hope that you will give our concerns serious consideration. 

Yours sincerely,
Sent from my iPad

Pg 297



From:  
Sent: 29 December 2017 01:54
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: SKDC Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order 2018 - WELHAM STREET CAR PARK

Dear Mr Stokes
27 December 2017

I am writing to complain about the proposal by SKDC to more than triple the “more-than-6-hours” parking 
charge in the Long-Stay Welham Street park from £3 to an eye-watering £10!  How is this going to help the 
local economy and local residents?  Local shops and businesses are already struggling to survive, so anyone 
who works locally for more than 6 hours will refuse to pay £50 per week for 5 days parking instead of the 
current £15 per week, thus forcing them to seek on-street parking and put a further strain on the already
over-stretched on-street parking in near-by roads. Long-stay visitors are also unlikely to pay this amount and 
will look for road side parking, or simply not bother stopping and shopping in Grantham at all, causing even 
more local shops and businesses to close.  SKDC should think long and hard about Grantham’s future before 
imposing such draconian increases on the “all-day” car parking fees, especially as local salaries, business 
turnovers and pensions will not increase by such a large percentage.
As Beverley Myers (Grantham Physio business in St Catherine’s Road) and Cara White stated in their
letters of 15 December in the Grantham Journal, businesses will close in the St Catherine’s Road area as no- 
one will pay such excessive parking charges. Do we really need more empty shops in Grantham?   Anyone 
hoping to find an on-street parking space will be unlucky as the whole area is already overflowing with 
parked cars due to previous council orders so residents and their visitors are now unable to park anywhere 
near their homes.  Maybe this is a “subtle” ploy to force businesses and shoppers alike to move to or visit the 
new shopping village on Spittlegate Levels – when it finally materialises.  What will become of this part of 
Grantham then?
Ms Myers also states in her letter that SKDC has said formally in its ‘statement of reasons’ document that 
the one and only reason for the large price increase is “To ensure that there will be turnover of spaces for 
leisure purposes and discourage all day parking” so what do SKDC suggest that business owners, shoppers, 
students, visitors etc do with their cars for long stay parking?  Move away and never visit Grantham again 
seems a likely option!  Also, as it looks as if it will probably be at least twelve months before the new
cinema opens, why is there such a rush during the festive season to implement new charges when most 
people are too busy to read the local paper, never mind have time to comment on important local
issues?  Surely cinema goers will mainly visit during the evenings, and will therefore not affect day-time 
parking spaces, so there is NO need to increase charges because of this one very poor reason!  If, after the 
cinema has finally opened in St Catherine’s Road it can be proven that more short-term parking spaces are 
needed, then will be the time to rethink long-stay parking charges, not now.
I have lived approximately half a mile from the Welham Street car park for over 30 years.  Road side parking 
near my house has been a challenge ever since Grantham College stopped students parking on-site and the 
Council stopped all day-time parking along St Catherine’s Road, but now it is Impossible.  The closure of 
the car park in St Catherine’s Road on November 3rd  2017 ready for the building of a new cinema really has 
been the last straw for parking in this area.  My friends from Newark could only stop at my house for a few 
minutes recently because the husband had to stay with his car as he had to park across a neighbour’s drive. 
Another elderly disabled friend had to walk almost half a mile after finding the nearest parking space to my 
house.  It really is NOT acceptable that my friends are no longer able to visit me due to these severe parking 
problems.  Thirty years ago the road was quiet and parking was no problem.  Why should I have to move 
house simply to ensure I have a parking space when I return home with bags full of shopping or need to load 
items into my own car?  What do SKDC propose to do to help local residents and visitors, especially those 
of us who are elderly and/or disabled and do not have sufficient garden space to install a driveway?  Clearly 
tripling the “all-day” car park charges in Welham Street will only make the situation worse!  What is the 
point of having a large multi-storey car park if no-one is willing or able to pay the long-stay charges, or they 
stop for only a very short period of time and don’t have time to use local
shops, cafes etc, especially as SKDC are proposing to build various new shops and cafes close to the new 
cinema?  The whole area will not be a success without affordable long-stay parking.
Also, I note that SKDC are proposing to make the whole of Welham Street Car Park a LONG stay car park, 
(the two lower levels are currently classed as a Short-Stay car park!) but the proposed £10 charge for more 
than 6 hours parking means that it will be cheaper to park in the designated Short Stay car park in Wharf

Pg 298



Road where the charge is £8 for the same period.  How ridiculous is that?  And NO, the answer is NOT to 
increase the Wharf Road car park charges but to keep the £3 per day charges in Welham Street to encourage 
visitors to spend more time in Grantham.  This anomaly does not happen in other similar towns such as 
Stamford, Newark and Melton, nor in Bourne where parking is still free.  Surely if SKDC can afford to offer 
free parking in Bourne, it is unnecessary and unfair to make Grantham parking so expensive.
SKDC keep saying they want to encourage people to visit Grantham but visitors will not stay long if they 
are only able to find affordable short-stay parking spaces and are then at the mercy of the over-efficient 
Parking Wardens.  No wonder Grantham is a “dying town”.  There have been many letters of complaint in 
the local paper in recent years from visitors from other towns who have vowed NEVER to visit Grantham 
again after receiving a hefty car parking fine, often due to misleading parking signs.  A vibrant town needs 
to accommodate and encourage visitors by providing sufficient car parking, not by closing one car park 
completely and then increasing long-stay charges to an unacceptable amount in Welham Street.  Maybe the 
new cinema is being built in the wrong area as it will certainly not help current problems in this part of 
Grantham.
So, in conclusion, I suggest that as well as proposing to designate the whole of Welham Street Car Park as a 
Long-Stay Car Park and proposing to reduce the short-stay parking charges there in the near future, SKDC 
should also delay any decision about increasing the “more than 6 hours” fee until after the new cinema has 
been open for several months and it is proven that more short-stay spaces are needed.  I also suggest that 
large banners should be installed on the three visible sides of the Welham Street car park to advertise that 
parking there is free after 6pm and all day on Sundays.  Very few people are aware of this free parking, 
which is causing a large number of drivers to park on local roads and streets unnecessarily after 6pm in the 
hope of saving money.  This area of Grantham is already suffering badly from recent changes to car parking 
and the proposed new building works and needs plenty of time for people to readjust without the additional 
burden of extortionate long-stay parking charges.
Yours sincerely

Pg 299



From 
Sent: 29 December 2017 11:17
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Civil Enforcement Off-Street Parking Places Order Welham Street

Having lived in Grantham for over 40 years and seen the steady decline in what was once a thriving market 
town, I am not in the least surprised at the latest scheme - more than tripling the long-term parking rates 
(from £3 to £10 all day) in the Welham Street multi-storey car park, thus making it cheaper to park all day in 
short-term, over-congested parks like Wharf Road.

I have to despair at yet more short-sightedness by our elected officials; perhaps one or two of them should 
go for a walk around the town occasionally. They could perhaps ask some of the hundreds of commuters 
who abandon their cars for the day all around the town-centre streets why they don’t park in either railway 
or Council car parks. Maybe they could also visit other nearby towns where many people from Grantham
choose to go shopping - Melton, Sleaford, Bourne (totally free parking) etc. It may be a revelation to them to 
discover what most of us already know; increasing parking charges = less cars in car parks, more in the 
streets and less incentive to visit Grantham at all.

It seems that there is an assumption that the new cinema complex will bring in hundreds or even thousands 
of car-driving visitors who will all want to watch a film, perhaps sit down for a cup of coffee and then leave, 
so no-one will want to stay for more than 6 hours. This, of course, completely ignores those who own or 
work in local businesses. Having been priced out of their most convenient car park, they will also be forced 
to join the on-street parkers.

Logic would suggest that if the town is to thrive in the future more should be done to encourage shoppers 
and cinema-goers (if they do in fact arrive in their droves as some believe) to stay as long as possible in the 
area. Short-term quick-turnover of parking spaces would appear to be detrimental to the town and especially 
to those who live in the local area and are already finding it difficult, if not impossible at times, to park their 
own vehicles within a sensible walking distance of their own homes.

Yours sincerely

Pg 300



From: 
Sent: 29 December 2017 13:44
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Welham Street Car Park charge increase

Dear Mr Stokes

I understand that SKDC are about to dramatically increase the all day parking charges for 
the Welham St car park from £3 to £10 per day. I find this a staggering increase (over
300%!) in this age given that towns across the country are trying to bring more shops and
people into town centres.

I was brought up in Grantham and still have family and friends there. I come back often to 
visit and like to spend a few hours in the town centre. However the lack of available and 
affordable parking makes the trip stressful, and removes the enjoyment from these visits. 
My family live just off St Catherine’s Road and in recent years it’s impossible to find a 
space to park outside their house due to the massive increase in the number of cars left
on streets all day. Even Harrowby Road and the side streets leading to Dudley Road are 
rammed these days despite no changes to the number of houses in these streets in the last
20 years!!  The increase in parked cars can only be due to people avoiding costly council 
car parks, reduced access to parking areas (especially the college and local schools). The 
situation cannot continue and SKDC need to find new ways to encourage parking in the town 
and reduce shoppers and workers from parking in residential streets.

I have recently lived in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Warwick. All of those towns have 
varied charges for different car parks depending on distance from the town centre, with 
ones around a mile away being low cost or free for a number of initial hours (usually 2) 
with scaling costs after that. All of the locations offer paying for parking using cards 
or mobile apps making it easier for those who rarely carry loose change. In Warwick the 
main car park we use offers up to 2 hours for free as long as you take a ticket from the 
machine. For longer than 2 hours you can pay up to a full day, and if would even carry 
time onto the next chargeable day once charges apply (from 8am to 6pm).

I hope my comments are taken on board in the council’s decision and help with the longer 
term planning to attract people to the town centre. Driving potential spending to out of 
town retail parks or alternative towns doesn’t benefit anyone locally.

Kind regards

Sent from my iPhone

Pg 301



From: 
Sent: 29 December 2017 13:42
To: Paul Stokes
Subject: Charges in Welham Street Car Park

Dear Mr Stokes,
We are amazed that the council are thinking of charging people £10 to park in Welham
Street car park all day. £3 is more than enough.We have lived in Avenue Road for the past
33 years and parking outside our house has never good. We appreciate that we do not have a 
right to park near our house but it would be nice if we do make the mistake of using our 
car in the day time that we are not penalised by having to pay £10 for the privilege of 
using your carpark ! Residents and town centre workers have enough of a problem at the 
moment with parking. A free residents parking permit for the car park would be nice in the 
spaces that are not going to be used by the visitors that will not be coming into Grantham 
anymore ! Why will people bother to come into Grantham town centre shopping when other 
nearby towns offer cheaper are free parking ?
Yours sincerely

Pg 302



CABINET

Report of: Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Communities

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Cabinet

11th January 2018

Housing Development Programme (RIM402)

Decision
Proposal: Approval to Progress Plans

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Nick Neilson
Cabinet Member for Communities

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Andrew Sweeney: a.sweeney@southkesteven.gov.uk
Service Manager Housing Development & Improvements
Tel: 01476 406411
Date: 19th December 2017

Richard Wyles: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Assistant Director Finance
Tel : 01476 406210
Date: 20th December 2017

Tracey Blackwell: t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk
Strategic Director Environment and Property
Tel: 01476 406058
Date: 21st December 2017

Councillor N. Neilson 
Cabinet Member for Communities
n.neilson@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406408
Date: 22nd December 2017

SUMMARY
The second phase of the Council’s current affordable housing programme will be 
completed in December 2017 delivering 27 homes adding to the 33 delivered under 
the previous phase one schemes. Continuation of the programme was planned 
following the successful bid last year for Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 
equity funding for the development of new starter homes. However advice from the 
HCA since the award of the bid has confirmed that the programme is unlikely to 
proceed.

Pg 303

mailto:a.sweeney@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:t.blackwell@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:n.neilson@southkesteven.gov.uk


In preparation for this programme work continued over the last 12 months to determine 
capacity to develop new market sale and affordable homes utilising District Council 
owned land in line with government policy.

This report provides details of a potential programme for the delivery of 105 new 
homes over 10 sites in Council ownership which, if supported, would enable the 
continuation of the housing programme and secure the delivery of new homes in the 
district.      

The programme includes 56 affordable homes which are intended to be brought into 
the Council’s own housing stock and introduces the concept of using intermediate rent 
levels for this new programme rather than social rent levels to increase the return on 
investment and the Council’s borrowing capacity for future schemes.

It considers the advantages and disadvantages of alternative approaches to securing 
the design and construction of the homes and highlights the benefit of taking a more 
agile approach to funding this type of development in contrast to the allocation of an 
annual budget.

The Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered and supported the 
recommendations included in the report at its meeting on 13th December 2017 and for 
submission for Cabinet approval.

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that:

1. The 10 potential development sites detailed in the report be approved for further 
evaluation and included in the Phase 3 - Housing Development Programme.

2. The potential benefits of delivering all of the development programme in 
partnership with Gravitas Ltd (a company wholly owned by South Kesteven 
District Council) be considered as part of the procurement options.

3. Cabinet approves the adoption of a more agile approach to funding the 
development of housing (including essential site acquisition) by the creation of a 
development reserve with the ability to fund changes to the programme over 
time as part of the budget development process for 2018/19.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Phase 2 of the Council’s housing programme will be completed in December 2017 
delivering 27 new homes in Grantham (22) and Barrowby (5).

1.2 A pipeline of potential new schemes utilising Council owned land was compiled for 
HCA equity funding under the Starter Homes (Unlocking Land Fund) last year. 
Feasibility work was carried out on each of the sites in preparation for the 
programme proceeding. Recent advice received from the HCA however confirmed 
that the programme is unlikely to go ahead and that other potential funding 
streams should be discussed with the HCA. These are scheduled to be held in 
December 2017.  

 

Pg 304



1.3 From the schemes included in the HCA bid a short list of 10 sites have emerged 
as being more deliverable in the short term on the basis of some or all of the 
following:

 The existing use is now obsolete or underutilised.

 The sites are allocated for housing in the draft local plan.

 Existing uses adjoin additional Council owned land offering greater 
development potential.

 They are located near existing housing sites so have minimal impact on 
surrounding uses.

 There is potential for an opportunity to develop alternative tenures to social 
rent.

 Details of the current site uses and proposed tenures are given in the table 
below. Tenures are covered in more detail later in the report under items 3 
and 4.

Details of Sites and Proposed Tenures

No. Scheme Address Location Description Proposed 
Tenure

   
1 Campbell Close Grantham Existing open space partly utilised by 

formal play area 
Intermediate 
rent & Sale

2 Burnside Ave Mkt Deeping Site of existing garages with additional 
SKDC land adjacent

Sale

3 Wellington Way Mkt Deeping Open space allocated in local plan for 
housing use

Intermediate 
Rent

4 Trent Road Grantham Second phase of re-development of 
existing public house site and adjoining 
Council owned land.

Intermediate 
Rent

5 Kesteven Road Stamford Existing garage site with additional 
SKDC land adjacent

Sale

6 Lonsdale Road 
(GF)

Stamford Under utilised play area adjacent to 
Empingham Rd playing fields

Sale

7 Toller Court Horbling Open space adjacent to existing 
Council bungalows

Intermediate 
Rent

8 Bonneys Paddock 
(GF)

Stamford Existing brownfield site off West St 
formerly leased to third party. 

Sale

9 Trinity Road Stamford 2 ex-garage sites (garages 
demolished) previously approved for 
planning for 5 homes.

Intermediate 
Rent

10 Shaw Road Grantham Existing vacant land adjacent to 
Swingbridge Road and 
Council/Housing Association owned 
flats and houses.

Intermediate 
Rent

   

1.4 These sites offer the opportunity to maintain momentum in the delivery of new 
homes and take forward the next phase of the housing programme. This will also 
demonstrate the Council’s commitment to releasing land in its estate to deliver 
new homes across the district in places people want to live.

Pg 305



1.5 Delivery of increased volumes of new homes at a more strategic level in the mid-
to-long term will need the involvement of a range of development partners and the 
acquisition of more land. The benefits of this and the delivery of wider economic 
and community outputs using Council land and assets as a lever for change is 
currently under consideration.

2. POTENTIAL SITES

2.1 The 10 sites considered for delivery in the short-to-medium term has an estimated 
capacity to deliver approximately 105 new homes. 

2.2 Eight of the 10 sites are currently in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) property 
portfolio. Two of the sites in Stamford are held in the General Fund. 

2.3 Pre-planning advice has been sought on the sites and further detailed discussions 
are planned to identify any constraints on development from a planning 
perspective before progressing schemes further.

3. TENURE OPTIONS

Market Sale Homes
3.1 The Council’s housing programme to date has provided social rented homes 

developed under the HRA funded programme. There is however an opportunity to 
develop a range of tenures including market sale housing products, where 
appropriate, on some of the sites to generate a commercial return alongside 
affordable homes.

3.2 Some Council owned sites in Stamford, Grantham and Deeping are located in 
areas of predominantly privately owned homes and risk on developing sale homes 
would be relatively low. Market sale homes, particularly in Stamford are likely to 
generate a significant return because of the high development cost to value ratio.  

3.3 Other sites in the proposed programme are identified as being more suited to 
affordable rented homes. 

S106 Affordable Homes
3.4 The development of market sales homes will in themselves generate a related 

s106 policy requirement of up to 35% of affordable homes under the Council’s 
planning policy H3 of the adopted Core Strategy on sites of 5 or more dwellings. 
The 10 sites would therefore potentially generate an s106 requirement of 34 
affordable units.

 
3.5 To maximise income from sales, whilst addressing the need for affordable 

housing, it is proposed that the delivery of s106 affordable units be provided off-
site on other sites within the Council’s ownership. With the allocation of tenures to 
the most suitable sites, the number of affordable units provided would be 56 which 
would be 22 more than required under a Section 106 obligation enabling 49 
market sale homes to be developed.

4. AFFORDABLE/INTERMEDIATE RENT HOMES

Pg 306



4.1 Affordable and intermediate rents are in use by Registered Providers and have 
been used as a means to increase revenue and borrowing capacity. It would also 
reduce reliance on HCA grant towards the development of new homes. Affordable 
and Intermediate rents are charged at 80% of market rents (within Local Housing 
Allowance rent caps to ensure affordability).

4.2 An increase in Council revenue income can be achieved if intermediate rents were 
charged on rented homes rather than social rents. Whilst rents vary across the 
district, charging intermediate rents could potentially generate income on average 
c30-35% higher than social rents on the new homes developed. This ultimately 
helps to strengthen the long term viability of the Housing Revenue Account. It is 
proposed that the potential introduction of intermediate/affordable rents is 
considered as part of the review of the Council’s Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan which forms part of the work programme for Communities and 
Wellbeing OSC.

5.0 PROGRAMME OUTCOMES 

5.1 In progressing this housing programme the following benefits and outcomes will 
be achieved:

 To address demand for new homes for sale. 

 Increased revenue income for the HRA and General Fund.

 New homes bonus.

 Increase council tax income. 

 Generate a commercial return from sales for the Council through Gravitas.

6. HOUSING NEED

6.1 The majority of the sites proposed for development are located in the districts 
main urban centres where there is buoyant demand for affordable homes 
evidenced by the Council’s own housing waiting list. The one rural site, in 
Horbling, adjoins the key village of Billingborough. Needs data shows that there is 
sufficient demand on this location to support the development of the 4 units 
proposed. 

6.2 Further market intelligence data will need to be obtained for any proposed sale 
units to provide a robust case for their development and ensure property types 
match demand to mitigate any risks on sales.

7. FINANCIAL

7.1 It is estimated that the cost to deliver the ten schemes is in the region of £12.60m. 
This based on an overall cost per unit of £120k excluding land value. Scheme 
costs will depend on their complexity and more detailed estimates of cost will be 
prepared once the schemes are developed further as part of the design and cost 
management process.

Pg 307



7.2 Options for the procurement of the schemes are to be considered and 
opportunities to reduce unit costs from those assumed will be explored as part of 
this process. 

7.3 The costs also assume that no grant subsidy will be received. In response to the 
HCA’s news on the Starter Homes programme the discussions with the HCA will 
determine the suitability of other funding programmes for new housing 
development. Should HCA grant be available the overall budget requirement 
should reduce.

8. DELIVERY

8.1 The overall package of schemes i.e. 10 sites and 105 homes, can be delivered in 
a number of ways. The aggregate value of the projects exceeds the upper 
threshold of c£4.10m for works contracts under the Public Contract Regulations. 
As a contracting authority under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the 
projects would need to be procured in accordance with these regulations and with 
the Council’s own Contract Procurement Procedure Regulations (CPPR). Gravitas 
is not classed as a contracting authority and as such has more flexibility in 
choosing its approach to engaging contractors.

8.2 The advantages and disadvantages of these are detailed in the table below:

Procurement Options
Option Advantages Disadvantages

Tender as one package of 
schemes to one contractor; 
potentially through 
Gravitas.

Greater interest due to 
scale and continuity of 
work.
Pricing more competitive’
Better value for money 
potentially achievable.
Contractors knowledge of 
SKDC requirements 
develops as programme is 
delivered 

Poor performance could result in 
need to re-procure.
Small/Medium size contractors 
may be excluded due to capacity 
to deliver.
 

Separate contracts 
tendered individually

Small/medium sized 
contractors more able to 
respond to the opportunity.
Poor performance can be 
dealt with on a scheme by 
scheme basis.
Pricing may be more 
competitive as a result of 
smaller firms tendering and 
reduced overheads.

Increase resource needed for 
repetitive tendering exercises.
Project management input 
increased due to management of 
different contractors. 
Contract administration often 
problematic with smaller 
contractors.

Separate contracts 
procured through HRA 
(affordable) and Gravitas 
(sale)

Funding streams defined 
and budgets managed 
separately.
Clear definition between 
affordable and sales project 
delivery.

Size of programmes reduced so 
packages may be less attractive 
to contractors.
 

Pg 308



8.3 The Council’s commercial company Gravitas Ltd has been established to 
undertake commercial housing projects which generate a return on investment 
and bring forward housing development that would not necessarily be delivered by 
the private sector. The option to deliver this programme of schemes through 

  
Gravitas Ltd has a number of benefits:

 The commercial housing element of the programme would provide Gravitas 
with continuity on its housing programme (as follow on projects to Wherry’s 
Lane in Bourne).

 A commercial return would be generated from the sales homes.

 The reliance on delivering all of the housing with HRA funding would reduce 
with the option to fund schemes through equity funding, capital borrowing 
and re-cycled proceeds from sales.

 Affordable homes would be provided in excess of the s106 requirement as 
demonstrated at item 3.5.

9.0 PROGRAMME FOR DELIVERY

9.1 Given the periods required for the site investigation work, design, consultation and 
submission for planning consent it is anticipated that the first of the schemes could 
commence in the latter part of the 2018/2019 financial year with the remainder 
starting over a 3 year period. 

9.2 A period for market research will also need to be factored into the programme 
before committing to the housing mix on the sales homes.

9.3 Opportunities to acquire additional development sites are under continuous review 
and where appropriate should be considered for acquisition to support further 
housing development. It is highly likely that such opportunities will occur at various 
points during the financial year and having an annual funding programme 
constrains the Council’s ability to bring forward new, larger scale development 
opportunities or fund significant acquisitions. A more agile approach could be 
developed providing financial resources via a reserve to fund changes in 
development priorities and take advantage of opportunities in the market.  

 
10. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

1. Sale of the land to a 
developer.

The sale of these sites for development 
outside of the Council’s control would not 
provide any degree of certainty around the 
speed at which they are brought forward.

2. Disposal  of land to 
Registered Provider  
(RP)

RP’s may be interested in acquiring some of 
the sites. However, this would not mitigate 
losses arising from Right to Buy sales and 
would not provide any certainty as to the 
timescale for development at these locations.

Pg 309



Nomination rights would need to be secured 
with the RP to enable people in priority need to 
benefit from these developments.

11. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 A bid for HRA funding will be submitted for Council approval over the next 5 years 
giving the option to deliver new homes under the HRA as in previous years. The 
option to fund the schemes through Gravitas Ltd could reduce the dependency on 
the HRA funding requirement depending on the approach selected. This option 
would require appropriate financial arrangements for the company if work is to 
commence before the initial project in Bourne is completed and sales receipts are 
available. Use of the company will be considered in detail by the Shareholder 
Committee.

11.2 The delivery of this programme can be resourced from existing staff resources 
within the Council, supported by externally commissioned services on key 
activities, site investigation, designs, cost management, health & safety and 
marketing. 

11.3 The addition of the new homes to the managed rented stock will not adversely 
affect service levels delivered by the housing management teams given that the 
new homes will be offsetting stock levels in response to losses through Right to 
Buy.   

12. RISK AND MITIGATION 

12.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
Lack of housing 
need/demand

Housing need will be determined from the 
Council’s waiting list data to support the mix 
provided.
Market research will be carried out on those 
areas where sales homes are proposed to 
mitigate risk on sales.

Cost Risks Costs are currently based on unit cost 
assumptions. More accurate cost estimates will 
be prepared as scheme designs progress to 
ensure alignment with programme budgets. 

Delivery Risks Contractors’ ability to deliver the programme will 
be assessed as part of the tender process.
Site risks potentially affecting delivery will be 
managed as part of the individual scheme risk 
management process.

13. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

Pg 310



13.1 There is no requirement for impact analysis at this stage of this project.

14. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

14.1 None.

15. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

15.1 Financial considerations and implications are referenced throughout the report.  
The specific financial implications will be dependent on the recommended funding 
and delivery model.  If the new build properties are to be built and retained by the 
HRA, then the funding will be met from HRA resources.  If the Council choose to 
utilise its housing company then General Fund financing will be considered. 

16. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

16.1 Further evaluation of each site will be needed to ensure that the sites can be 
developed and there are no fetters on the titles to the land which could prevent 
development and potential sales. 

16.2 Any proposed transfer to a wholly owned company, other body or end user could 
be achieved in accordance with s.123 of the Local Government Act 1972 at a price 
which is the best that can reasonably be obtained.  Any site which is currently 
used as an open space must be advertised with notice of a proposed transfer in a 
newspaper circulating in the area of the land to be transferred for 2 consecutive 
weeks in accordance with s.123(2A) and any objections raised must be 
considered before the transfer takes place. 

16.3 The ability to provide mixed tenure must be appropriately researched and relevant 
advice on the provision of each type of tenure must be sought. 

17. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

17.1    None

18. APPENDICES

18.1 None 

19. BACKGROUND PAPERS

19.1 None

Pg 311


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 2017
	5 Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
	6 Recommendations from the Constitution Committee
	Final report LDS, 11/12/2017 Constitution Committee
	Minutes , 11/12/2017 Constitution Committee

	7 Meetings of the Cabinet
	Minutes , 07/12/2017 Cabinet
	CFM442 Council Tax Base reportv2, 07/12/2017 Cabinet
	CFM442 Appx A TaxbaseV2, 07/12/2017 Cabinet
	Quarter 1-2 Performance report to Cabinet - Final v1, 07/12/2017 Cabinet
	CFM444Budget monitoring report Q2, 07/12/2017 Cabinet
	KC PD0065 13.11.17
	PM SEG55 14.011.17
	Decisions , 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	CFM449Budget Cabinet V3
	CFM449Appendix A savings&reservesv2, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	CFM449 Appendix B capacity Bidsv2, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix C, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	CFM449 Appendix D Capital & Reserves Statement General Fund, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	CFM449 Appendix E Capital & Reserves Statement HRA, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	HSG132 - FINAL - 11 01 18, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 1 Homelessness Strategy with amends, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 2  Lincolnshire Homeless Strategy 2017 - Delivery Plan, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	App 3 Equality Impact Assessment - Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Cabinet Food wastev6F (002), 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Electric vehicle v3F, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Final Cabinet Report PD0074- Outcome of Car Parking Consultation, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 1, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	App 2 - redacted, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 2 Consultation Comments Received Part 2 redacted, 11/01/2018 Cabinet
	RIM402, 11/01/2018 Cabinet


